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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT

OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013

or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 001-35003

RigNet, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaefr)

Delaware 76-067720¢8
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

1880 S. Dairy Ashford, Suite 30t

Houston, Texas 77074760
(Address of principal executive offices (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code(281) 674-0100
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Title of each clas Name of each exchange on which register

Common Stock, $0.001 par valu NASDAQ Global Select Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) aie Act: NONE

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edBéturities Act.  Yed No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yes[d No

Indicate by check mark whether the registranth@s filed all reports required to be filed by Sexti3 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 mofah$or such shorter period that the registrans wegjuired to file such reports), and
(2) has been subject to such filing requirementsite past 90 days. Yelx] No O



Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lasmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥&eb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsio Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8 232.405 of tthapter) during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the regigtwas required to submit and post such filed)es No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (825 of this chapter) is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, toltast of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive pyax information statements incorporated by
reference in Part Il of this Form 10-K or any amerent to this Form 10-K.[J

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer,” and “smaller reportirmpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange

Act.
Large accelerated file O Accelerated filel
Non-accelerated file O Smaller reporting compar O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Acfyes O No

As of June 28, 2013, which was the last busineg®tithe registrant’s most recently completed seldistal quarter, the aggregate
market value of the registrant's common stock, @0.far value per share (the “Common Stock”) helddy-affiliates of the registrant on such
date was approximately $399.1 million. For purpasiethis calculation, only executives and directars deemed to be affiliates of the
registrant. At February 28, 2014, there were ontlitay 17,240,369 shares of the registrant’s Com8took.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Stagét for its 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholderdeofiled with the Commission
within 120 days of December 31, 2013 are incormatdterein by reference in Part Ill of this AnnuapRrt.
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PART |

Iltem 1. Business
Overview

We are a leading network infrastructure providevieg the remote communications needs of the all gas industry. Through a
controlled and managed IP/MPLS (Internet Protocalthrotocol Label Switching) global network, welider voice, data, video and other
collaborative services under a multi-tenant revemoeel. Our customers use our secure communicagiotPrivate extranet to manage
information flows and execute mission-critical cgt@ns primarily in remote areas where conventidelg@icommunications infrastructure is
either unavailable or unreliable. We offer our tiewhat is often the sole means of communicatatistheir remote operations, including
offshore and land-based drilling rigs, offshore anghore production facilities, energy maritimeseds and regional support offices. To ensur
the maximum reliability demanded by our customess deliver our services through our IP/MPLS glaketivork, tuned and optimized for
communications with remote endpoints, that serilesna gas customers both in the United Statesraiternational markets. As of
December 31, 2013, we were the primary provideeofote communications and collaborative servicepfroximately 500 customers
reaching about 1,100 remote sites located in oSaodintries on six continents. For the year endeceber 31, 2013, our revenue generatec
from countries outside of the U.S. represented®2o8total revenue.

The emergence of highly sophisticated processidgvasualization systems has allowed oil and gaspzonies to make decisions baser
reliable and secure real-time information carrigdbr network from anywhere in the world to theamte offices. We deliver turnkey solutions
and value-added services that simplify the managepfemultiple communications services, allowing sustomers to focus their attention on
their core oil and gas drilling and production aggems. Our customer solutions enable broadbaral gaice and video communications with
quality, reliability, security and scalability thigtsuperior to conventional switched transporivoeks. Key aspects of our services include:

* managed services solutions offered at a peysér day subscription rate primarily through oo®r agreements with terms that
typically range from one month to three years, \sitine customer agreement terms as long as fivs;)

» enhanced end-to-end IP/MPLS global networkisuee significantly greater network reliabilitystar trouble shooting and service
restoration time and quality of service for varidosns of data traffic

* enhanced end-terd IP/MPLS network allows new components to bggéal into our network and be immediately availdbteuse
(plug-anc-play);

« anetwork designed to accommodate multiplearust groups resident at a site, including rig owndrillers, operators, service
companies and p-pel-use individuals

» value-added services, such as remote vide@oemting, WAN acceleration and WiFi hotspots, bitingfthe multiple customer
groups resident at a si

e proactive network monitoring and managemertugh a network operations center that actively gasaetwork reliability at all
times and serves as ar-bound call center for trouble shooting, 24 hounsdag/, 365 days per ye:

* engineering and design services to determine theoppate product and service solution for eachausr;
e systems integration services to design, assemtdlli and commission turnkey solutions for custotekecommunications syster
» installation of orsite equipment designed to perform in extreme amdthenvironments with minimal maintenance;

* maintenance and support through locally-deplogmegineering and service support teams as welbashoused spare equipment
inventories.
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We believe our solutions help our customers inadhsir revenue and better manage their costsemudirce allocations through the
delivery, use and management of real-time inforamatiVe believe our commitment to our customersthacembedded nature of our solutions
strengthens and extends our customer relationships.

We believe we have lower capital expenditures tither remote communications providers because wetlown or operate any
satellites, own terrestrial wireless facilities daddlines, or, as a general rule, own or opegtport facilities and data centers. In order to
provide our end-to-end services, we procure banitiviidm independent fixed satellite-services opmsaand terrestrial wireless and landline
providers to meet the needs of our customers fditerend IP-based communications. We generally tvemetwork infrastructure and
communications equipment we install at remote sitewell as co-located equipment in third partgpelt facilities and data centers, all of
which we procure through various high quality equémt providers. By owning the network infrastruetand communications equipment on
the customer premises, we are better able to etisait@gh quality of our products and services diagnostically select the optimal equipment
suite and solution for each customer. Our netwak @mmunications services are designed to accomtaad customers at remote oil and
gas sites including rig owners (drillers), operat@ervice companies and pay-per-use individuatd) as off-duty rig workers and visiting
contractors, vendors and other visitors. Our rersotemunications services are initially offered tdlers, and the initial capital investment is
scaled by up-selling communications services templarties present on the rigs, such as opera@ngice companies and pay-per-use
individuals, as well as through the cross-sellihgalue-added services.

For convenience in this Annual Report on Form 10/KgNet”, the “Company”, “we”, “us”, and “our” redr to RigNet, Inc. and its
subsidiaries taken as a whole, unless otherwissnot

Our Industry

The remote telecommunications industry is highlgnpetitive with a wide variety of companies and r@tential entrants from adjacent
vertical markets and from within the broader vathain. Within the remote telecommunications indystre serve oil and gas companies that
operate their remote locations through global “gisvaonnected” networks driving demand for commutidces services and managed services
solutions that can operate reliably in increasingipote areas under harsh environmental conditions.

The oil and gas industry depends on maximum réiippguality and continuity of products and seesc Oil and gas companies with
geographically dispersed operations are partiguladtivated to use secure and highly reliable comigations networks due to several fact

« oil and gas companies rely on secure real-tiata collection and transfer methods for the safeedficient coordination of remote
operations

» technological advances in drilling techniques, @nivoy declining production from existing oil andsdilds and strong hydrocarb
demand, have enabled increased exploitation ofiofésdeepwater reserves and development of uncbamehreserves (e.g.,
shales and tight sands) that require real-time aatass by personnel in field and head officeptomze performance and maintain
safety standards; ar

e transmission of increased data volumes andtiraal data management and access to key decisikarmanable customers to
maximize operational results, safety and finanp@aformance

While we experience competition in our markets,bgbeve that our established relationships with@mers and proven performance
serve as significant barriers to entry.

Operations

We are a global provider of managed remote comnatinits, systems integration (project managementrofkey engineered
telecommunications solutions) and collaborativeliappons dedicated to the oil and gas industrgufing on offshore and onshore drilling
rigs, energy production facilities and energy niaugt Our business operations are divided into thepertable segments: Americas,
Europe/Africa and Middle East/Asia Pacific. Fordirtial information about our reportable segmerms,dote 13—“Segment Information” in
our consolidated financial statements includedhis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

» Americas.Our Americas segment provides remote communicasengces for offshore and onshore drilling rigsl @noduction
facilities, as well as, energy support vesselsahdr remote sites. Our Americas segment servieepeaformed out of our United
States and Brazil based offices for customers @nsites located on the western side of the Atta®itean primarily in the United
States, Mexico and Brazil, and within the Gulf oéXito.
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» Europe/Africa. Our Europe/Africa segment provides remote commtioiea services for offshore drilling rigs, productifacilities,
energy support vessels and other remote sitesEape/Africa segment services are performed oouoNorway and United
Kingdom based offices for customers and rig sitestied primarily off the coasts of the United Kingd Norway and West Africa.
Our Europe/Africa segment also provides systengmatéon services for both onshore and offshorearusts in the oil and gas
industry including drilling rigs and production fhites.

« Middle East/Asia Pacific (MEAP)Our MEAP segment provides remote communicationgses for onshore and offshore drilling
rigs, production facilities, energy support vesseld other remote sites. Our MEAP segment seramgrimarily performed out of
our Qatar and Singapore based offices for custoaragig sites located primarily around the Ind@oean in Qatar, Saudi Arabia
and India, around the Pacific Ocean near Australid, within the South China S¢

As of December 31, 2013, we were serving approx@m&6?2 jack up, semi-submersible and drillshigs righich we approximate to be a
32.0% market share of such rigs based on an IH®dRdh RigBase Current Activity report as of Jaguar2014. Additionally, as of
December 31, 2013, we were serving approximateyd?&hore drilling rigs in the Continental U.S. W& approximately a 15.6% market
share for U.S. onshore drilling rigs based on Bakeghes North America Rotary Rig Count report feacBmber 31, 2013. As of December
2013, we were serving approximately 253 strategt@tive sites, which include production facilgieenergy support vessels and international
onshore rigs. As of December 31, 2013, we weresdsang approximately 346 other sites, which ideleompletion facilities, remote support
offices and supply bases.

Our Strategy
To serve our customers and grow our business, t@adrto pursue aggressively the following strategie
» expand our share of the growing number of offstaoré onshore drilling rigs
e increase secondary customer penetration on ouiregxiemote sites
» develop and market additional va-added products and services; i

» extend our market presence into complementary emnmunications segments through organic growdhstmategic acquisition

Expand our share of the growing number of offshoaad onshore drilling rigs:We intend to expand our drilling rig market shaye b
increasing our penetration of the market for neladyit rigs, capturing existing rigs from competigdsecause of our superior performance,
landing fleet-wide opportunities with major drillemade available as a result of drilling rig indystonsolidation, improving penetration in
underserved and new geographic markets and cagtopiportunities for reactivated stacked rigs (tacking refers to when a rig is expecte«
be taken out of service for a protracted periotino€). For example, several of our largest custarhave recently completed acquisitions of
rigs that are currently served by competitors. ddigh there is no contractual obligation by our codrs to transition these rigs to us, we
believe we are strongly positioned to competetiese new rigs. Because of our established reldipssvith our customers, reliable and rol
service offerings and best-in-class customer servie believe that we are welbsitioned to capture new build and reactivatedkstd rigs the
our customers add to their fleets as well as tamigally gain market share against other providene. table below presents global fixed and
floating rigs which, as of January 1, 2014, aressicified to be delivered between 2014 and 2017.
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Fixed and Floating Rigs Scheduled for Delivery
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We intend to continue to expand our penetratiothefU.S. and international onshore drilling rig kedr Global onshore drilling rig count
is expected to increase by a compounded annualigyrate (CAGR) of 2.0% between 2014 and 2017 adegria projections provided by the
Spears & Associates Drilling and Production Outlodle believe we are well-positioned to increasepmietration in this segment because of
our experience in the U.S. onshore drilling rig kedy our in-depth understanding of the needs admdl gas customers, high quality of service
and global data network infrastructure.

Global Average Active Onshore Rigs
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Increase secondary customer penetratidi‘e intend to continue to scale our initial capitelestment with rig owners by using our
incumbent position at remote sites to serve otkeraion the rigs. We will seek to increase revavittelow incremental capital costs by up-
selling our services to other parties on the ggsduction platforms and energy support vessetdding drillers, operators, services
companies and pay-per-use individuals.

Develop and market additional value-added produatsl servicesWe intend to continue to serve our customers’ négds
commercializing additional products and serviced tomplement our wide array of available remotamanications services. We expect that
over the next several years our customer baseeqgllire a variety of advanced products such astireal functionality, videoconferencing,
software acceleration technology, WiFi hotspots amedlia. These products will be further supporte@iaynewly-acquired systems integration
solutions and other services designed to meenfnasiructure needs of our customers.

Additionally, with the continuously growing demafad communication-based products and increasedarktapeed in the oil and gas
industry, we expect bandwidth requirements forexisting customers to continue to increase. Thraughtengineering expertise, technical
sales force and operational capabilities, we vaifitihue to position ourselves to capture new busimpportunities and offer our customers a
full range of remote communications services dedint levels within customer organizations.

Extend our market presence into complementary reexobmmunications segments through organic growthdastrategic acquisitions:
Our market presence and proven quality of servifar significant organic growth opportunities indated adjacent upstream energy segment
where we are well positioned to deliver remote camitations solutions. Targeted segments includeeg® energy vessels (including
seismic and offshore support and supply vessdifshare fixed and floating production facilitiesdamternational onshore drilling rigs and
production facilities.

In addition, we will continue to look for and rewiepportunities in other remote communications ratiddjacencies that offer signific:
opportunities for growth and where we are well posed to take advantage of these opportunities.

We are also focused on expanding our competitivek@tgosition through strategic acquisitions. Asagatinue to focus on expanding
the target markets for our products, services ahdiens, we plan to selectively acquire compamied/or technologies that would be
complementary to our existing business. Strategfgigition opportunities may be pursued to enhanceoperations and further our strategic
objectives.

In 2012, we expanded our services to include sysiatagration solutions through the acquisitiomNetssco Group Holdings Ltd.
(Nessco), an Aberdeen-based international leadbeifield of telecommunications systems integrafar the oil and gas industry. Nessco has
provided us with increased visibility in existingdafuture planned offshore fixed and floating pretitan facilities.

In 2014, with the acquisition of Inmarsat’s Ene&ypadband business, we expanded our servicesltmmmicrowave and WiMAX
networks in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico serving drikeproducers and energy vessel owners, VSAT intere€anada, an M2M SCADA VSAT
network in the continental U.S. serving the pipelindustry, a worldwide telecommunications systertegration business and a global L-banc
MSS retail energy business.

Additionally, we finalized an agreement with Inmetro be a distribution partner to deliver Inmass@lobal Xpress (GX) and L-band
services to the energy sector worldwide.

Competitive Strengths
As a leading communications network infrastrucfamavider within the oil and gas industry, our cortipee strengths include:
* missior-critical services delivered by a trusted providéhva global network and operatior
» high-quality customer support with full time monitoriagd regional service cente
e operational leverage and multiple paths to growttpsrted by a pl.-anc-play IP/MPLS global platform
» scalable systems using standardized equipmentetreriage our global infrastructui

» customized systems integration solutions provideepert systems enginee

7
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» flexible, provide-neutral technology platforn
» long-term relationships with leading companies in tHeand gas industry; ar

« the ability to design and implement a broadyeaaf communication solutions using a range ofdfesgies and modes of
communication

Mission-critical services delivered by a trustedpider with global operationsOur focus on the oil and gas industry provides iik an
in-depth understanding of the mission-critical reeetlour customers that enables us to tailor owiees to their requirements. Our network
reliability and responsive customer service, alatityy the high switching costs associated with clieg@ut remote communications providers,
provide us with a high rate of customer retent@ar global presence allows us to serve our cliefisrever they may operate around the
world, except where U.S. government restrictiony aqaply. Our global terrestrial network also alloussto provide quality of service to
prioritize various forms of data traffic for a mgskeasing end user experience. Our ability to afiarcustomers such global coverage sets us
apart from regional competitors at a time whenaustomers are expanding the geographic reach infava businesses, exploring for oil and
gas reserves in more remote locations and see&ingte communications partners that can match #eedkin of their global operations and
speed of deployment.

High-quality customer support with full-time moniting and regional service center©ur IP/MPLS global network allows us to
provide high quality customer care by enablingausibnitor the network end-to-end so that we cailyeasd rapidly identify and resolve any
network problems that our customers may experiehs@f December 31, 2013, we had 32 service omaraitenters and warehouses to
support and service our customeeshote sites. A Global Network Operations Centeated in Houston, Texas is staffed 24 hours pey 365
days per year. We provide non-stop, end-to-end toiong and technical support for every customeisoactive network monitoring allows
us to detect problems instantly and keep our sesvignning at optimum efficiency. Fully managecdtedogy is a key reason why we can
support solutions that deliver high performance aew technologies that improve productivity. AdDefcember 31, 2013, our onshore service
were supported through a network of 12 field sengenters and equipment depots, located in mdjandigas regions in the continental
United States. Our onshore footprint allows usepond with high quality same-day service for tharter drilling cycles inherent in onshore
drilling where rapid installation, decommissioniagd repair services are required. We maintain fisttinicians as well as adequate spare
and equipment inventory levels in these serviceeren

Operational leverage and multiple paths to growthpported by a plug-and-play IP/MPLS platforn®ur scalable, standardized
communications platform provides us with plug-amayapabilities to easily expand or improve sexfferings. Our IP/MPLS global
platform allows us the ability to add additionahdees to our standard offerings or change ouriserofferings on a rig, production platform or
energy support vessel with little incremental aoste installed onsite. We can offer these sentiwedl users of the rig, production platform or
energy support vessel, including drillers, opeisteervice companies and pay-per-use individuat as off-duty rig workers and visiting
contractors, vendors and others. We expect thisatipg leverage to help drive an expansion in odjusted EBITDA as we grow, which is
defined in Item 6. “Selected Financial Data” ofstéinnual Report on Form 10-K. We expect the denfandur products and services to
continue to increase as oil and gas producersragnto invest in the infrastructure needed to comially produce deepwater and increasingly
remote reserves. Our IP/MPLS global platform givesn important advantage by offering greaterbaiig, scalability, flexibility and securit
than conventional switched transports and accdontshat we believe to be a key reason for the eteshare we have today of remote
installations on offshore and onshore drilling ngigh the potential that we can lift that markeashover time.

Scalable systems using standardized equipment linagrages our global infrastructuréVe have built our global satellite and terrestria
network with a significant amount of excess capeattitsupport our growth without substantial increraé capital investment. Our knowledge
and capabilities can be applied to rigs and otberote sites located anywhere in the world. We instandardized equipment on each rig or
remote site, which allows us to provide support araintenance services for our equipment in a cffisient manner. Not all of the
components of equipment that we install on eaclamégthe same, but the components that vary aredrim number and tend to be the same
for rigs located in the same geography. As of Ddeam31, 2013, we leased capacity from 32 satellited are cdecated in 22 teleports and
datacenters worldwide in order to provide our ematd solutions. By leasing rather than owningretwork enablers and owning the on-site
equipment on each rig, we are able to both minirtheecapital investment required by the base ndtivdrastructure and maintain the
flexibility to install high quality equipment on elarig tailored to its locale and environmental ditions. We do own and manage the IP layer
end-to-end. The standardized nature of our equipmarimizes execution risk, lowers maintenance iaventory carrying costs and enables
ease of service support. In addition, we are ablernain current with technology upgrades due tdbagk-end flexibility.

8
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Customized systems integration solutions providgdekpert systems engineefBhrough the acquisition of Nessco, we now provide
customized systems integration solutions. As theade for additional telecommunications products systems continues to increase with
each new technological advance, the need for vedligthed, efficient and reliable network infrastiwes becomes increasingly vital to remote
communications customers. Our systems integratutisns are custom designed, built and testedxpg engineers based on the customer’
specifications and requirements, as well as intemal industry standards and best practices. Thesgces provide customers with improved
system reliability, operational efficiency and ceatings. For those customers requiring reliableote communications services and
customized solutions for their network infrastruet) RigNet provides a one-stop-shop to satisfgelttemands.

Flexible, provider-neutral technology platformBecause we procure communications connections ewbrks and equipment from th
parties, we are able to customize the best soldtioour customers’ needs and reduce our requiked fcapital investments. We aim to
preserve the flexibility to select particular sess/providers and equipment so that we may acceliplayroviders and avoid downtime if any
of our initial providers were to experience anylpgems. By procuring bandwidth from a variety of acoomications providers instead of own
our own satellites, we are able to minimize capitabstment requirements and can expand our geligrapverage in response to customers’
needs with much greater flexibility. Our productiaervice portfolio offers best-in-class technol@iptforms using the optimal suite
communications and networking capabilities for oastrs. This best-of-breed approach does contréistseme of our larger competitors who
are more backward integrated in the value chainhave a more limited solutions toolkit as a result.

Long-term relationships with leading companies ing oil and gas industryWe have established relationships with some ofaigest
companies in the global oil and gas industry. Sofreur key customers are the leading contractestslaround the globe, with combined
offshore fleets of hundreds of rigs, as well aslieg oil and gas companies, oilfield services fitansl engineering and construction companies
In most cases, these customers are investment gatecompanies with high standards of serviceféar strategic providers such as RigNe
and work in partnership with us to serve their resraperations.

The ability to design and implement a broad rangecommunication solutions using a range of frequeies and modes of
communication;:We have the ability to design and implement a bmaagie of communication solutions using a rangeesfuencies and mod
of communication. These modes of communicatiornuelwired, wireless satellite Ku, C, L and Ka baassvell as wireless WiMAX and
Line-of-Sight (LOS) microwave. This range of comrimations solutions allows us to offer competitivelaeliable communications solutions
in a broad range of remote geographic locations@bar customer base of leading global drillingylexation and production and oilfield
service customers operate. This helps us meetustiormer’s requirements for choosing their provigleb@sed on maximum reliability while
factoring price.

Service Offerings

We offer a comprehensive communications packag®iot, data, video, networking and real-time datmagement to offshore and land
based remote locations. We are a single sourcéi@muprovider that links multiple offshore or retaaite rigs and production facilities with
real-time onshore decision centers and applications

The main services we offer are high quality voieerelnternet-protocol, or VolP, data and high-spe#drnet access. In addition, we
increasingly provide other value-added servicesh s1$ video conferencing solutions, TurboNet WAt (fide area network) acceleration
solutions, real-time data management solutionsFiMietspots and Internet kiosks, Secure Oil InfdfamaLink (SOIL), wireless intercoms and
handheld radios. The price for these value-addedcss is generally included in the day rate ancbbges incorporated into the recurring
revenue from our customers.

Systems Integration

As the demand for additional telecommunicationsipots and systems continues to increase with eawshtechnological advance, the
need for well-designed, efficient and reliable ratwinfrastructures becomes increasingly vital o customers. Our systems integration
solutions are custom designed, engineered andbas#d on the customer’s specifications and regainés, as well as international industry
standards and best practices. Each systems iritegpaibject includes consultancy services, desggjneering, project management,
procurement, testing, installation, commissioning aftersales service. These services provide our custowitirsmproved system reliabilit
operational efficiency and cost savings.

Our systems integration services are provided batiocustom built, 3,000 square foot facilitiesberdeen, Scotland. This facility has
been specifically designed to facilitate the enend process of systems mechanical fabricatiord lamd assembly through to final System
Integration Testing (SIT) and Factory Acceptancstifg (FAT). The workshops are fully provisionediwall the tools, equipment and the
skilled engineers and technicians necessary to leiengll operations in house, maintaining totaltomirof both of the engineering and quality
of all the processes involved in the completioeath project.
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Video Conferencing Solutions

The oil and gas industry increasingly uses vidagd@®@ncing to save significant amounts of time gedlice costs. As an alternative to
excessive travel and traditional meetings, videgd@®ncing improves collaboration and expeditessitat making. We provide a complete,
high-performance video conferencing solution sdalédr a wide range of uses. Video conferencingisercan be delivered securely and
reliably over our SOIL private extranet and is theanded as SOIL Meeting. Increasingly, we arealgpy videoconferencing solutions to
remote sites, allowing our customers to conduatirgeand reliable videoconferences between theirasffand their remote sites.

We also offer high-resolution hand held wirelesmeeas through our Remote View service that alloxgeds in offices to troubleshoot
equipment at remote sites, which can save custotineesand money, with recent successful deploymiantse Gulf of Mexico and the North
Sea. This service can also be delivered over oult E&twork.

TurboNet Solutions

Our customers are increasingly pushing softwardicapn use to the edge of their networks (rensites such as drilling rigs,
production facilities and vessels). While VSAT centions are reliable, many software applicatiomsrent designed to perform optimally over
highly latent satellite links. Working with Rivertd& echnology, Inc., or Riverbed, we deploy infrasture appliances to improve the
performance of client-server interactions over WADNthout breaking the semantics of the protocdls,dystems or applications. Whether our
customers are copying a file from a distant fileveg getting mail from a remote exchange servackimg up remote file servers to a main
datacenter or sending very large files to colleagqtéheadquarters, slow WANs cost time and monkg.cbsts are borne in redundant
infrastructure, over-provisioned bandwidth, and fm®ductivity.

Working with Riverbed’s appliances, RigNet's Turletiéolution can improve the performance, or thraughof client-server
interactions over WANSs by up to 100 times, givihg £nd user the appearance that the server isriibar than remote. That degree of
apparent network speed improvement enables ounroess to centralize currently distributed resoutitesstorage, mail servers and file
servers and deliver new WAN-based IT servicesliaae not been possible before. Not only do thevewé applications perform more as they
would in offices, but our customers may better mpte the use of expensive satellite bandwidth.

Wi-Fi Hotspot and Internet Kiosk

We offer WiFi hotspot and Internet kiosk solutidhat facilitate access to the Internet by rig-bgsedonnel. This is advantageous for ri
owners who seek to improve the quality of life émnployees by providing Internet access in the d\dnarters, and for service companies that
seek office-like connectivity for their techniciaasd engineers. The WiFi hotspot and Internet kemdlgtions provide ready access with a
familiar user interface without requiring specielizequipment to connect to the service. Theseisnfuaire generally paid for by the business
customer as a benefit to its remote employees.

SOIL (Secure Qil Information Link)

In addition to the services we provide to offshanel onshore remote sites, we also operate a pragriextranet enabling oil companies
and their counterparties, such as rig owners, aGerm@mpanies and application service providersptmect and collaborate on a high-speed,
secure and reliable basis. As of December 31, 2803, 's value-added services were being providemhdoe than 200 oil and gas operators,
service companies and other industry supplieraigitiout the North Sea region. These customers us8@IlL services to collaborate with
partners and suppliers or for internal company campations. We intend to extend the SOIL networkuo other geographic areas of high oil
and gas drilling and production activity.

Our SOIL network is a fully managed, high-perform@nmembers-only communications network hub thabkss collaborative partners,
suppliers and customers to transfer and shareqdiathly, reliably and securely. We believe thastbne-to-many private extranet is a cost
effective and easy-to-deploy alternative to buiddout point-to-point VPN (virtual private networ&pnnections. The network members do not
have to extend the extranet to other partnersmplgrs individually. With one link to SOIL, cliestare connected to all other members.
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With a service level uptime commitment of 99.7%r, 8@OIL network supports a wide range of bandwidtbm 64 Kbps to 1 Gbps,
offering speed and reliability ideal for a varietfiyapplications used in the oil and gas industryeal as value-added services we provide such
as SOIL Meeting (video conferencing) and SOIL Hugtjapplication hosting). SOIL offers clients qtabf service and a guaranteed
bandwidth that may be increased or decreased angaarequirements.

We charge a monthly subscription fee for accesmtdSOIL network depending on the desired accessdspgn addition, we charge for
installation of the required equipment and valudeatiservices.

Customer Contracts

In order to streamline the addition of new projets solidify our position in the market, we haigned agreements with most custon
that define the contractual relationship with @itlagas producers, service companies and drillimgpamies for our offshore and land-based
telecommunications services. The specific sendie@sg provided are defined under individual serdogers that have a term of one to three
years with renewal options, while le-based locations are generally shorter term oritexibbe on short notice without penalty. Serviceensd
are executed under the customer agreements foidodi remote sites or groups of sites, and gelyemzy be terminated early on short notice
without penalty in the event of force majeure, bteaf the agreement or cold stacking of a drillirig

Customers

We have an international customer base comprisiagynof the largest drilling contractors, exploratemd production companies and
oilfield services companies. Our largest custorNehle Corporation, accounted for approximately 9@6ur total revenue for 2013.

Suppliers

Although we have preferred suppliers of telecomrmatidbns and networking equipment, nearly all tedbapp utilized in our solutions is
available from more than one supplier. The staridaddequipment may be deployed across any sitig @m any geographic area.

In addition, we do not rely on one satellite pravifior our entire satellite bandwidth needs exéeptertain instances in which only one
satellite bandwidth provider is available in an igeg location, which is typically due to licengirestrictions. This approach generally allows
us flexibility to use the satellite provider thdtess the best service for specific areas and tmgh providers if one provider experiences any
problems.

Competition

The remote telecommunications industry is highlgnpetitive. We expect competition in the marketd tha serve to persist, intensify
and change, consistent with recent industry codatitin and ownership change. We face varying degrEeompetition from a wide variety of
companies, including new potential entrants froovjaters to adjacent vertical markets and from fathiategration by some of our suppliers
deeper in the industry value chain, since succkssfuice and system development is not necessipgndent upon substantial financial
resources.

Our primary global competitor in upstream oil aras §s Harris Corporation’s Harris Cap Rock Commatigns. In addition, there are a
range of regional providers serving smaller custsm®@pecifically in our U.S. onshore operations,alg® face competition from: wireless
network providers; drilling instrumentation provideliving quarters companies; and other pure-piayiders like us.

Our customers generally choose their provider(sgtan the quality and reliability of the serviceldhe ability to restore service quicl
when there is an outage. Pricing and breadth efceeofferings is also a factor. The oil and gatuistry depends on maximum reliability,
quality and continuity of products and service abfished relationships with customers and provefopeance serve as significant barriers to
entry.
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Government Regulation

The provision of telecommunications is highly resgatl. We are required to comply with the laws aglitations of, and often obtain
approvals from, national and local authoritiesammection with most of the services we providethim United States, we are subject to the
regulatory authority of the United States, primatile Federal Communications Commission (FCC). Ratigun of the telecommunications
industry continues to change rapidly. Some of oi8.\dervices are currently provided on a privateéerabasis and are therefore subject to ligh
or no regulation by the FCC and other federalestaid local agencies. If the FCC or one or motte gtablic utility commissions determine tl
these services or the services of our subsidiariesfiliates constitute common carrier offeringbgct to the Communications Act, associatec
FCC regulations, and similar state laws, we maguigect to significant costs to ensure complianitk the applicable provisions of those laws
and regulations. We may be subject to enforcenstigre including, but not limited to, fines, ceasel desist orders, or other penalties if we
fail to comply with those requirements.

Similarly, VoIP services that permit subscribersénd calls to and receive calls from the trad#@idalephone network, known as
interconnected VolIP services, are generally sulbgettte regulatory authority of the FCC. If oungees that include VolP are determined to
constitute interconnected VolP, we will become sabfo a number of regulatory requirements inclgdibligations to pay into the Universal
Service Fund and other federal program funds, acuadate the needs of disabled persons, protectroestoroprietary network information,
provide E911 services, report outages etc. Comgiavith these requirements may involve significaogts, and we could be subject to
enforcement actions including, but not limitedftnes, cease and desist orders, or other pen#liiesfail to comply with those requirements.

In 2014, we completed the purchase of Inmarsagsgnbroadband business which included substargramon-carrier type services,
facilities and licenses, including fixed microwdieenses, very small aperture terminal (VSAT) eatdtion licenses, various private and
commercial mobile radio service licenses, broadbadib licenses and leases for wireless commuwoitsiservice licenses. RigNet also
acquired authorization to provide intrastate tefecmnications services in two states: Texas anddiau@. As a result of these additional
product and service offerings and the multipleriges acquired from Inmarsat, RigNet may be sulbjectore expansive, and in some cases,
more stringent regulation by the FCC and stateipuitility commissions than in the past. We arerently in the process of reevaluating our
compliance obligations in light of the recent asifion.

We are subject to export control laws and reguatiocrade and economic sanction laws and reguktibthe United States with respect
to the export of telecommunications equipment amdises. Certain aspects of our business are algjed to state and local regulation. We
typically have to register to provide our teleconmications services in each country in which we dsifiess. The laws and regulations
governing these services are often complex andsuty) change. At times, the rigs or vessels orclwvbur equipment is located and to which
our services are provided will need to operate ew location on short notice and we must quicklyister to provide our services in such
country. Failure to comply with any of the laws ardulations to which we are subject may resultanious sanctions, including fines, loss of
authorizations and denial of applications for neitharizations or for renewal of existing authoriaas. We are also subject to the Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act, which prohibits payment obbs or giving anything of value to foreign goverent officials for the purpose of obtain
or retaining business or gaining a competitive athivge.

Employees
As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 48%ife employees consisting of 42 employees lassand marketing, 152
employees in finance and administration, 267 eng®gyin operations and technical support and 20@mree$ in management.

Effective January 1, 2014 we initiated matchingtdbations in our 401(k) plan pursuant to whictgédlie employees may make
contributions through a payroll deduction. We madagching cash contributions of 100% of each empdtsyeontribution up to 2.0% of that
employee’s salary and 50% of each employee’s darttdn between 2% and 6% of such employee’s salgryp the maximum amount
permitted by law.

We believe our employee relations are good.
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Geographic Information

See Note 13—“Segment Information,” to our consaéddinancial statements included elsewhere inAhisual Report on Form 10-K
for more information regarding geographic areaseme.

Other Information
Corporate Structure and History

We were incorporated in Delaware on July 6, 2004. edecessor began operations in 2000 as Rigietd Texas corporation. In July
2004, our predecessor merged into us. The comntigrsaservices we provide to the offshore drillangd production industry were establis
in 2001 by our predecessor, who established irofi@rations in the Asia Pacific region. We haveasiavolved into one of the leading global
providers of remote communications services indffighore drilling and production industry.

Our continued organic growth has also been complieteby several strategic acquisitions which haymeded our service offerings. In
2012, we added systems integration solutions tgottfolio through the acquisition of Nessco, areAdeen-based international leader in the
field of telecommunications systems integrationtf@ oil and gas industry. In 2014, with the acijiois of Inmarsat’s Energy Broadband
business, we expanded our services to include m&re and WiMAX networks in the U.S. Gulf of Mexiserving drillers, producers and
energy vessel owners; VSAT interests in Canada/2i SCADA VSAT network in the continental U.S. seny the pipeline industry; a
worldwide telecommunications systems integratiositess; and a global L-band MSS retail energy l@ssin

Principal Executive Offices

Our principal executive offices are located at 188@airy Ashford, Suite 300, Houston, Texas 77@ur main telephone number is +1
(281) 674-0100.

Company Website

The Company’s internet website is www.rig.net. TG@mpany makes available free of charge on its ielsinual Reports on Form 10-
K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, current reportd=orm 8-K, and amendments to those reports fitddrnished pursuant to Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934am&nded.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardkimg statements, within the meaning of Section ?7#e Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Bgehact of 1934, as amended, that are subjechtor@er of risks and uncertainties, many
of which are beyond the Company’s control. Theategtents may include statements about:

» competition and competitive factors in the marketahich we operate

» demand for our products and servic

» the advantages of our services compared to ot

« changes in customer preferences and our abiligdémt our product and services offerir

e our ability to develop and maintain positive redaships with our customer

* our ability to retain and hire necessary employsesappropriately staff our marketing, sales asttidution efforts
» our cash needs and expectations regarding casHribovoperations

e our ability to manage and grow our businessex@tute our business strategy, including expanaimgenetration of the U.S. and
international onshore and offshore drilling ri

e our strategy
« our financial performance, including our abilityggpand Adjusted EBITDA through our operationakleage; ant

» the costs associated with being a public comp

These forward-looking statements may be foundamlL. “Business;” Iltem 1A. “Risk Factors;” Item“Kanagement’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiiems” and other items within this Annual Repartfeorm 10-K. In some cases, forward-
looking statements can be identified by terminoleggh as “may,” “could,” “should,” “would,” “expegt‘plan,” “project,” “intend,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “pential,” “pursue,” “target,” “continue,” the nege¢ of such terms or other comparable
terminology that convey uncertainty of future eweot outcomes. All of these types of statementgrahan statements of historical fact
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, arexfard-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements contained in thisdal Report on Form 10-K are largely based on Comgxpectations, which reflect
estimates and assumptions made by Company managérhese estimates and assumptions reflect managsrbest judgment based on
currently known market conditions and other factéithough the Company believes such estimatesaaadmptions to be reasonable, they ar
inherently uncertain and involve a number of riaksl uncertainties beyond its control. In additimanagement’s assumptions may prove to b
inaccurate. The Company cautions that the forwaoditihg statements contained in this Annual Reporfform 10-K are not guarantees of
future performance, and it cannot assure any rahdesuch statements will be realized or the fodalaoking statements or events will occur.
Future results may differ materially from thoseieipaited or implied in forward looking statementgedo factors listed in the “Risk Factors”
section and elsewhere in this Annual Report on FODAK. If one or more of these factors materialeif any underlying assumptions prove
incorrect, our future results, performance or asdieents may vary materially from any future resyierformance or achievements expressec
or implied by these forward-looking statements. Tdrevard-looking statements speak only as of the dzade, and other than as required by
law, the Company undertakes no obligation to pliblipdate or revise any forward-looking statemeiitether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise.

About Third-Party Information

In this report, the Company relies on and refeiisfirmation regarding industry data obtained frorarket research, publicly available
information, industry publications, and other thirarties. Although the Company believes the infdiomais reliable, it cannot guarantee the
accuracy or completeness of the information ane imot independently verified it.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Our business has many risks. Factors that couldmalfly affect our business, financial positiongogting results or liquidity and the
trading price of our common stock are describedweT his information should be considered carefulhgether with other information in this
report and other reports and materials we file with Securities and Exchange Commission, or the. SEC

We are subject to the volatility of the global @ihd gas industry and our business is likely to ftuate with the level of global activity for
oil and natural gas exploration, development andogiuction.

Our business depends on the oil and natural gastrydand particularly on the level of activity foit and natural gas exploration,
development and production. Demand for our remoierounication services and collaborative applicatidapends on our customers’
willingness to make operating and capital expeméd#uo explore, develop and produce oil and nagaalin the regions in which we operate ol
may operate. Our business will suffer if these exiteres decline. Our customers’ willingness tolexg develop and produce oil and natural
gas depends largely upon prevailing market contibat are influenced by numerous factors oveclvhie have no control, including:

» the supply and demand for oil and natural

» the supply and demand for drilling rigs and sersj

« oil and natural gas prices and expectations alhautd prices

» the expected rate of decline in producti

» the discovery rate of new oil and gas reser

» the ability of the Organization of Petroleum ExjigtCountries, or OPEC, to influence and maintawdpction levels and pricing
» the level of production in n-OPEC countries

» the worldwide political and military environmigimcluding uncertainty or instability resultingpfn an escalation or additional
outbreak of armed hostilities or other crises imoinatural gas producing areas of the Middle Bast other crude oil and natural
gas producing regions or further acts of terrorigiihe United States, or elsewhe

« the impact of changing regulations and envirental and safety rules and policies, including gesrto regulations, rules and
policies, following oil spills and other pollutidsy the oil and gas industry, and legislative argluitatory interest to limit or further
regulate drilling and hydraulic fracturing actieis;

« advances in exploration, development and produd¢&ohnology:
» the global economic environme!
» the political and legislative framework governitng tactivities of oil and natural gas companies;

» the price and availability of alternative fue

The level of activity in the oil and natural gapmmration and production industry has historic&den volatile and cyclical. Although we
believe our customers will be dependent upon iiga-t/oice and data communication services and mysietegration solutions to optimize
their oil and gas production and development i@vironment with lower energy prices, a prolonggdificant reduction in the price of oll
and natural gas will likely affect oil and natugas production levels and therefore affect demanthe communication services and systems
integration solutions we provide. In addition, alpnged significant reduction in the price of aildanatural gas could make it more difficult for
us to collect outstanding account receivables fomimcustomers. A material decline in oil and ndtges prices or oil and natural gas
exploration, development or production activityds/could harm our business, financial conditiod srsults of operations.
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Our ability to retain our existing customers dependn many factors, including:

» our successful execution of marketing and sstiedegies, including the acceptance of our vatoposition; service delivery and
customer care activities, including new accounugetnd billing; and our credit and collection pas;

e Our ability to successfully obtain additional fircamg for the continued operation and b-out of our systems and networl
« actual or perceived quality and coverage of ouwwvogks;
e public perception about our brani

» our ability to anticipate and develop new ohamced technologies, products and services thatteetive to existing or potential
customers

* our ability to access additional bandwid
* our ability to attract, hire and maintain qualifipdrsonnel to meet custor’s needs
e our ability to maintain and develop new sites far placement of our equipment to provide our ses;

« our ability to anticipate and respond to vasi@empetitive factors affecting the industry, irdthg new technologies, products and
services that may be introduced by our competitdranges in consumer preferences, demographicstrendnomic conditions, a
discount pricing and other strategies that maynggeémented by our competitol

Our industry is highly competitive and if we do nobmpete successfully, our business, financial citiwth and results of operations will
be harmed.

The telecommunications industry is generally higtdynpetitive, and we expect both product and pgiciompetition to persist and
intensify. Increased competition could cause reduegenue, price reductions, reduced profits asd & market share. Our industry is
characterized by competitive pressures to prowndeeced functionality for the same or lower prigthveach new generation of technology
the prices of our services decrease, we will neextll more services and/or reduce the per-sites ¢osmprove or maintain our results of
operations. Our primary global competitor has bidarris Corporation’s Harris Cap Rock Communicatiand most recently ITC Global,
backed by a private equity investment firm, hasoaimeed its intent to expand its presence as a presatellite communications service
provider to the oil and gas, mining and maritimekats. We also compete with regional competitorth@countries in which we operate.
Some of our competitors have longer operating hestpsubstantially greater financial and otheoueses for developing new solutions as well
as for recruiting and retaining qualified personiiéleir greater financial resources may also mhaketbetter able to withstand downturns in
the market, expand into new areas more aggressivelperate in developing markets without immediatancial returns. In addition, in
certain markets outside of the U.S., we face coitipetfrom local competitors that provide their@ees at a lower price due to lower overh
costs, including lower costs of complying with d@pable government regulations, and due to theilingihess to provide services for a lower
profit margin. Strong competition and significantéstments by competitors to develop new and bstietions may make it difficult for us to
maintain our customer base, force us to reduc@mces or increase our costs to develop new saistio

Furthermore, competition may emerge from compathiaswe have previously not perceived as compstiboiconsolidation of our
industry may cause existing competitors to becoiggds and stronger with more resources, market emems and market share. As we expan
into new markets and geographic regions we mayrexpee increased competition from some of our cditgee that have prior experience or
other business in these markets or geographicnegin addition, some of our customers may de@degource some of the communications
services and managed services solutions that wederdn particular our terrestrial communicati@nsces (e.g., terrestrial Line-of-Sight
(LOS) transport, microwave, Worldwide Interoperapifor Microwave Access, or WiMAX), which do nogquire the same level of
maintenance and support as our other servicessiaess will depend on our ability to adapt to ¢hesmpetitive forces, to adapt to
technological advances, to develop more advanaadlipts more rapidly and less expensively than oorpetitors, to continue to develop and
deepen our global sales and business developmewntmeand to educate potential customers aboubémefits of using our solutions rather
than our competitors’ products and services opirreed solutions. Our failure to successfully regpto these competitive challenges could
harm our business, financial condition and resflisperations.
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Our industry is characterized by rapid technologlazhange, and if we fail to keep up with these clus or if access to
telecommunications in remote locations becomes easr less expensive, our business, financial cdiali and results of operations may
be harmed.

The communications industry is characterized bydrapanges in technology, new evolving standantgrging competition and freque
new product and service introductions. As an examptechnological change that could impact ouir®ss, some remote communications
providers are exploring the use of Ka-band satedi@rvice, compared to our use of the Ku-band abdr@ satellite space segment today.
When this Ka-band service is made available, whidxpected to be in 2014, we may have to adaipd tese, contracting with other satellite
operators, which might impair our business if oteviders are more successful in using Ka-bandes to meet customer needs than us.

Our future business prospects largely depend omloility to meet changing customer preferenceanticipate and respond to
technological changes and to develop competitioelyets. If telecommunications to remote locatioesdmes more readily accessible or less
expensive than our services, our business wilkesuNMew disruptive technologies could make our VS#8Eed networks or other services
obsolete or less competitive than they are todayyiring us to reduce the prices that we are abdlharge for our services or causing us to
undergo expensive transitions to new transportigiciyies. We may not be able to successfully redspomew technological developments
challenges or identify and respond to new markebdpnities, services or products offered by cortgest In addition, our efforts to responc
technological innovations and competition may reggignificant capital investments and resourcagthEérmore, we may not have the
necessary resources to respond to new technolatfiaalges and innovations and emerging competitiaiture to keep up with future
technological changes could harm our businessnéiahcondition and results of operations.

Many of our potential clients are resistant to nesslutions and technologies which may limit our grtfw

Although there is a strong focus on technology trment within the oil industry, some of the comigarin the upstream oil and gas
industry are relatively conservative and risk agesith respect to adopting new solutions and teldwies in the area of remote
communications due to our services being so integraighly-complex drilling, completion and prodian operations. Some drilling
contractors, oil and gas companies and oilfieldisercompanies may choose not to adopt new sokiamd technology, such as our remote
communications and collaboration applications $sohg, which may limit our growth potential. The rkatrfor IP/MPLS based communication
services is in a relatively early stage, and soihanal gas companies may choose not to adopt WIS based communications technolc
This may in turn limit our growth.

We have contractual commitments, under certain cd@imhs, for the purchase of GX space segment, andhie event that the GX Ka bar
service does not perform as expected or is not pteek by our customers, we may not be able to rdkellcapacity or sales may be at
prices that impair our margins and financial resudt

We do not own, lease or operate satellites, andageire space segment capacity from various prowidtistorically, we have purchased
space segment, on a regional basis, in contractiat®ioip to $5.0 million, primarily C band and KundaWe have historically had multiple
contracts with each provider. We have recentlyredt@to an agreement with Inmarsat to purchasgeucertain conditions, up to $65.0
million of Ka segment on Inmarsat’'s GX system dfieg years. This commitment is subject to a nundfd¢echnical and other requirements,
which if not met, reduce the company’s obligatibetow $65.0 million. This capacity is expected ¢one online in 2015 and is expected to
supplement a portion of existing Ku and C bandisesr In the event that the new GX service doepadbrm as expected, is not accepted
portion of our customers as expected or is not ablitceptable prices, our margins and financsallte could be adversely impacted. The GX
system deployment will require capital expenditumeplace new equipment with our customers, atldeifGX system is not successful, we will
not be able to earn the financial returns consistéh prior investments and our margins and finahesults could be adversely impacted.
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Our information systems and network are protecteddertain security measures, and in the event thia security measures fail or are
otherwise not adequate, our systems may be damadech could harm our business, financial conditiorend results of operations.

We have in place layered security systems designptbtect against certain events, including interal or unintentional disruption,
failure, misappropriation or corruption of our netk and information systems. Events of this typghthbe caused by computer hacking,
computer viruses, worms and other destructive snugtive software, “cyber-attacks” and other malisi activity, as well as natural disasters,
power outages, terrorist attacks and similar evé&ush events could have an adverse impact onduswarcustomers, including degradation of
service, service disruption, excessive call volumeall centers and damage to our plant, equipmedtdata. In addition, we could be adver
affected by the theft, destruction, loss, misappation or release of confidential customer datantellectual property. Operational or business
delays may result from the disruption of networkrdormation systems and the subsequent remediatitivities. Moreover, these events may
create negative publicity resulting in reputatiorbcand damage with customers. In addition, thevagts and information systems of our third-
party service providers and our customers may breevable to the events described above. Our custoamgracts, in general, do not contain
provisions which would protect us against liabilitythird-parties with whom our customers condugdibess. Although we have implemented
and intend to continue to implement industry staddcurity systems, these systems may prove itwaldequate and result in the disruption,
failure, misappropriation or corruption of our netk and information systems. We may be requiregikjzend significant resources to protect
against these events or to alleviate problemsydhiey reputational harm and litigation, causedh®se events or the failure or inadequacy of
our security systems, which could have a matedaéese effect on our business, financial conditind results of operations.

Information technology infrastructure and securitgre critical to supporting our accounting and baaKfice functions; failure of our
information technology infrastructure to operate fefctively could adversely affect our business, firtéal conditions and results of
operations.

We depend heavily on information technology infrasture to achieve our back office functions of@atting, invoicing, purchasing,
requisitioning, performing management’s analysisesiilts and payroll. We continue to replace arttheoe our information systems. If a
problem occurs that impairs or compromises thisastfucture, including due to security breachemalicious attacks, or during systems
upgrades and/or new systems implementations, thitireg disruption could impede our ability to pmrh accounting, invoice, process orders,
protect sensitive data of the company, our custepzerr suppliers and business partners, or othemwery on business in the normal course.
Any such events could cause us to lose customéfsrarevenue and could require us to incur sigaifieexpense to remediate, including as a
result of legal claims or proceedings. Additionalyy such events could adversely harm our legabunting and compliance capabilities
including but not limited to: our ability to timeRjle reports with the Securities and Exchange Cassimn (SEC); timely file financial
statements required by certain statutes; timedyddmpliance reports with our lenders under ouditegreement; and timely file income taxes
with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS), foreigxing authorities, and with local taxing authorities

The implementation of a new enterprise resourcemiing (ERP) system could cause disruption to therQuany’s operations.

The Company is evaluating a new enterprise resqlassing (ERP) system and expects that it coaldsition to a new system as early
as January 1, 2015. The Company estimates thatyitsmend $5.0 — $6.0 million during the implemeotabf a new ERP. The Company
anticipates that significant internal and extemeaburces will be required. However, if the impletation of the ERP does not proceed as
expected, it could negatively impact the Compakyisent operating service levels, require additioesources and significant financial
commitments, result in potential transition delaggyede the Company’s ability to order materiabmerate management reports, invoice
customers, and comply with laws and regulations; éinthese types of disruptions could have a matedverse effect on the financial posi
and the financial results of the Company.
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Our revenue and earnings are largely dependent ba award of new contracts that we do not directonirol.

A substantial portion of our revenue and earnisggeinerated from large-scale and increasinglynatemnal project awards. The timing
of when project awards will be made is unprediaabid largely outside of our control. We operatkighly competitive markets where it is
difficult to predict whether and when we will reeeiawards since these awards and projects oftatvimeomplex and lengthy negotiations
bidding processes. These processes can be imgactedide variety of factors including financingntimgencies, commodity prices and
overall market and economic conditions. In additlwa may not win contracts that we have bid upoatduprice, a client’s perception of our
ability to perform and/or perceived technology atteges held by others. In these highly competiiives, many of our competitors may be
more inclined to take greater or unusual riskseans and conditions in a contract that we mightdesm market or acceptable. Because a
significant portion of our revenue is generatedrfiarge projects, our results of operations cacttlate from quarter to quarter and year to
depending on whether and when project awards aoaithe commencement and progress of work undedad&ontracts. As a result, we
subject to the risk of losing new awards to contpegior the risk that revenue may not be derivethfawarded projects as quickly as
anticipated.

Many of our contracts with customers may be termied by our customers on short notice without pegalivhich could harm our
business, financial condition and results of opeiats.

Customers may switch service providers without iring significant expense relative to the annuatad the service, and our
agreements generally provide that in the eventabpged loss of service or for other good reasonscustomers may terminate service
without penalty. In addition, many of our custoragreements may be terminated by our customerofogason and upon short notice. Terms
of customer agreements typically vary with a rafigen call out work to three years, with some custogreement terms as long as five year:
and work orders placed under such agreements mayderter terms than the relevant customer agneeie a result, we may not be able to
retain our customers through the end of the tepesified in the customer agreements. If we areabt to retain our customers, we would not
receive expected revenues and may continue to gusis, such as costs to secure satellite band¥adguch customers under agreements wit
third party satellite communication services previalwhich may not be as easily or as quickly teateid without penalty, resulting in harm to
our business, financial condition and results arations. The loss of a drilling contractor custosite can also limit or eliminate our ability to
provide services to other customers on the affedtichg rigs.

Most of our contracts are on a fixed price basisdaif our costs increase, we may not be able to kerdhese cost increases.

Most of our contracts provide for a fixed price pgonth for our services. If our costs increasertivigle those services, such as the cc
secure bandwidth or personnel costs, we may nableeto offset some or all of our increased cogtbreasing the rates we charge our
customers until our next contract renewal, whichlddave a material adverse effect on our busirigss)cial condition and results of
operations.

The termination or non-renewal of our SOIL managemeagreement could negatively affect financial rdsiwe recognize from our
SOIL operations.

The North Sea consortium of companies who colletfioversee SOIL have contracted with us to opehaseprivate extranet for them.
This North Sea consortium of companies may fineraltives to the SOIL service that could cause tteetarminate or not renew the current
SOIL service with us. If the consortium of compandhoose to eliminate the SOIL service, find aeraltive communications solution, or if
they contract with another provider to manage S@derations, our financial results would be harmed.

Our use of the percentage-of-completion method o€aunting could result in a reduction or reversaf previously recorded revenue
or profits.

Under our accounting procedures, we measure angmee a large portion of our telecommunicatiortesys integration profits and
revenue under the percentage-of-completion acaagimtiethodology. This methodology allows us to redng revenue and profits ratably over
the life of a contract by comparing the amounthef tost incurred to date against the total amouobst expected to be incurred. The effect of
revisions to revenue and estimated cost is recondwh the amounts are known and can be reasonstinlyated, and these revisions can occu
at any time and could be material.
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We compete for satellite capacity for our serviegsl any capacity constraints could harm our busise$inancial condition and results c
operations.

We compete for satellite capacity with a numbecarhmercial entities, such as broadcasting compaaigsgovernmental entities, such
as the military. In certain markets, the availdpiéind pricing of capacity could be subject to cetfitive pressure, such as during renewals, an
there is no guarantee that we will be able to sethe capacity needed to conduct our operatioosratnt rates or levels going forward. This
could harm our business, financial condition arslilts of operations. In certain markets, the abdits of bandwidth may be restricted by the
local government when needed to support its mylitand in the event of such an action, there iguarantee that we will be able to secure the
capacity needed to conduct our operations, whiciddoave a material adverse effect on our busirigss)cial condition and results of
operations.

We rely on third parties to provide products and\dees for the operation of our business. Failuréy third party providers could harm
our business and reputation and result in loss afstomers and revenue.

A significant part of our operations and growth elegs on third party providers delivering reliabéenamunications connections,
networks, equipment, maintenance, repair and gatethnsponder capacity, subjecting our businegajtation and customer revenue to risks
beyond our control, such as:

+ telecommunications failure
» saturation of communication connection points, eks and thir-party facilities;

» in-orbit risks for satellites including malfuians, commonly referred to as anomalies, andsiotiis with meteoroids,
decommissioned spacecraft or other space de

» satellite manufacturing or control system errc

» lack of communication service alternativ

e providing access to faulty equipme

e human error

* natural disaster:

* unexpected equipment failut

e power loss

» labor strikes or work stoppage

» unauthorized access or security risks;

» sabotage or other intentional acts of vandal

Under most of our contracts with satellite serypoaviders, our satellite service providers do maeimnify us for such loss or damage to

our business resulting from certain risks, inclgdsatellite failures. If any potential claims rddalliabilities, we could be required to pay
damages or other penalties, which could harm osiness, financial condition and results of operatidven if we take precautions, the

occurrence of any of these risks or other unargteigh problems arising from third party servicesld@asult in interruption in the services we
provide to customers. Any of these occurrencesdcbhatm our business, financial condition and resofitoperations.

Additionally, we rely upon and expect to continogely upon a limited number of third-party supmi¢o supply the equipment required
to provide our services, such as the equipmennstali on offshore drilling rigs in order to proeidemote communication services. Although
this equipment is commercially available from mthran one supplier, there are a limited number ppBers of such equipment and price and
quality vary among suppliers. If the suppliers eirieo competition with us, or if our competitonster into exclusive or restrictive
arrangements with our suppliers, the availabilitg pricing of the equipment that we purchase cbeldnaterially adversely affected. In
addition, we like to use a small group of suppliemdl standardized equipment as much as possilttatwe are installing generally the same
equipment and we can maintain smaller quantitiegplicement parts and equipment in our warehoifsgs.have to change suppliers for ¢
reason, we will incur additional costs due to theklof uniformity and need to warehouse a broadey@f replacement parts and equipment.
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Further, significant portions of the work performaader our systems integration contracts are relipan third-party suppliers for
equipment and materials. If the amounts we areiredjtio pay for equipment and supplies exceed wieahave estimated, especially in a fixed
price systems integration contract, we may sufigsés on these contracts. If a supplier fails dwige supplies or equipment as required unde
a negotiated contract for any reason, or provideglées or equipment that are not an acceptablitguae may be required to source those
supplies or equipment on a delayed basis or ajleehiprice than anticipated, which could impacttat profitability. In addition, faulty
equipment or materials could impact the overaljgm resulting in claims against us for failurenteet required project specifications. These
risks may be intensified if these suppliers experéefinancial difficulties or find it difficult tabtain sufficient financing to fund their operats
or access to bonding, and are not able to prowieertaterials or supplies necessary for our busimesgldition, in instances where we rely ¢
single contracted supplier or a small number otramted suppliers, there can be no assurancetthatarketplace can provide these produc
a timely basis, or at the costs we had anticipa&ddilure by a supplier to comply with applicaltéevs, rules or regulations could negatively
impact our business.

Any failure on our part to perform under our cuséoreervice contracts due to the failures of oudtparty providers could result in;
(i) loss of revenue despite continued obligationdar our leasing arrangements; (ii) possible céamoah of customer contracts; (iii) incurrence
of additional expenses to reposition customer araeno alternative satellites or otherwise findralate service (iv) breach of contract claims;
and (v) damage to our reputation, which could rnieght affect our ability to retain existing custoraer to gain new business.

The loss of key personnel or the failure to attraantd retain highly qualified personnel could comprase our ability to effectively manag
our business and pursue our growth strategy.

Our future performance depends on the continuadcgeof our key technical, development, sales,isesvand management personnel. Ir
particular, we are heavily dependent on the follayiwo key employees: our Chief Executive Officed &resident, who has been critical to
establishing our strategy and executing on oumass model over the past five years; and our Viesifent of Business Services, who is the
technical architect of our global network and wleodasponsible for our global netwask'eliability, performance and security and thel@ation
of technological developments and their impact onbwusiness. The loss of key employees could r@ssignificant disruptions to our
business, and the integration of replacement pasaould be costly and time consuming, could cadkhtional disruptions to our business,
and could be unsuccessful. We do not carry keyopdite insurance covering any of our employees.

Our future success also depends on our continuéty ab attract and retain highly qualified techkal, development, sales, services and
management personnel, including personnel in ghefvarious regions of the world in which we operdhe current increase in the activity
level in the oil and gas industry and the limitegly of skilled labor has made the competitiometimin and recruit qualified personnel intense
A significant increase in the wages paid by cormgeéimployers could reduce our skilled labor fonaerease the wages that we must pay to
motivate, retain or recruit skilled employees ottho

In addition, wage inflation and the cost of retaqbur key personnel in the face of competitionsiach personnel may increase our cost
faster than we may offset these costs with inctasiees or increased sales volume.

A significant portion of our revenue is derived fro two customers and the loss of either of thesetaosers would materially harm our
business, financial condition and results of opei@ts.

We receive a significant part of our revenue frorelatively small number of large customers. Ferybar ended December 31, 2013,
Noble Corporation and Ensco plc represented apprately 9.2% and 5.6%, respectively, of our consiéd revenue. Similarly, for the ye
ended December 31, 2012, these two significanbouests, Noble Corporation and Ensco plc, represeaqipdoximately 11.6% and 6.1%,
respectively, of our consolidated revenue. If agniat customer terminates or significantly reduite$dusiness with us, our business, financial
condition and results of operations would be maligrharmed.
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Bad weather in the Gulf of Mexico or other areas ete we operate could harm our business, financiahdition and results of
operations.

Certain areas in and near the Gulf of Mexico ameioareas in which our clients operate experienéavorable weather conditions,
including hurricanes and other extreme weather itiond, on a relatively frequent basis. A majorrstar threat of a major storm in these ai
may harm our business. Our clients’ drilling rigspduction platforms and other vessels in thesasaaee susceptible to damage and/or total
loss by these storms, which may cause them tongeloneed our communication services. Our equipmetiese rigs, platforms or vessels
could be damaged causing us to have service iptésns and lose business. Even the threat of alaegg storm will sometimes cause our
clients to limit activities in an area and thusrhaur business. To the extent that changes in titause more turbulent weather, any increas
in unfavorable weather conditions could impair Bis@econnectivity, cause more sites to be shutmdawd generally cause activities to be
limited so that our business may be harmed. Thisisi more pronounced for Line-of-Site (LOS) miceme service as there is a likely loss of
service for multiple subsequent microwave siteth@network relay.

The microwave network acquired as part of the Inmsat transaction is a Line-of-Site (LOS) systems ahé failure of one site in the
microwave network will likely lead to disruption afervice for subsequent microwave sites in the metwrelay.

A Line-of-Site (LOS) system operates by relayingmwave communications from one microwave sitenmtlaer that are within visible
sight of another in a microwave relay leg. Althodggh company makes reasonable attempts to builchdzohcy into the microwave system,
when a microwave site on a microwave relay is resdlénoperable subsequent dependent sites areegidered inoperable. As such the risk o
a microwave site being rendered inoperable by vezatbchnical failure or other means will likelyscade to other dependent microwave sites
We do not insure for loss of a microwave site asibess interruption caused by the loss of sucteaasiwe believe the cost of such insurance
outweighs the risk of potential loss.

Any loss of a rig on which our equipment is locatedll likely lead to a complete loss of our equipmeon that rig and a loss of the
revenue related to that rig.

At the commencement of a new service contract fag,ave generally install approximately $0.1 nahito $0.6 million and as high as
$1.0 million worth of equipment on each offshordlidg rig. If a rig were to sink or incur substéltdamage for any reason, we would most
likely lose all of our equipment. We do not inséwe such losses as we believe the cost of suchidanse outweighs the risk of potential loss. In
addition to the loss of the equipment, we wouléljkose the revenue related to that rig undeteh@as of most of our existing contracts. Also,
we may be committed to paying the costs to seatslise bandwidth for that rig under agreementthwhird party satellite communication
providers even after the rig is no longer in segvicosses of rigs can occur as a result of cafasic@vents such as hurricanes, fire or sinking.
Such catastrophic events can occur without notiagehave historically been infrequent.

Changes in the regulatory framework under which wperate could adversely affect our business prospec results of operations.

Some of our U.S. services are provided on a prigatger basis subject to light or no regulationtfsy Federal Communications
Commission (FCC) and other federal, state and lagahcies. If the FCC or one or more state publitcyucommissions determine that these
services or the services of our subsidiaries dlisgéfs constitute common carrier offerings subjecthe Communications Act, associated FCC
regulations, and similar state laws, we may beesihip significant costs to ensure compliance Withapplicable provisions of those laws and
regulations. We may be subject to enforcement astiocluding, but not limited to, fines, cease dedist orders, or other penalties if we fail to
comply with those requirements.

In 2014, we completed the purchase of Inmarsagsgnbroadband business which included substardiamon carrier type services,
facilities and licenses, including fixed microwdi@nses, very small aperture terminal (VSAT) eatttion licenses, various private and
commercial mobile radio service licenses, broadbradé licenses and leases for wireless communmitsiervice licenses. RigNet also
acquired authorization to provide intrastate tefecmnications services in two states: Texas anddiau@. As a result of these additional
product and service offerings and the multiplerigxs acquired from Inmarsat, RigNet may be sulgectore expansive, and in some cases,
more stringent regulation by the FCC and stateipuitility commissions than in the past. We arerently in the process of reevaluating our
compliance obligations in light of the recent asifion.

The following is a summary of the regulatory enwimeent in which we currently operate and does nstiilee all present and proposed
international, federal, state and local legislatiml regulations affecting the communications itruisome of which may change the way the
industry operates as a result of administrativgidicial proceedings or legislative initiatives. Wannot predict the outcome of any of these
matters or the impact on our business.
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As an evolving non-dominant international and daimesrrier under the Communications Act, as amdr{tiee “Act”), among other
requirements, RigNet must offer service on a namilignatory basis at just and reasonable ratesypegus fees including contribution of a
percentage of its revenues from telecommunicasengces to the FCC'’s Universal Service Fund ahdrdiederal program funds to subsidize
certain user segments, file various reports, (tliclg outage reports), comply with rules that protestomer information and the processing of
emergency calls, and obtain regulatory approvairga withdrawing from the provision of regulateshdce or any assignment of authorization
or any transfer of legal or actual control of then@bany. RigNet is also subject to the Communicatiassistance for Law Enforcement Act
(CALEA) and associated FCC regulations which regjtétecommunications service providers and VolRigers to configure their networks
to facilitate electronic surveillance by law enfentent authorities.

As a wireless licensee, RigNet is subject to theusdry limits on the permissible amount of dirantl indirect foreign ownership in
RigNet's subsidiary holding wireless licenses. @nuhry 28, 2014, the FCC granted a declaratorggub RigNet SatCom, Inc. permitting
foreign ownership in its parent, RigNet, Inc., ittess of the 25 percent foreign ownership benchimmaBection 310(b)(4) of the Act, 47 U.S
§310(b)(4). The declaratory ruling permits aggredateign ownership in RigNet, Inc. up to 100 petand grants specific approval for Dig
Qilfield Investments LP and its upstream ownerbdta their current interests in RigNet, Inc. andntrease those interests up to a non-
controlling 49.99 percent in RigNet, Inc. RigNetlwieed to obtain additional FCC approval befosefd@reign ownership may increase in a
manner that exceeds the statutory limits and FQ&s mnd not otherwise specified in this ruling. I5approval will likely require additional
review and approval from “Team Telecom,” a grougxécutive agencies with oversight over nationelisgy matters, including the
Department of Justice and the Department of Defeksa wireless licensee, among other regulatagyirements, RigNet is also required to
comply with antenna registration requirements arekgprior FCC authority to expand, modify or rertee licenses for its wireless facilities.

Like the FCC, the state public utility commissionmgpose various regulatory fee, universal servieporting and prior approval
requirements for transfer or assignments. The F@Csgate public utility commissions have jurisdictito hear complaints regarding the
compliance or non-compliance with these and otbermon carrier requirements of the Act and the FGQlss, and similar state laws.

If the FCC or a state public utility commission@hetines that RigNet has not complied with federal/ar state regulatory requirements,
we may be subject to enforcement actions including not limited to, fines, cease and desist ordix@nse revocation, or other penalties.

Our international operations are also regulatedarious non-U.S. governments and international émdihese regulatory regimes
frequently require that we maintain licenses far @perations and conduct our operations in accaelavith prescribed standards and
requirements The adoption of new laws or regulatichanges to the existing regulatory frameworly imterpretations of the laws that apply
to our operations, or the loss of, or a materralthtion on, any of our material licenses couldeniatly harm our business, results of operation
and financial condition.

If we infringe or if third parties assert that wenfringe third party intellectual property rights weould incur significant costs and incur
significant harm to our business.

Third parties may assert infringement or otherliettual property claims against us, which coulsutein substantial damages if it is
ultimately determined that our services infringthiad party’s proprietary rights. Even if claimsawithout merit, defending a lawsuit takes
significant time, may be expensive and may divaahagement’s attention from our other business acasce
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Our intellectual property rights are valuable, arahy failure or inability to sufficiently protect tem could harm our business and our
operating results.

We own, and maintain certain intellectual propesgets, including copyright and trademarks, tradeets, and rights to certain domain
names, which we believe are collectively amongroast valuable assets. We seek to protect our éctelhl property assets through the laws o
the U.S. and other countries of the world, andublocontractual provisions. However, the effortshage taken to protect our intellectual
property assets through the laws of the U.S. ahdratountries of the world, and through contracpualisions. However, the efforts we have
taken to protect our intellectual property and pietary rights might not be sufficient or effectimestopping unauthorized use of those rights.
Protection of the distinctive elements of RigNeghtinot always be available under copyright latrademark law, or we might not discover
or determine the full extent of any unauthorized asour copyrights and trademarks in order toguoour rights. In addition, effective
trademark, patent, copyright, and trade secreeptian might not be available or cost-effectiveeirery country in which our products and
services are distributed. With respect to maintgjraur trade secrets, we have entered into cortfaigy agreements with most of our
employees and contractors, and confidentiality exguents with many of the parties with whom we condwsiness in order to limit access to
and disclosure of our proprietary information. Heee these agreements might be breached and algr sexrets might be compromised by
outside parties or by our employees, which coulgseaus to lose any competitive advantage provigeddintaining our trade secrets. If we
unable to protect our proprietary rights from uhauized use, the value of our intellectual propadgets may be reduced. In addition,
protecting our intellectual property and other piejary rights is expensive and time consuming. Atyease in the unauthorized use of our
intellectual property could make it more expensdiveo business and consequently harm our operagmgts.

We may be subject to a variety of regulatory actdhat may affect our ability to operate.

Telecommunications regulators have the right taam a service provider or to revoke licensesstavice provider violates applicable
laws or regulations. If any regulatory agency wtereonclude that we were providing telecommunicatiservices without the appropriate
authority or are otherwise not in compliance wipipléicable regulations, the agency could initiateoegement actions, which could result in,
among other things, revocation of authority, theasition of fines, a requirement to disgorge rewesnwr refusal to grant regulatory authority
necessary for the future provision of services.

Our international operations are subject to additial or different risks than our United States opdfans, which may harm our business
and financial results.

We operate in over 45 countries around the wonlcluding countries in Asia, the Middle East, Afritatin America and Europe and
intend to continue to expand the number of coumfrievhich we operate. There are many risks infténeconducting business internationally
that are in addition to or different than thoseefiing our United States operations, including:

* sometimes vague and confusing regulatory requirésrtbat may be subject to unexpected changeseampmetations
» import and export restriction
+ tariffs and other trade barrie

« difficulty in staffing and managing geograpHigalispersed operations and culturally diversekvorces and increased travel,
infrastructure and legal compliance costs assatiatth multiple international location

« differences in employment laws and practices anubifigrent countries, including restrictions on témating employees
» differing technology standard

» fluctuations in currency exchange rat

» imposition of currency exchange contrc

e potential political and economic instability in seregions

» legal and cultural differences in the conduct adibass
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» less due process and sometimes arbitrary applicafitaws and sanctions, including criminal charged arrests
» difficulties in raising awareness of applicable tddiStates laws to our agents and third partyrmeeliaries

e potentially adverse tax consequent

« difficulties in enforcing contracts and collectireceivables

» difficulties and expense of maintaining internatibsales distribution channels; a

» difficulties in maintaining and protecting our ifiestual property

Operating internationally exposes our businesadcegsed regulatory and political risks in some-do®. jurisdictions where we operate.
In addition to changes in laws and regulationspgea in governments or changes in governmentatipslin these jurisdictions may alter
current interpretation of laws and regulations etffey our business. We also face increased riskaddents such as war or other international
conflict and nationalization, and possible exprafioin of our assets. If a non-U.S. country werpedtionalize our industry or expropriate our
assets, we could lose not only our investmentéragsets that we have in that country, but alsof allir contracts and business in that country

Many of the countries in which we operate havellsgastems that are less developed and less prbtiidtzan legal systems in Western
Europe or the United States. It may be difficultdis to obtain effective legal redress in the cooftsome jurisdictions, whether in respect of a
breach of law or regulation, or in an ownershipdie because of: (i) a high degree of discretiotherpart of governmental authorities, which
results in less predictability; (i) a lack of juiil or administrative guidance on interpreting laggble rules and regulations; (iii) inconsisters
or conflicts between or within various laws, redidas, decrees, orders and resolutions; (iv) thetive inexperience of the judiciary and courts
in such matters or (v) a predisposition in favotazfal claimants against United States companiesilé&ly, many of our contracts are govert
by the laws of these countries, which may creath kegal and practical difficulties in case of aplite or conflict. We operate in regions where
the ability to protect contractual and other leggithts may be limited. In addition, having to puesarbitration or litigation in some countries
may be more difficult or expensive than pursuitigdition in the United States.

In certain jurisdictions, the commitment of locaisiness people, government officials and agenciddtee judicial system to abide by
legal requirements and negotiated agreements mawrediable. In particular, agreements may be quigde to revision or cancellation and
legal redress may be uncertain or time-consumimngioAs of governmental authorities or officers naayersely affect joint ventures, licenses,
license applications or other legal arrangememis saich arrangements in these jurisdictions mayeadaiffective or enforced.

The authorities in the countries where we operatg imtroduce additional regulations for the oil ayas and communications industries
with respect to, but not limited to, various laws/grning prospecting, development, production, $apece controls, export controls, currency
remittance, expropriation of property, foreign ietraent, maintenance of claims, environmental latieh, land use, land claims of local
people, water use, labor standards, occupatiomdthheetwork access and other matters. New ruldgegulations may be enacted or existing
rules and regulations may be applied or interpretedmanner which could limit our ability to proe our services. Amendments to current
laws and regulations governing operations and iietvin the oil and gas industry and telecommutioces industry could harm our operations
and financial results. Compliance with and charngeax laws or adverse positions taken by taxinthaities could be costly and could affect
our operating results.

Compliance related tax issues could also limitathility to do business in certain countries. Changdax laws or tax rates, the resolu
of tax assessments or audits by various taxingoaitis, disagreements with taxing authorities aw@rtax positions and the ability to fully
utilize our tax loss carrferwards and tax credits could have a significamricial impact on our future operations and thg wa conduct, or
we conduct, business in the affected countries.
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We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practcact and U.S. Export Control Laws that have strengg compliance standards for us.

We are subject to a number of applicable exportroblaws and regulations of the United States al as comparable laws of other
countries. We cannot provide services to certaimtiges subject to United States trade sanctionsrdstered by the Office of Foreign Asset
Control of the United States Department of the Jueg or the United States Department of Commerdéessiwe first obtain the necessary
authorizations. If our customers move their sites countries subject to certain sanctions, we nwdbe able to serve them, in which case, ou
revenues will be adversely impacted and we may hddgional costs incurred as well. In addition, ave subject to the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act that, generally, prohibits bribesioreasonable gifts to non-U.S. governments oriafiand may be subject to anti-corruption
laws of other countries in which the Company magrafe or may otherwise have a substantial bustwgsection. Violations of these laws or
regulations could result in significant additiosahctions including fines, more onerous compliaeggirements, and more extensive
debarments from export privileges or loss of aufadions needed to conduct aspects of our intematibusiness. In certain countries, we
engage third party agents or intermediaries t@aaur behalf in dealings with government officiaach as customs agents, and if these thirc
party agents or intermediaries violate applicahled, their actions may result in penalties or sanstbeing assessed against us.

We may incur additional expenses and not be abledmply with SEC reporting requirements relateddonflict minerals

In August 2012, the SEC adopted new rules estahtjsidditional disclosure and reporting requireragagarding a company’s use of
conflict minerals. These new SEC rules could reisults incurring additional costs to document aadgrm supplier due diligence. As these
rules will likely impact our suppliers, the avaiilitly of raw materials used in our operations cob&negatively impacted and or raw material
prices could increase. We may also have difficudsifying the supply of conflict minerals to thaiource and, therefore, may not be able to
comply with the SEC'’s conflict minerals reportirgguirement.

Many of our contracts are governed by the laws otiotries that may make them difficult or expensit@interpret or enforce.

Many of our contracts are governed by the lawsoohtries other than the U. S., which may creatb legal and practical difficulties in
case of a dispute or conflict. We operate in regi@here the ability to protect contractual and ptegal rights may be limited. In addition,
having to pursue arbitration or litigation in sogmuintries may be more difficult or expensive thamsping litigation in the United States.

We may face difficulties in obtaining regulatory gpovals for our provision of telecommunication seces, and we may face changes in
regulation, each of which could adversely affectronperations.

In a number of countries where we operate, theigi@v of telecommunication services is highly reget. In such countries, we are
required to obtain approvals from national and llacghorities in connection with most of the seedd¢hat we provide. In many jurisdictions,
we must maintain such approvals through compliavitie license conditions or payment of annual reiriafees.

Many of our customers utilize our services on mobissels or drilling platforms that may enter inésv countries on short notice. If we
do not already have a license to provide our serwvichat country, we may be required to obtaiicenise or other regulatory approval on short
notice, which may not be feasible in some counti@slure to comply with such regulatory requirenserould subject us to various sanctions
including fines, penalties, arrests or criminalrges, loss of authorizations and the denial ofiappbns for new authorizations or for the
renewal of existing authorizations or cause uselaydor terminate our service to such vessel dfgrla until such license or regulatory
approval may be obtained. In some areas of intemetwaters, it is ambiguous as to which countrggulations apply, if any, and thus
difficult and costly for us to determine which litses or other regulatory approvals we should obtain

In such areas, we could be subject to various fieaar sanctions if we fail to comply with the &pable country’s regulations.
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Future changes to the regulations under which vegate could make it difficult for us to obtain oaimtain authorizations, increase our
costs or make it easier or less expensive for ompetitors to compete with us.

Changes to the FCC’s USF Regime or state universailvice fund regimes or findings that we have nomplied with USF requirements
or state universal service fund regimes may advirsdfect our financial condition.

A proceeding pending before the FCC has the paiieiatisignificantly alter our Universal Service Eyor USF, contribution obligations.
The FCC is considering changing the basis uponmbisF contributions are determined from a revereregntage measurement, as well as
increasing the breadth of the USF contribution iaseclude certain services now exempt from cbwtion. Adoption of these proposals co
have a material adverse effect on our costs ofigimy service. We are unable to predict the timongutcome of this proceeding.

We cannot predict the application and impact ohgles to the federal or state universal service omdribution requirements on the
communications industry generally and on certainwfbusiness activities in particular. We are ently reassessing the nature and extent of
our federal and state universal service fund oltibga by taking into consideration the acquisitadrthe legacy Inmarsat Energy Broadband
assets. If the FCC or any state determines thdtave incorrectly calculated or failed to remit aaguired universal service fund contribution,
we could be subject to the assessment and colteatipast due remittances as well as interest andlpes thereon. Changes in the federal or
state universal service fund requirements or figglithat we have not met our obligations could ntgrincrease our universal service fund
contributions and have a material adverse effeciwrbusiness, financial condition and resultspdrations.

If we fail to manage our growth effectively, our kiness may suffer.

We have experienced rapid growth in our businessdant periods, which has strained our managemp&irational, financial and other
resources. We plan to continue to grow our busiaedsanticipate that continued growth of our openstwill be required to satisfy increasing
customer demand and avail ourselves of new magggdrtunities. Further, we will continue to pursugamic growth opportunities in targeted
adjacent upstream energy segments and other remoit@unications market adjacencies, as well as,nelipg our competitive market positi
through strategic acquisitions.

The expanding scope and geographic breadth ofusindéss and growth in the number of our employaestpomers and locations will
continue to place a significant strain on our mamagnt team, information technology systems andrats®urces and may distract key
personnel from other key operations. To properiyage our growth, we may need to hire and retaisquerel, upgrade our existing
operational, management and financial reportingesys, and improve our business processes and atrd implement those processes and
controls in all of our geographic locations. In theent that our employees become involved withdiligence on acquisitions or with the
integration of new companies acquired, the incre¢aseaands on our employees could detract from artthbmful to our existing business.
Failure to effectively manage our growth in a ceective manner could result in declines in sexqeality and customer satisfaction,
increased costs or disruption of our operations.r@pid growth also makes it difficult for us toeapliately predict the investments we will neec
to make in the future to effectively manage ourlaqvide operations.

Acquisitions, such as our recent acquisition of Irarsat plc’s energy broadband business and our asifion of Nessco in 2012, bring
new risks that could adversely affect our businessl operations.

We expect to acquire and have a history of acqyibisinesses, assets, technologies or producth#mee our business in the future if
appropriate opportunities become available. In eotion with any future acquisitions, we could:

» issue additional equity securities which would @lour current stockholdet
e incur substantial debt to fund the acquisitions

e assume significant liabilitie:
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Acquisitions, such as our recent acquisition of dnsat plc’s energy broadband business and ourgtigniof Nessco in 2012, involve
numerous risks, including problems integratinggbechased operations, technologies or productsitiziigated costs and other liabilities,
diversion of management’s attention from our carsifiess, adverse effects on existing businessar$iips with current and/or prospective
partners, customers and/or suppliers, risks ageadcveith entering markets and business lines irclviie have no or limited prior experience
and potential loss of key employees. We may natlide to successfully integrate any businessestsaggeducts, technologies or personnel
we might acquire in the future without a signifitaxpenditure of operating, financial and managamesources, if at all. The integration
process could divert management time from focusimgperating our business, result in a declinaripleyee morale and cause retention
issues to arise from changes in compensation, tiegoelationships, future prospects or the ditf the business.

Acquisitions may also require us to record goodwaitin-amortizable intangible assets that will bigjsct to impairment testing on a
regular basis and potential periodic impairmentgés, incur amortization expenses related to ecemdangible assets and incur large and
immediate write-offs and restructuring and othdatesl expenses, all of which could harm our opegatésults and financial condition. In
addition, we may acquire companies that have ir@efit internal financial controls, which could iaipour ability to integrate the acquired
company and adversely impact our financial repgrtihiwe fail in our integration efforts with resgeo any of our acquisitions and are unable
to efficiently operate as a combined organizataur, business, financial condition and results afrafions may be materially harmed.

The purchase of Inmarsat Energy Broadband assetsgs risks that could adversely affect our businessd operations.

Any problems integrating the expanded servicestecithologies acquired in this transaction couldeasily impact our financial results.
These expanded services and technologies inclucwave and WiMAX networks in the U.S. Gulf of Megiserving drillers, producers and
energy vessel owners, VSAT interests in Canad&)2iM SCADA VSAT network in the continental U.S. seny the pipeline industry, a
worldwide telecommunications systems integratiositess and a global L-band MSS retail energy basirlategrating these services and
technologies may take considerable expense andgearemt time.

Additionally we must integrate accounting and colstifor the Inmarsat Energy Broadband assets. Wedali acquire an accounting
function as part of this transaction and must mafly integrate accounting processes, procedurgsantrols for the assets purchased.
Additionally we must perform a purchase price aklian which may require us to record goodwill, rnertizable intangible assets that will
be subject to impairment testing on a regular basispotential periodic impairment charges, incupdization expenses related to certain
intangible assets and incur large and immediateevafif's and restructuring and other related expgredeof which could harm our operating
results and financial condition. Integrating the@mting for this transaction may take considerabjgense and management time.

If we fail in our integration efforts with respectthe Inmarsat Energy Broadband asset acquisitioinare unable to efficiently operate as
a combined organization, our business, financiatid@mn and results of operations may be materiadlymed.

The systems integration line of service acquiredaihgh the 2012 purchase of Nessco and 2014 purchafsemmarsat Energy Broadband
assets brings risks that could adversely affect business and operations.

To sustain results from our systems integrationnass, we must maintain a backlog or pipeline tirel projects. Demand for systems
integration projects is dependent on the capitpéagiture budgets for systems integration projettaur customers in the global business of
exploration, development and production of oil aadlural gas. Reductions in our custoreeapital expenditure budgets for systems intemn
projects can have an adverse impact on our finbresalts.

A large portion of our systems integration proéitel revenues are accounted for under the perceotagenpletion methodology which
has unique risks described above in risk “Our dsb@percentage-afempletion method of accounting could result irduction or reversal
previously recorded revenue or profits.”

A large portion of systems integration projectsfared price contract. If we fail to successfullgdp costs to the budgeted margin and be
able to pay for equipment, supplies and labor dglkted costs and in a timely manner we may suffeses.
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We may incur substantial due diligence and acquiisit costs for acquisitions. If we do not close amsaction, we may not be able to
obtain a return on the due diligence and acquisii@osts.

During the course of evaluating potential acquisitbpportunities we may incur substantial due dilice and acquisition costs related to
certain financial analysis, consulting, legal, istveent banking and accounting fees. If we do nmgech transaction, we may not be able to
recoup these due diligence and acquisition costsigih the expected return on investment from therg@l acquisition opportunity. This may
have an adverse impact on financial results.

If during our due diligence of an acquisition opptunity we do not discover legal, regulatory, accding, finance or other adverse matt
and close on the acquisition, it may have an adeeimmpact on financial results and the ability to epate an acquisition as part of a
combined entity.

During our due diligence of an acquisition oppoityiwe attempt to identify legal, regulatory, fir@al or accounting problems that may
prevent a successful integration that may incluateabe not limited to: Foreign Corrupt Practice €€CPA) matters, regulatory hurdles,
fraudulent legal financial and accounting represtons of the business to be purchased, undisckidechgreements, undisclosed liabilities,
potential liabilities, commitments, contingencigure cash outflows, identity and role of key eayaes, state of customer relationships, m
contractual arrangements and goouagcern issues. If we do not discover material estvkegal, regulatory, accounting, finance or othatters
and close, it may adversely impact financial resaltd the ability to operate as a combined entity.

Growth in strategic initiatives, emergence into n@wvadjacent market segments or the addition ofaégic acquisitions may result in
reduced consolidated financial margins.

As we continue to pursue organic growth opportaesitn targeted adjacent upstream energy segmeshistiaer remote communications
market adjacencies, as well as, expanding our ctiiwpemarket position through strategic acquisispfinancial margins for these new
operations may be less than our current operatikmes consolidation of these financial margins caelsllt in reduced margins on a
consolidated level.

We may need to raise additional funds to pursue guowth strategy or continue our operations, andwe are unable to do so, our grow
may be impaired.

We plan to pursue a growth strategy. We have miggdfisant investments to grow our business. Adudfiil investments will be required
to pursue further growth and to respond to techgiotd innovations and competition. There is no gusee that we will be able to obtain
additional financing or financing on favorable tetrif financing is not available on satisfactorgnte, or at all, we may be unable to expand
business or to develop new business at the rateedesd our business, financial condition and ltesif operations may be harmed.

Our credit agreement places financial restrictiomsid operating restrictions on our business, whictaynlimit our flexibility to respond to
opportunities and may harm our business, financidndition and results of operations.

The operating and financial restrictions and comesia our credit agreement restrict, and any fufimancing agreements could restrict,
our ability to finance future operations or capitakds or to engage, expand or pursue our busicgsiies.

For example, our credit agreement restricts oditylbd, among other things:
» dispose of property
e enter into a merger, consolidate or acquire capital assets of other entitie
* incur additional indebtednes
» incur liens on property
* make certain investment
* enter into transactions with affiliate
e pay cash dividends; ar

» enter into sales and lease back transact
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These limitations are subject to a number of imgartualifications and exceptions. Our credit agrest also requires us to maintain
specified financial ratios. Our compliance withgbgrovisions may materially adversely affect dilit to react to changes in market
conditions, take advantage of business opportgnitie believe to be desirable, obtain future finagcfund needed capital expenditures,
finance acquisitions, equipment purchases and dprent expenditures, or withstand a future downituiwur business.

Our ability to comply with the covenants and resinins contained in our credit agreement may becédfl by events beyond our control.
If market or other economic conditions deteriorata, ability to comply with these covenants mayirbpaired. If we violate any of the
restrictions, covenants, ratios or tests in ouditi@greement, a significant portion of our indelntess may become immediately due and
payable, and our lenders’ commitment to make furitens to us may terminate. We might not havdyeoable to obtain, sufficient funds to
make these accelerated payments. Even if we cduédnoalternative financing, that financing may beton terms that are favorable or
acceptable to us. If we are unable to repay amdort®wed, the holders of the debt could initiateaakruptcy proceeding or liquidation
proceeding against the collateral. In addition, @bligations under our credit agreement are sedoyesibstantially all of our assets and if we
are unable to repay our indebtedness under ouit agretement, the lenders could seek to forecloseun assets.

If we experience delays and/or defaults in cliergyments, we could suffer liquidity problems or weutd be unable to recover all
expenditures.

Because of the nature of our contracts, we sometdommit resources to projects prior to receiviagrpents from the client in amounts
sufficient to cover expenditures as they are iredirtn difficult economic times, some of our clemay find it increasingly difficult to pay
invoices for our services timely, increasing thek hat our accounts receivable could become ueatdlle and ultimately be written off. Dele
in client payments may require us to make a workiggjtal investment, which could impact our cashve and liquidity. If a client fails to pay
invoices on a timely basis or defaults in makirsgofyments on a project in which we have devotguifsiant resources, there could be a
material adverse effect on our results of operatmmliquidity.

Changes in effective tax rates or adverse outcomessilting from examination of our income or otheax returns could adversely affect
our operating results and financial condition.

Our future effective tax rates could be subjeatdfatility or adversely affected by a number ofttas, including:

e earnings being lower than anticipated in caestwhere we have lower statutory rates and hitjtear anticipated earnings in
countries where we have higher statutory re

» changes in the valuation of our deferred tax as
* repatriation of cash; ¢

» expiration or no-utilization of net operating losses or cred

We conduct our worldwide operations through varisuigsidiaries. Tax laws and regulations are higbiyplex and subject to
interpretation. Consequently, we are subject toghm tax laws, treaties and regulations in ansvbeh countries in which we operate,
including treaties between the United States ahdratations. Our income tax expense is based upoimirpretation of the tax laws in effect
in various countries at the time that the expenag wcurred. A change in these tax laws, treatigsgulations, including those in and
involving the United States, or in the interpraiatthereof, could result in a materially higher éxpense or a higher effective tax rate on our
worldwide earnings.

In addition, tax returns filed are subject to exaation by the Internal Revenue Service and otheatshorities. We regularly assess the
likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from thesaminations to determine the adequacy of ourigiavfor income taxes. Outcomes from
these continuous examinations could have a matetiadrse effect on our financial condition, resafteperations or cash flows.
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We are subject to fluctuations in currency exchangees and limitations on the expatriation or congton of currencies, which may
result in significant financial charges, increasecbsts of operations or decreased demand for ourdorcts and services.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, 36.4%i0favenues were earned in non-U.S. currenciedewtsignificant portion of our
capital and operating expenditures and all of atstanding debt, was priced in U.S. dollars. Inithold, we report our results of operations in
U.S. dollars. Accordingly, fluctuations in exchamgées relative to the U.S. dollar could have aemialtadverse effect on our earnings or the
value of our assets. In the future, a greater o our revenues may be earned in non-U.S. caiggnincreasing this risk of fluctuations in
exchange rates.

Any depreciation of local currencies in the cowedrin which we conduct business may result in ased costs to us for imported
equipment and may, at the same time, decrease ddimaour products and services in the affectedketar If our operating companies
distribute dividends in local currencies in theufiat, the amount of cash we receive will also becéd by fluctuations in exchange rates. In
addition, some of the countries in which we haverapons do or may restrict the expatriation orvawsion of currency.

We have not implemented any hedging strategiedttgate risks related to the impact of fluctuationgexchange rates. Even if we were
to implement hedging strategies, not every exposanebe hedged, and, where hedges are put inpdasesl on expected non-U.S. exchange
exposure, they are based on forecasts which magyovarhich may later prove to have been inaccuigéure to hedge successfully or
anticipate currency risks accurately could harmhusginess, financial condition and results of ofiens.

One of our stockholders could exert control overradbompany.

As of February 28, 2014, funds associated with Ketd Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P., or KKR, owned i thggregate shares representing
approximately 28.4% of our outstanding voting pawes a result, this stockholder could potentialéyé significant influence over all matters
presented to our stockholders for approval, inclgailection and removal of our directors and charfgmntrol transactions. The interests of
this stockholder may not always coincide with thigfests of the other holders of our common stock.

We have entered into a standstill agreement wigit&8liOilfield Investments LP, or Digital, an affite of KKR, that prevents Digital and
any of its affiliates engaged in the private eqbiginess of KKR from taking certain actions throdgugust 26, 2016, including participating
in any sale transaction or tender offer that isapgiroved by our Board or any proposal to seelesgtation on our Board in excess of one
board member or otherwise seeking to control du@rfce our management, Board or policies. Thene isestriction, however, on Digital’s or
KKR'’s ability to vote against a sale transactioattis approved by our Board.

Upon expiration of the term of the standstill agneat, there will no longer be restrictions on Dag# or KKR’s ability to buy additional
shares, vote or participate in sale transactiorisrater offers or otherwise control or influence management, Board or policies. As a result,
KKR will have the ability to exert influence on onranagement and operations, and matters requipipgp@al of its stockholders, including t
approval of significant corporate transactionshsag a merger or other sale of us or our assets.

Provisions in our organizational documents and iheg Delaware General Corporation Law may preventeaker attempts that could be
beneficial to our stockholders.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation amdaws and in the Delaware General Corporation Lraay make it difficult and
expensive for a third-party to pursue a takeovienapt we oppose even if a change in control of@ampany would be beneficial to the
interests of our stockholders. Any provision of oartificate of incorporation or bylaws or Delawgaer that has the effect of delaying or
deterring a change in control could limit the ogpoity for our stockholders to receive a premiumtfeir shares of our common stock, and
could also affect the price that some investorsndlfing to pay for our common stock. In our ceidite of incorporation, our board of directors
has the authority to issue up to 10,000,000 sh&rpeeferred stock in one or more series and tohfixpowers, preferences and rights of each
series without stockholder approval. The abilityssue preferred stock could discourage unsolictplisition proposals or make it more
difficult for a third party to gain control of o@ompany, or otherwise could adversely affect thekatagrice of our common stock. Further, as
a Delaware corporation, we are subject to Sectighd? the Delaware General Corporation Law. Thigiea generally prohibits us from
engaging in mergers and other business combinatithsstockholders that beneficially own 15% or moff our voting shares, or with their
affiliates, unless our directors or stockholdergrape the business combination in the prescribedhera Our bylaws require that any
stockholder proposals or nominations for electmour board of directors must meet specific advaratee requirements and procedures,
which make it more difficult for our stockholdesake proposals or director nominations.
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Future adjustments to contingent purchase priceatdd to acquisitions could materially affect ourgelts.

From time to time we acquire companies with a comepb of the purchase consideration being delayddtempayment thereof
contingent on certain performance or other fadfirs “contingent purchase price”). The accountiriggiples generally accepted in the United
States require that we estimate the amount ofdh&rgent purchase price at the time we completaatiguisition. Each subsequent reporting
period (until the contingent purchase price isaithaid or no longer potentially payable), we &guired to reevaluate the estimated amoun
remaining contingent purchase price that is likelype paid. If the revised estimate of the futuetingent purchase price is higher than the
amount accrued, then the difference must be acanéaharged to the statement of comprehensivenado that period. If the revised
estimate of the future contingent purchase pridevigr than the amount accrued, then the accruabigced and the difference is credited to
income for the period. Because some of these patgmesuld not be deductible for tax purposes, fiassible that the expense (or income)
would not be tax-effected on our income stateméritese adjustments, if required, could be matésialr future results of operations. There
are no purchase price contingencies outstandiio§ Becember 31, 2013.

We have a small market capitalization and lowerdiag volume compared to most publicly trading conmpes. If, due to our size,
securities analysts do not publish research or regabout our business or if they publish negatigealuations of our stock, the price of
our stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depengsait on the research and reports that industrinan€ial analysts publish about us
our business. If one or more of the analysts cageour business downgrade their evaluations ofoommendations regarding our stock, or if
one or more of the analysts cease providing reBeareerage on our stock due to our small marketalgation or low trading volume, the
price of our stock could decline. If one or mordttdse analysts cease providing research coveragarcstock, we could lose visibility in the
market for our stock, which in turn could cause stock price to decline.

The trading price of our common stock has been andy continue to be volatile and may not reflect cagtual operations and
performance.

Market and industry factors may seriously harmrttagket price of our common stock, regardless ofamtmal operations and
performance. Stock price volatility and sustainedrdases in our share price could subject our kblaers to losses and us to takeover bids o
lead to action by Nasdag. The trading price ofammmon stock has been, and may continue to begdubj fluctuations in price in response
various factors, some of which are beyond our ebnimcluding, but not limited to:

e quarterly announcements and variations in esults of operations or those of our competitategealone or in comparison to
analysts expectations or prior company estimatefyding announcements of subscriber counts, mitesurn, and operating
margins that would result in downward pressure wnstock price; changes in the valuation of ouedefd tax asset

» the cost and availability or perceived availabitifyadditional capital and market perceptions metpto our access to this capit
e seasonality or other variations in our subscrilzeet,

e announcements by us or our competitors of acqoistinew products, technologies, significi

* our GX commitment

» disruption to our operations or those of other canigs critical to our network operatiol

* market speculation or announcements by us regatdengntering into, or termination of, materiahsactions

e our ability to develop and market new and enharneelnologies, products and services on a timelycas-effective basis
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* recommendations by securities analysts or chamgéneir estimates concerning |

» the incurrence of additional debt, dilutiveuiaaces of our stock, short sales or hedging of olimel derivative transactions, in our
common stock

e any significant change in our board of directoren@nagemen
e litigation;
e changes in governmental regulations or approvals

* perceptions of general market conditions intd@hnology and communications industries, the 8cénomy and global market
conditions.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Iltem 2. Properties

Facilities

Our headquarters are located in Houston, Texade®ge our headquarters facility, which comprisgg@pmately 34,611 square feet of
office space. The term of this lease runs througpt&nber 12, 2015. We also own a custom built, Bgefuare foot facility in Aberdeen,
Scotland through which we provide, among otherisesy our systems integration solutions and thatseas one of our regional offices.

We have other regional offices under lease in Lettay Louisiana; Stavanger, Norway; Doha, Qatar&indapore, and additional leased

offices, warehouses and service centers in theedi8tates, Brazil, Nigeria, Malaysia, Australiajtdd Arab Emirates and Saudi Arabia. We
believe our current facilities are adequate for@urent needs and for the foreseeable future.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we have been subject to var@asns and legal actions in the ordinary coursewfbusiness. We are not currently
involved in any legal proceeding the ultimate outeoof which, in our judgment based on informatiarrently available, would have a
material impact on our business, financial conditio results of operations.

Iltem 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Iltem 5. Market for Reqistrants Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters andusr Purchases of Equity Securities

RigNet's common stock, $0.001 par value, is traolethe NASDAQ Global Select Market (NASDAQ), undee ticker symbol RNET
and began trading on December 15, 2010.

QUARTERLY COMMON STOCK SALES PRICE (HIGH & LOW SALE S PRICE)

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 201

Fourth Quarte $47.9: $35.61

Third Quartel $37.51 $24.9¢

Second Quarte $26.5: $22.8¢

First Quarte! $24.9¢ $19.5¢
Year Ended December 31, 201

Fourth Quarte $20.6¢ $17.3¢

Third Quartel $19.3( $16.9(

Second Quarte $18.4¢ $15.2(

First Quartel $18.1: $15.81
Year Ended December 31, 2011

Fourth Quarte $16.7¢ $14.52

Third Quartel $17.5C $13.3%

Second Quarte $20.0¢ $15.5(

First Quartel $18.8:2 $13.2¢
Year Ended December 31, 201

Fourth Quarter (From December 15, 20 $13.7( $12.5¢

There were approximately 95 holders of RigNet’s owm stock on record as of February 28, 2014.

Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our comramk @and do not intend to do so in the foreseehibiere. Further, our term loan
agreement restricts our ability to pay cash divedeWe currently intend to retain all availabledarand any future earnings to support the
operation of and to finance the growth and develapnof our business.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

See the information incorporated by reference uitdar 12. “Security Ownership of Certain Benefidakners and Management and
Related Stockholder Matters” of this Annual RemortForm 10-K regarding securities authorized feu@nce under the Company’s equity
compensation plans, which information is incorpedaby reference into this Iltem 5.
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Stockholder Return Performance Presentation

The following graph compares the change in the dative total stockholder return on our common stdaking the period from
December 15, 2010 (the first day our stock begadirig on NASDAQ) through December 31, 2013, with ¢mulative total return on the
NASDAQ Composite Index, the PHLX Oil Service Sedtmtex and the NASDAQ Telecommunications Index. TileService Sector Index
a price-weighted index composed of the common sto€k 5 companies that provide oil drilling and guotion services, oil field equipment,
support services, and geophysical/reservoir sesvitke comparison assumes that $100 was investBeécegmber 15, 2010 in our common
stock and in each of the foregoing indices andrassueinvestment of dividends, if any.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return

—#—FRigNet, Inc. —l=NASDAQ — (1] Service Sector =—=—NASDAQ Telecommunications
400
350
00
= 230
© 200
150
100 B i’_,_/—h:
50
12/1572010 12/31/2010 12/31/2011 12/31/2012 12/3172013
ASSUMES SI00INVESTED ON DECEMBER 15, 2010
ASSUMES DIVIDENDS REINVESTED
12/15/2011 12/31/2011 12/31/201. 12/31/201. 12/31/201.
RigNet, Inc.(t) $ 10C $ 10¢ $ 13¢ $ 168 $ 382
NASDAQ $ 10C $ 101 $ 10C $ 11t $ 16C
Oil Service Secto $ 10C $ 104 $ 92 $ 93 $ 1a¢
NASDAQ Telecommunication $ 10C $ 10z $ 89 $ 91 $ 11z

(1) Based on the last reported sale price of thm@@my’s stock as reported by NASDAQ on the discat&te or nearest date prior to
disclosed date on which a sales occur

Investors are cautioned against drawing any coimeigsrom the data contained in the graph as gasiitis are not necessarily indicative
of future performance.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set fartlany of the Company’s previous or future filingsder the Securities Act of 1933 or
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that might ipocate this Annual Report on Form 10-K or futut@ds with the SEC, in whole or in part,
the preceding performance information shall notléemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filedith the SEC or incorporated by refere:
into any filing except to the extent this perforroarpresentation is specifically incorporated berefice therein.
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth our selected cordaifd financial data for the periods indicated.aD@és derived from RigNet, Inc.’s
audited consolidated financial statements. The skettéorth should be read together with Iltem 7. fislgement’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” aiiith Item 8. “Financial Statements and SupplemgnBata.” Our historical results for any
prior period are not necessarily indicative of tbsults to be expected in the future.

Our continued organic growth has also been complieteby several strategic acquisitions which haygaeded our service offerings. In
2012, we added systems integration solutions tgottfolio through the acquisition of Nessco, areAdeen-based international leader in the
field of telecommunications systems integrationtfa oil and gas industry. In 2014, with the acijois of Inmarsat’s Energy Broadband
business, we expanded our services to include m@re and WiMAX networks in the U.S. Gulf of MexicdSAT interests in Canada, an
M2M SCADA VSAT network in the continental U.S. semy the pipeline industry, a worldwide telecommuations systems integration
business and a global L-band MSS retail energynessi

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (ks) Data:

Revenue

Expenses
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and ameatitin)
Depreciation and amortizatic
Impairment of goodwil
Selling and marketin
General and administrati\
Total expense
Operating incom:
Interest expens
Other income (expense), r
Change in fair value of preferred stock derivati
Income (loss) before income tax
Income tax expens
Net income (loss
Less: Net income attributable 1
Non-redeemable, n-controlling interes
Redeemable, n-controlling interes
Net income (loss) attributable to RigNet, Inc. &toalders

Net income (loss) attributable to RigNet, Inc. coomstockholder

Year Ended December 31

Net income (loss) per share attributable to Righet, common stockholde

Basic
Diluted

Weighted average shares outstand
Basic

Diluted

Other Non-GAAP Data:
Gross Profit (excluding depreciation and amortaat

Adjusted EBITDA

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas—current portior
Restricted cas—long-term portion
Total asset
Current maturities of lor-term debt
Long-term debi
Long-term deferred revent
Preferred stock derivative
Preferred stoc

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except per share amot
$220,71( $161,66¢ $109,35' $ 92,92 $80,93¢
118,88: 81,07: 48,64 42,47¢ 35,16¢
21,04¢ 17,53¢ 14,58¢ 14,98: 12,55¢
— 2,89¢
3,78 3,081 2,27¢€ 2,10% 2,18
48,77( 37,18¢ 26,96( 20,75¢ 16,44«
192,48! 138,87( 92,46¢ 80,32: 69,24¢
28,22t 22,79¢ 16,89( 12,60( 11,68¢
(2,289 (1,557) (1,249 (1,61¢) (5,14¢)
(240) (497 617 (399) 304
— — — (17,190 (21,009
25,70: 20,75¢ 16,25¢ (6,607 (14,169
(9,15¢) (8,739 (6,507) (8,669) (5,457)
16,54« 12,02: 9,75: (15,276 (19,620
20¢€ 13¢ 234 292 292
— — — 25 10
$16,33¢ $11,88: $ 9,51¢ $(15,59) $(19,92)
$16,33¢ $11,88: $ 9,51¢ $(18,80) $(22,119)
$ 10 $ 07¢ $ 06z $ (3.3 $ (410
$ 09T $ 07¢ $ 057 $ (3.3 $ (4.10
16,26¢ 15,59 15,38 5,571 5,317
17,557 17,01; 16,81« 5,571 5,317
$101,82¢ $ 80,59¢ $ 60,71( $ 50,44. $45,77.
$ 56,17¢ $ 4358 $ 33,45¢ $ 29,74( $29,09!
December 31
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except per share amot

$ 59,82: $59,74¢ $ 53,106 $ 50,43t $11,37¢
50¢ 987 — 2,50( 2,50(
1,321 1,80¢ — 7,50( 7,50(
238,80: 215,93: 140,92: 129,78! 88,81(
8,38¢ 9,42: 8,73t 8,65t 8,66¢
51,17¢ 51,87: 14,78¢ 23,48¢ 21,02:
621 30z 457 32t 34¢
— — — — 30,44¢
— — — — 17,33:
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Generally accepted accounting principles, or GAdéfines gross profit as revenue less cost of rexeamd includes in costs of revenue
depreciation and amortization expenses relateeMenue-generating long-lived and intangible as¥éesdefine Gross Profit (excluding
depreciation and amortization) as revenue lessafastvenue (excluding depreciation and amortizgtid his measure differs from the GAAP
definition of gross profit as we do not include thaact of depreciation and amortization expenskgead to revenue-generating long-lived anc
intangible assets which represent non-cash expevwsesase this measure to evaluate operating maagidshe effectiveness of cost
management.

The following table presents a reconciliation afgg profit to Gross Profit (excluding depreciatiomd amortization) for each of the
periods presented. Gross profit is the most conig@i@AAP measure to Gross Profit (excluding degtémn and amortization). Gross Profit
(excluding depreciation and amortization) shoultib®considered as an alternative to gross papg#rating income (loss) or any other
measure of financial performance calculated andgmied in accordance with GAAP. Our Gross Profiti(eling depreciation and
amortization) may not be comparable to similariieti measures of other companies because otheracoespmay not calculate Gross Profit
(excluding depreciation and amortization) or simijlditled measures in the same manner as we dopMfeare Gross Profit (excluding
depreciation and amortization) to eliminate theaetf items that we do not consider indicative@wif core operating performance. We
encourage you to evaluate these adjustments anddkens we consider them appropriate.

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands

Reconciliation of Gross Profit to Gross Profit (extuding depreciation and

amortization):
Gross profit $ 81,95( $63,96¢ $46,89( $36,05: $33,13(
Depreciation and amortization related to cost uéneie 19,87¢ 16,63¢ 13,82( 14,38¢ 12,64:
Gross Profit (excluding depreciation and amortorat $101,82¢ $80,59¢ $60,71( $50,44: $45,77:

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) phisrest expense, income tax expense, depreciatidramortization, impairment
goodwill, (gain) loss on retirement of propertyapl and equipment, change in fair value of densti stock-based compensation and IPO or
merger/acquisition costs and related bonuses. faJUSBITDA is a financial measure that is not cilted in accordance with GAAP. The
table below provides a reconciliation of this noAAR financial measure to net income (loss), thetrda®gctly comparable financial measure
calculated and presented in accordance with GAAfugied EBITDA should not be considered as anradtire to net income (loss), operat
income (loss) or any other measure of financialggerance calculated and presented in accordanteGWAP. Our Adjusted EBITDA may
not be comparable to similarly titled measurestbéocompanies because other companies may nofi@@Adjusted EBITDA or similarly
titted measures in the same manner as we do. Wagrddjusted EBITDA to eliminate the impact ohitg that we do not consider indicative
of our core operating performance. We encourageg@valuate these adjustments and the reasonemséler them appropriate.

We believe Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investanseivaluating our operating performance for theofwihg reasons:

»  Securities analysts use Adjusted EBITDA aspplmental measure to evaluate the overall operagémformance of companies,
and we understand our investor and analyst pregamganclude Adjusted EBITDA

* By comparing our Adjusted EBITDA in differenéfpods, our investors may evaluate our operatisglte without the additional
variations caused by items that we do not considicative of our core operating performance andctviare not necessarily
comparable from year to year; a

» Adjusted EBITDA is an integral component of theafirtial ratio covenants of our debt agreem
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Our management uses Adjusted EBITDA:

To indicate profit contributior
For planning purposes, including the preparatioawfannual operating budget and as a key elenfemtrmal incentive program
To allocate resources to enhance the financiabpednce of our business; a

In communications with our Board of Directors comieg our financial performanc

Although Adjusted EBITDA is frequently used by irsters and securities analysts in their evaluatedrcompanies, Adjusted EBITDA
has limitations as an analytical tool, and you $thowt consider it in isolation or as a substitisieanalysis of our results of operations as
reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our cash exgitres or future requirements for capital expeameis or other contractual
commitments

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, othcaejuirements for, our working capital nee
Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect interest exper

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash requiremdotsncome taxes

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the stock basethgensation component of employee compensa

Although depreciation and amortization are gash charges, the assets being depreciated orizexdontill often have to be
replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA doetreflect any cash requirements for these replaognanc

Other companies in our industry may calculatusted EBITDA or similarly titled measures diffatly than we do, limiting its
usefulness as a comparative meas

The following table presents a reconciliation of ileome (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA for each of heriods presented. Net income (Ic
is the most comparable GAAP measure to AdjustedrBEB..

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands

Reconciliation of Net Income (Loss) to Adjusted EBIDA:

Net income $16,54: $12,02. $ 9,75  $(15,27¢ $(19,62()
Interest expens 2,28: 1,552 1,24¢ 1,61¢ 5,14¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 21,04¢ 17,53¢ 14,58¢ 14,98: 12,55¢
Impairment of goodwil — — — — 2,89¢
(Gain) loss on sales of property, plant and equigimreet of retirement 66 (137) (165 294 111
Change in fair value of preferred stock derivati — — — 17,19( 21,00¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 2,96: 2,50z 1,53¢ 437 271
Acquisition / IPO cost 4,11¢ 1,37z — 1,82¢ 1,261
Income tax expens 9,15¢ 8,73 6,50z 8,66¢ 5,45

Adjusted EBITDA (no-GAAP measure $56,17¢ $43,58: $33,45¢ $29,74( $ 29,09:
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Iltem 7. Managements Discussion And Analysis Of Financial Condition AinResults Of Operations

General

The following discussion should be read togethén wur consolidated financial statements and tHategl notes included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussiontams forward-looking statements about our busireasd operations. Our future results
may differ materially from those we currently aigate as a result of the factors we describe uritksk Factors” and elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form -K.

Executive Overview

We, along with our wholly and majority-owned suligites, provide information and communication teabgy for the oil and gas
industry through a controlled and managed IP/ MBldbal network, enabling drilling contractors, cdmpanies and oilfield service compai
to communicate more effectively.

We enable our customers to deliver voice, fax, wided data, in real-time, between remote siteshante offices throughout the world
while we manage and operate the infrastructure samand-based network operations center. We s&ffghore drilling rigs and production
platforms, land rigs and remote locations includifiices and supply bases, in approximately 45 tie@son six continents.

Our Operations

We are a global provider of managed remote comnatinits, systems integration (project managementrofkey engineered
telecommunications solutions) and collaborativeliappions dedicated to the oil and gas industrgufing on offshore and onshore drilling
rigs, energy production facilities and energy niiaet We focus on developing customer relationshighe oil and gas industry resulting in a
significant portion of our revenue being concemrian a few customers. In addition, due to the eatration of our customers in the oil and
industry, we face the challenge of service dem#lndtuating with the exploration and developmerasind and capital expenditures of that
industry.

Network service customers are primarily served ufided-price, day-rate contracts, which are basedhe concept of pay-peay of us
and are consistent with other service terms uséukiil and gas industry. Our contracts are gdiyarathe form of Master Service
Agreements, or MSAs, with specific services beinymled under individual service orders that haterm of one to three years with renewal
options, while land-based locations are generd&lgrter term or terminable on short notice withopieaalty. Service orders are executed unde
the MSA for individual remote sites or groups désj and generally may be terminated early on statite without penalty in the event of
force majeure, breach of the MSA or cold stackihg drilling rig (when a rig is taken out of sergiand is expected to be idle for a protracted
period of time).

Segment information has been prepared consisténttind components of the enterprise for which sspdinancial information is
available and regularly evaluated by the chief afieg decision-maker for the purpose of allocategpurces and assessing performance.
Certain operating segments are aggregated intoepugtable segment based on similar economic cteaistics.

We operate three reportable business segments bagggbgraphic location, which are managed asdidtiusiness units by our chief
operating decision-maker.

» Americas.Our Americas segment provides remote communicasengces for offshore and onshore drilling rigsl @noduction
facilities, as well as, energy support vesselsahdr remote sites. Our Americas segment servieepeaformed out of our United
States and Brazil based offices for customers @nsites located on the western side of the Atta®itean primarily in the United
States, Mexico and Brazil, and within the Gulf oéXito.

» Europe/Africa. Our Europe/Africa segment provides remote commutioiaa services for offshore drilling rigs, prodwctifacilities,
energy support vessels and other remote siteselhasy systems integration projects. Our Europé¢Afsegment services are
performed out of our Norway and United Kingdom lshe#fices for customers and rig sites located priipaff the coasts of the
United Kingdom, Norway and West Africa. Our Euroffeica segment also provides system integrationises for both onshore
and offshore customers in the oil and gas industiyuding drilling rigs and production facilitie
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* Middle East/Asia Pacific (MEAP)Our MEAP segment provides remote communicationges for onshore and offshore drilling
rigs, production facilities, energy support vesseld other remote sites. Our MEAP segment sergcegrimarily performed out of
our Qatar and Singapore based offices for custoaratgig sites located primarily around the Ind@cean in Qatar, Saudi Arabia
and India, around the Pacific Ocean near Austratid, within the South China S¢

Cost of revenue consists primarily of satellitergjes, voice and data termination costs, networkatjp;s expenses, internet connecti
fees, equipment purchases for systems integratmjegis and direct service labor. Satellite chamessist of the costs associated with
obtaining satellite bandwidth (the measure of cappaased in the transmission of service to andnfleased satellites. Network operations
expenses consist primarily of costs associated téloperation of our network operations centeiictvis maintained 24 hours a day, seven
days a week. Depreciation and amortization is reiaegl on all property, plant and equipment eithstdlled at a customer’s site or held at our
corporate and regional offices, as well as intalegilarising from acquisitions and internal usevgafe. Selling and marketing expenses consis
primarily of salaries and commissions, travel castd marketing communications. General and admatigeé expenses consist of expenses
associated with our management, finance, contsapport and administrative functions.

Profitability increases at a site as we add custerard value-added services. Assumptions usedviglang the day rates for a site may
not cover cost variances from inherent uncertaraieunforeseen obstacles, including both physicatiitions and unexpected problems
encountered with third party service providers.

Recent Developments

On January 31, 2014, we executed an agreementltisad the acquisition of Inmarsat’'s Energy Broadblausiness including working
capital for a total cash consideration in the agre®t of $25.0 million. Under the terms of the déafnarsat plc (LSE: ISAT.L) sold to us
substantially all of its energy broadband asselschvinclude: microwave and WiMAX networks in theSJ Gulf of Mexico and the North Sea
serving drillers, producers and energy vessel osynEBAT interests in the United Kingdom, U.S. areh@da; an M2M SCADA VSAT
network in the continental U.S. serving the pipelindustry; a telecommunications systems integnaiigsiness operating worldwide; and a
global L-band MSS retail energy business. The gnbuginess includes assets, employees, contradtewanking capital.

We financed the transaction with borrowings underreew credit facility announced on October 3, 28] existing cash.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, we spenndiflidn on acquisition-related costs in connectwith this acquisition, which are
reported as general and administrative expensaricansolidated financial statements.

Additionally, on January 31, 2014, we finalizedagreement with Inmarsat to be a distributor of Irsatis Global Xpress (GX) and L-
band satellite communications network servicesctvinill enable us to offer the next-generation Kitgeservices to existing and new
customers in the global energy sector worldwide.h&\¢e agreed, under certain conditions, to purchpde $65.0 million of capacity from the
high-throughput GX network during the five yearsaft becomes operational. We expect to utilize &M L-band services across our own
business as well as that of the acquired Energpddrand business.

Known Trends and Uncertainties

Uncertainties that could impact profitability indel oil and gas market trends (exploration and agwveént plans and capital expenditu
of that industry), service responsiveness to refiuatations, communication network complexities,ifocdl and economic instability in certain
regions, export restrictions, licenses and otrastarbarriers. These uncertainties may result inié¢tesy of service initiation, which may
negatively impact our results of operations.

Uncertainties that could impact operating cash $lavclude the availability and cost of satellitenbeidth, timing of collecting our
receivables, and our ability to increase our canéd services through sales and marketing effdnitevleveraging the contracted satellite and
other communication service costs.
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We cannot predict the ultimate outcome of the ORNG BIS investigation (described in this Item unitierheading “Regulatory
Matter”), the total costs to be incurred in comiplgtthe investigation, the potential impact on pearsl, the effect of implementing any further
measures that may be necessary to ensure full amplwith applicable laws or to what extent, it we could be subject to fines, sanctions
or other penalties.

Critical Accounting Policies

Certain of our accounting policies require judgm@sntmanagement in selecting the appropriate assongpkor calculating financial
estimates. By their nature, these judgments aresuto an inherent degree of uncertainty. Thedguents are based on our historical
experience, terms of existing contracts, observahtends in the industry, information provideddayr customers, and information available
from other outside sources, as appropriate. Fuaselts may differ from these judgments under diffé assumptions or conditions. Our
accounting policies that require management toyagighificant judgment include:

Revenue Recognition—General

All revenue, excluding systems integration consaist recognized when persuasive evidence of amgement exists, the service is
complete, the amount is fixed or determinable asitctability is reasonably assured. Network senfee revenue is based on fixed-price, day
rate contracts and recognized monthly as the sersiprovided. Generally, customer contracts ate@ige for installation and maintenance
services. Installation services are paid uponatiith of the contract and recognized over thedffthe respective contract. Maintenance cha
are recognized as specific services are perforiefirred revenue consists of deferred installaitimgs, customer deposits and other
prepayments for which services have not yet beetlered. Revenue is reported net of any tax assasskdollected on behalf of a
governmental authority. Such tax is then remittiedatly to the appropriate jurisdictional entity.

Revenue Recognition—Systems Integration Solutions

Revenues related to long-term systems integratiotracts for customized network solutions are raeczagl using the percentage-of-
completion method. At any point, RigNet has nhumercentracts in progress, all of which are at varistages of completion. Accounting for
revenues and profits on long-term contracts requestimates of total estimated contract costs atighates of progress toward completion to
determine the extent of revenue and profit recammitProgress towards completion on fixed priceti@mts is measured based on the ratio of
costs incurred to total estimated contract cobs ¢bst-to-cost method). These estimates may ligerkas additional information becomes
available or as specific project circumstances ghan

We review all of our material contracts on a mopthésis and revise the estimates as appropriatef@opments such as, providing
services and purchasing third-party materials anpdpenent at costs differing from those previoudtiraated and incurring or expecting to
incur schedule issues. Changes in estimated fordtact revenues and costs can either increasecoeake the final estimated contract profit o
loss. Profits are recorded in the period in whiahange in estimate is recognized, based on pogaseved through the period of change.
Anticipated losses on contracts are recorded Inirfuhe period in which they become evident. Raxerecognized in excess of amounts billed
is classified as a current asset under prepaidnseseand other current assets. As of Decembel0338, the amount of unbilled revenue relatec
to systems integration projects was $7.2 milliomdunts billed to clients in excess of revenue racayl to date are classified as a current
liability under deferred revenue. Under long-temmitacts, amounts recorded in work in process naa&y@ realized or paid, respectively,
within a oneyear period. The full amount of contracts in pracasd billings in excess of costs and estimateqirggs on uncompleted contra
is included in current assets and current liabgiton the consolidated balance sheet, respectively.

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recognized as cust@rebilled in accordance with customer contratts report an allowance for
doubtful accounts for probable credit losses exisiin accounts receivable. Management determirealtbwance based on a review of
currently outstanding receivables and our histbdodlection experience. Significant individual eeeables and balances which have been
outstanding greater than 90 days are reviewed ithaily. Account balances, when determined to beollectible, are charged against the
allowance.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consists of (i) temunication and computer equipment, (ii) furnitarel other, (iii) building and
(iv) land. All property, plant and equipment, exditug land, is depreciated and stated at acquisttimt net of accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is provided using the straigjhe method over the expected useful lives of tepective assets, which range from one to ten )
We assess property, plant and equipment for impaitiwhen events indicate the carrying value excésdsalue. Maintenance and repair
costs are charged to expense when incurred. Dthingear ended December 31, 2013, we impaired fissdts by $0.5 million related to the
loss of a certain customer. We have reached a $egdément with said customer which reimburse®ughe cost of impaired equipment.

Goodwill

Goodwill relates to the acquisitions of LandTel Gounications LLC (LandTel), OilCamp AS (OilCamp),aNdssco as the considerat
paid exceeded the fair value of acquired identifiaiet tangible and intangibles assets. Goodwitigewed for impairment annually, as of
July 31st, with additional evaluations being parfed when events or circumstances indicate thatahging value of these assets may not be
recoverable.

Goodwill impairment is determined using a two-spepcess. The first step of the impairment tessiduo identify potential impairment
by comparing the fair value of each reporting tmithe book value of the reporting unit, includiopgodwill. Fair value of the reporting unit is
determined using a combination of the reportind’sieixpected present value of future cash flowsantarket approach. The present value of
future cash flows is estimated using our most refmecast and our weighted average cost of cafited market approach uses a market
multiple on the reporting un&’cash generated from operations. Significant eséisfor each reporting unit included in our impeEnt analysi
are cash flow forecasts, our weighted averageafastpital, projected income tax rates and markdtipies. Changes in these estimates coulc
affect the estimated fair value of our reportingsiand result in an impairment of goodwill in dute period.

If the fair value of a reporting unit is less thmbook value, goodwill of the reporting unit isrsidered to be impaired and the second
step of the impairment test is performed to meatweemount of impairment loss, if any. The secsteg of the impairment test compares the
implied fair value of the reporting unit’'s goodwillith the book value of that goodwill. If the bowellue of the reporting unit's goodwiill
exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill,iapairment loss is recognized in an amount equ#iiat excess. The implied fair value of
goodwill is determined by allocating the reportungt’s fair value to all of its assets and lialid# other than goodwill in the same manner as &
purchase price allocation.

We recorded no goodwill impairments in 2013, 2002@11. As of July 31, 2013, our latest completeddyvill impairment testing date,
the fair values of our reporting units are in excestheir carrying values. As such, the test tesuih no impairment and no additional
impairment indicators have been identified throlgltember 31, 2013.

During our annual July 31, 2013 impairment testfelievalue of goodwill held by our U.S. Land repiog unit, in our Americas
reportable segment, exceeded carrying value byd.14k of December 31, 2013, the goodwill balandd bg our U.S. Land reporting unit
was $10.9 million. Any future downturn in our UlSand business could adversely impact the key assangoin our goodwill impairment test.
While we believe that there appears to be no itidicaf current or future impairment, historicalavpting results may not be indicative of
future operating results and events and circumsgn@y occur causing a triggering event in a pa®short as three months.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have three stock-based compensation plansOth@ @mnibus Incentive Plan (2010 Plan), the Rightet, 2006 LongFerm Incentive
Plan (2006 Plan) and the RigNet Inc. 2001 Perfoaaa®tock Option Plan (2001 Plan). All equity instents granted under either the 2001
Plan or the 2006 Plan are settled in stock. Allitggastruments currently outstanding under the@Blan will be settled in stock, however
future awards granted subsequent to December 3B, 12@y be settled in stock or cash and may beifitabas equity or liability instruments,
as determined by the type of award granted.
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Our policy is to recognize compensation expensadovice-based awards on a straight-line basistbearequisite service period for the
entire award. Expense for stock-based compensgdiated to equity awards is recorded using theutatied fair value of options on the grant
date of the awards. Fair value of options on tlegdate is determined using the Black-Scholes imadhéch requires judgment in estimating
the expected term of the option, risk-free interat, expected volatility of our stock and divideield of the option.

The fair value of each option award is estimatedhengrant date using a Black-Scholes option valonahodel, which uses certain
assumptions as of the date of grant:

» Expected Volatility—based on peer group price volatility for periodsiealent to the expected term of the optir

» Expected Tern—expected life adjusted based on management'sslststate for the effects of non-transferabilityeeise
restriction and behavioral consideratic

* Risk-free Interest Rate—risk-free rate, for periods within the contracttexins of the options, is based on the U.S. Trgageatd
curve in effect at the time of gra

» Dividend Yield—expected dividends based on the Com/ s historical dividend rate at the date of gt
The fair value of each restricted stock on the gdare is equal to the market price of RigNet's nwn stock on the date of grant.

Additionally, in connection with RigNet’s acquigiti of LandTel, LandTel issued share appreciatightsi (SARS) to certain employees.
The value of these SARs was based on the valdeedfandTel subsidiary only and was classified kahality award by the Company. We
recorded expense for these awards based on theafa@ of the awards at each balance sheet dabeigiih December 31, 2011. In 2012, all
outstanding SARs were settled in cash upon exebgismlders. We have not issued nor do we currdrathe plans to issue any additional
SARs or any other awards which would be class#iga liability awards or settled in cash.

Stock-based compensation expense is based on awtinastely expected to vest. We did not issuetiomal shares nor pay cash in lieu
of fractional shares.

Taxes

Current income taxes are determined based onxHews and rates in effect in the jurisdictions aodntries that the Company operates
in and revenue is earned. Deferred income taxéectdhe tax effect of net operating losses, fardax credits and the tax effects of temporary
differences between the carrying amount of assetdiabilities for financial statement and incora& purposes, as determined under enacted
tax laws and rates. Valuation allowances are astad when management determines that it is miogtylthan not that some portion or the
entire deferred tax asset will not be realized. Eefleral deferred tax liabilities are recordedtifier unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries
that are not permanently reinvested, net of patefareign tax credits; otherwise, no U.S. Feddedkrred taxes are provided on foreign
subsidiaries. The financial effect of changes ilgéavs or rates is accounted for in the periodrafatment.

From time to time, the Company engages in transagtin which the tax consequences may be subjectdertainty. In the normal cou
of business, the Company prepares and files taxngbased on interpretation of tax laws and reiguls, which are subject to examination by
various taxing authorities. Such examinations neeylt in future tax and interest assessments tsettaxing authorities. We evaluate our tax
positions and recognize only tax benefits for ficiahpurposes that, more likely than not, will hestined upon examination, including
resolutions of any related appeals or litigatioogesses, based on the technical merits of theiqsit

The Company has elected to include income taxa@laitterest and penalties as a component of incarmexpense.

Changes in tax laws and rates may affect recordésireéd tax assets and liabilities and our effectax rate in the future. In October
2013, Norway passed a regulation to limit the dédnof interest on related party debt. We expeist tax law change will negatively affect
our estimated annual effective tax rate for 2014jyroximately 3.0%. In addition, Norway and thdteeh Kingdom’s corporate income tax
rates are decreasing 1.0% and 2.0%, respective§id.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

No standard implemented during 2013 or 2012 hadtemal effect on our financial position, cash flowresults of operation. See our
audited consolidated financial statements incluglsdwhere in this Annual Report on FormK.@er more details regarding our implementa
and assessment of new accounting standards.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth selected financiadl @perating data for the periods indicated.

Percentage Changt

Year Ended December 31 2012 tc 2011 to
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012
(in thousands, except percentac

Revenue $220,71( $161,66¢ $109,35! 36.5% 47.£%
Expenses

Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amatitin) 118,88: 81,07: 48,64 46.6% 66.7%

Depreciation and amortizatic 21,04¢ 17,53¢ 14,58 20.(% 20.2%

Selling and marketin 3,78¢ 3,081 2,27¢ 22.&% 35.4%

General and administratiy 48,77( 37,18 26,96( 31.2% 37.%
Total expense 192,48! 138,87( 92,46 38.€% 50.2%
Operating incomi 28,22t 22,79¢ 16,89( 23.8% 35.(%

Other expense, n (2,5279) (2,045 (63€) 23.2% 221.5%
Income before income tax 25,70: 20,75¢ 16,25¢ 23.8% 27. 1%
Income tax expens (9,15%) (8,739 (6,507) 4.5% 34.2%
Net income 16,54+ 12,02: 9,752 37.€% 23.2%
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest: 20€ 13¢ 234 49.6% (40.60%
Net income attributable to RigNet, Inc. stockhok $16,33¢ $ 11,88. $ 9,51¢ 37.5% 24.8%
Other Non-GAAP Data:
Gross Profit (excluding depreciation and amortarat $101,82¢ $ 80,59¢ $ 60,71( 26.2% 32.8%
Adjusted EBITDA $ 56,17¢ $ 43,58! $ 33,45¢ 28.% 30.2%
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Our business operations are managed through tbpeetable operating segments: Americas, Europe/dfind Middle East/Asia Pacifi
The following represents selected financial opatatesults for our segments:

Percentage Chang:

Year Ended December 31 2012 tc 2011 to
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012
(in thousands, except percentac
Americas:
Revenue $ 54,22:  $49,88.  $41,51% 8.7% 20.1%
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amatitin) 25,06 22,59¢ 20,48¢ 10.€% 10.5%
Gross Profit (no-GAAP measure 29,15¢ 27,28: 21,03 6.S% 29.71%
Depreciation and amortizatic 7,14¢ 7,40¢ 6,748 (3.59% 9.2%
Selling, general and administrati 7,841 7,38¢ 7,89/ 6.2% (6.9%
Americas operating incorn $ 14,167  $12,48¢ $ 6,39¢ 13.4% 95.2%
Europe/Africa:
Revenue $103,67¢  $65,20f  $34,37: 59.(% 89.7%
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and ameatitin) 65,69¢ 37,38¢ 13,16¢ 75.71% 183.%
Gross Profit (no-GAAP measure 37,98« 27,82( 21,20: 36.5% 31.2%
Depreciation and amortizatic 7,60: 5,07: 3,05z 49.9% 66.2%
Selling, general and administrati 8,98( 7,55¢ 5,411 18.£% 39.7%
Europe/Africa operating incorr $ 21,40.  $15,18¢  $12,73¢ 40.9% 19.2%
Middle East/Asia Pacific:
Revenue $ 62,81. $46,58°  $33,78¢ 34.8% 37.%%
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amatitin) 22,70: 17,11 12,33¢ 32.1% 38.7%
Gross Profit (no-GAAP measure 40,11( 29,47( 21,44¢ 36.1% 37.4%
Depreciation and amortizatic 5,461 5,01( 4,96¢ 9.1% 0.8%
Selling, general and administrati 7,02¢ 4,331 3,55¢ 62.2% 21.7%
Middle East/Asia Pacific operating incor $ 27,61¢  $20,12¢  $12,92! 37.2% 55.€%

Note: Consolidated balances include the three segnadove along with corporate activities and caerpany eliminations.

Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

RevenueRevenue increased by $59.0 million, or 36.5%, 02 million for the year ended December 31, 208f$161.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2012. This increafediex an increase of $28.9 million of revenue dbated by Nessco and is included in the
Europe/Africa Segment. Exclusive of Nessco, thenee increased in each of our reportable segmémisricas revenue increased $4.3
million, or 8.7%. Europe/Africa revenue increas@&8.$ million, or 59.0%, including an increase of2fhillion contributed by Nessco.
Exclusive of Nessco Europe/Africa revenue incre&ge@ million, or 22.9%. MEAP revenue increased.86illion, or 34.8%. These
increases are primarily due to increases in séeges and increased revenue-per-site resulting fanadwidth upgrades and additional value-
added services provided.

Cost of RevenueCost of revenue consists primarily of satellitergles, voice and data termination costs, networkaijpms expenses,
internet connectivity fees, equipment purchasesystems integration projects and direct serviberaSatellite charges consist of the costs
associated with obtaining satellite bandwidth ftheasure of capacity) used in the transmissionrefceeto and from leased satellites. Network
operations expenses consist primarily of costscasa with the operation of our network operatioaster, which is maintained 24 hours a
day, seven days a week. Cost of revenue increas$8mn8 million, or 46.6%, to $118.9 million foralyear ended December 31, 2013 from
$81.1 million for the year ended December 31, 201&s increase includes an increase of $20.7 millibcosts incurred by Nessco. Exclusive
of Nessco, cost of revenue increased by $17.1amijllrimarily due to incremental network serviced aapacity required to serve the increi
sites and bandwidth upgrades across all segments.
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Gross Profit (excluding depreciation and amort@aa@tincreased by $21.2 million, or 26.3%, to $101i8ion for the year ended
December 31, 2013 from $80.6 million for the yeaded December 31, 2012. This increase includes@ease of $8.2 million of Gross Profit
(excluding depreciation and amortization) contrézlby Nessco. Excluding Nessco, Gross Profit (elofudepreciation and amortization) as &
percentage of revenue decreased to 53.6%, foraluegnded December 31, 2013 compared to 55.9%daretar ended December 31, 2012.
This decrease is primarily attributable to increbsests of bandwidth capacity associated with imeed site counts, bandwidth upgrades and
increased project lead-time.

Depreciation and AmortizationDepreciation and amortization is recognized omuadperty, plant and equipment either installed at a
customer’s site or held at our corporate and regjioffices, as well as intangibles arising fromuisgions and internal use software.
Depreciation and amortization expenses increasekBtB/million, or 20.0%, to $21.0 million for thegr ended December 31, 2013 from $17.!
million for the year ended December 31, 2012. Amation expense increased due to the intangibleteipsirchased in the Nessco acquisition
Additionally, depreciation expense increased dusptdinued increases in our capital expendituréschvsupport our growing operations.

Selling and Marketing.Selling and marketing expenses consist primarilgadéries and commissions, travel costs and marketi
communications. Selling and marketing expensegas®d by $0.7 million, or 22.8%, to $3.8 milliom foe year ended December 31, 2013
from $3.1 million for the year ended December 3112

General and AdministrativeGeneral and administrative expenses consist ofresgeeassociated with our management, finance,aantr
support and administrative functions. General airdinistrative expenses increased by $11.6 milliwr81.2%, to $48.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013 from $37.2 million forytear ended December 31, 2012. This increase ingladéncrease of $0.9 million in costs
incurred by Nessco during 2013. Excluding Nesseoggal and administrative costs increased $10lomprimarily due to increased
compensation resulting from headcount additionsiacibased stock-based compensation, costs retathd acquisition of Inmarsat's Energy
Broadband business that closed on January 31, 20#i4a contingent liability and related legal casterved for potential violations of U.S.
sanctions regulations (see “Regulatory Matter”isadbelow).

Income Tax ExpenseOur effective income tax rate was 35.6% and 42.48tHe years ended December 31, 2013 and 201 Zatbsgly.
Our effective tax rates are affected by factorduidiog fluctuations in income across internatigaisdictions with varying tax rates, changes
in the valuation allowance related to operating inss jurisdiction for which a benefit cannot keroed, and changes in income tax reserves.
See Note 14 — “Income Taxes,” to our consolidatedricial statements included elsewhere in this ahReport on Form 10-K for more
information regarding the items comprising our efifee tax rates.

Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

RevenueRevenue increased by $52.3 million, or 47.8%, #©1$1 million for the year ended December 31, 200hf$109.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2011. This increatediedt $23.4 million of revenue contributed by Nesdaring the year ended December 31,
2012 and was included in the Europe/Africa segmextiusive of Nessco, revenue increased in eacliiofeportable segments. Americas
revenue increased $8.6 million, or 20.6%, Europed¢afrevenue increased $7.4 million, or 21.5% arelAR revenue increased $12.8 million,
or 37.9%. The increases were primarily due to iases in site counts and increased revenue-peesitéing from bandwidth upgrades and
additional value-added services provided.

Cost of RevenueCosts increased by $32.5 million, or 66.7%, to $8tillion for the year ended December 31, 2012 ff#8.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2011. This incrie&seded $20.1 million of costs incurred by Nessgowoing the year ended December 31,
2012. Exclusive of Nessco, cost of revenue incretage$12.4 million primarily due to incremental edéite charges and capacity required to
serve the increased site counts.

Gross Profit (excluding depreciation and amortaatincreased by $19.9 million, or 32.8%, to $8@i8ion for the year ended
December 31, 2012 from $60.7 million for the yeaded December 31, 2011. This increase includedrslidn of Gross Profit (excluding
depreciation and amortization) contributed by Nesharing the year ended December 31, 2012. ExduNigssco, Gross Profit (excluding
depreciation and amortization) as a percentagevaitue increased to 55.9%, for the year ended Demedi, 2012 compared to 55.5% for the
year ended December 31, 2011. This increase wasply attributable to efficiencies in our managermef bandwidth capacity

Depreciation and AmortizationDepreciation and amortization expenses increasek2®/million, or 20.2%, to $17.5 million for thegr
ended December 31, 2012 from $14.6 million forytear ended December 31, 2011. The increase restdtedhe increased equipment,
building and intangibles related to the Nessco aitipn completed in 2012. Additionally, deprectatiexpense increased due to increased
acquisitions of rig-based telecommunication equiptnehich were acquired in conjunction with grovinitiatives during 2012 and 2011.
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Selling and Marketing.Selling and marketing expenses increased by $al®mior 35.4%, to $3.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012 from $2.3 million for the yeadeshDecember 31, 2011.

General and AdministrativeGeneral and administrative expenses increased @y $illion, or 37.9%, to $37.2 million for the yea
ended December 31, 2012 from $27.0 million forytear ended December 31, 2011. This increase ingl@e! million of costs contributed |
Nessco during the year ended December 31, 201 2udixe of Nessco, general and administrative exgeimcreased $7.8 million during 20
This increase was primarily due to increases ite@hnical personnel to support growth initiativ@$,costs related to the Nessco acquisition,
(iii) costs related to legal entity restructuringigities designed to allow more efficient and betbptimization of our global cash and (iv) other
professional fees related to efforts to strengtiarninternal control over financial reporting.

Other Income (Expense)Other income (expense) netted to an expense ofsilion for the year ended December 31, 2012 feonet
expense of $0.6 million for the year ended Decertie2011. This was an increased expense of $1liémior 221.5% for 2012. This
increased expense was primarily due to increadecest expense resulting from our July 2012 amentitosour term loan agreement which
increased the principal balance of our long-teriot dy $47.2 million.

Income Tax ExpenseQur effective income tax rate was 42.1% and 40.08tHe years ended December 31, 2012 and 201 Eatbsgly.
Our effective tax rates are affected by factorduidiog fluctuations in income across internatigaisdictions with varying tax rates, changes
in the valuation allowance related to operating Inss jurisdiction for which a benefit cannot leroed, and changes in income tax reserves.
See Note 14 — “Income Taxes,” to our consolidatedricial statements included elsewhere in this ahReport on Form 10-K for more
information regarding the items comprising our efifee tax rates.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity and capital sirmee formation have been proceeds from private gdssiuances, stockholder loans, cast
flow from operations, bank borrowings and our IH©.date, our primary use of capital has been td faur growing operations and to finance
acquisitions.

At December 31, 2013, we had working capital of & #iillion, including cash and cash equivalent$®9.8 million, current restricted
cash of $0.5 million, accounts receivable of $48ilion and other current assets of $14.2 millioffset by $13.7 million in accounts payable,
$12.9 million in accrued expenses, $8.4 milliorimrent maturities of long-term debt, $4.4 milliontax related liabilities and $2.9 million in
deferred revenue.

Over the past three years, annual capital expaedittave grown from $19.2 million to $30.2 millidae to continued increase of sites
served. Based on our current expectations, weugetiar liquidity and capital resources will be ti#int for the conduct of our business and
operations for the foreseeable future. We may adsoa portion of our available cash to finance gnawough the acquisition of, or investm
into, businesses, products, services or techndagimplementary to our current business, througlyens, acquisitions, and joint ventures or
otherwise.

We financed the January 31, 2014 purchase of Iratiaf&nergy Broadband business with borrowings unde new credit facility
announced on October 3, 2013, and existing cash.

During the next twelve months, we expect our ppatsources of liquidity to be cash flows from agigrg activities and availability
under our undrawn credit facility. In forecasting @ash flows we have considered factors includimgtracted services related to long-term
deepwater drilling programs, U.S. land rig couantts, projected oil and natural gas prices, cotgdaand available satellite bandwidth and the
additional operations acquired from the purchadamfarsat’'s Energy Broadband business.

Beyond the next twelve months, we expect our ppaicsources of liquidity to be cash flows providsdoperating activities, cash and
cash equivalents and additional financing actigits@ may pursue, which may include equity offerings

While we believe we have sufficient liquidity angpital resources to meet our current operatingireopents and expansion plans, we
may want to pursue additional expansion opportesitvithin the next year which could require addigibfinancing, either debt or equity.
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Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011
(in thousands

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Dat:

Cash and cash equivalents, Januai $ 59,74« $ 53,10¢ $50,43¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 28,04 32,25¢ 16,59:
Net cash used in investing activiti (28,844 (66,767) (8,996
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 3,20z 37,70% (4,310
Changes in foreign currency translat (2,325) 3,43¢ (615)
Cash and cash equivalents, Decembe $ 59,82: $ 59,744 $53,10¢

Currently, the Norwegian kroner and the British pdsterling are the currencies that could matgriadpact our liquidity. Our historical
experience with exchange rates for these curreheisbeen relatively stable and, consequently,augotl currently hedge these risks, but
evaluate these risks on a continual basis and mgfirancial instruments in place in the futureléfemed necessary. During the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, 63.6%, 68.1% a6 of our revenue was denominated in U.S. dnltaspectively.

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $28il0on for the year ended December 31, 2013 caexbéo $32.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012. The decrease in cashdptblby operating activities during 2013 of $4.3linl was primarily due to the timing of
collections of our accounts receivable, changesimprepaid expenses due to systems integratigagisqpartially offset by increased
profitability of our core operations.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $3gilBon for the year ended December 31, 2012 caexbéo $16.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011. The increase in cashdaembty operating activities during 2012 of $15.7iom was primarily due to to the
increased profitability of our core operations, mipas in our tax liabilities and the timing of cali®ns of our accounts receivable.

Our cash provided by operations is subject to maaniables, the most significant of which is theatdity of the oil and gas industry and,
therefore, the demand for our services. Other fadtopacting operating cash flows include the almlity and cost of satellite bandwidth, as
well as the timing of collecting our receivablesir@uture cash flow from operations will dependaunr ability to increase our contracted
services through our sales and marketing efforifevidveraging the contracted satellite and otlenmunication service costs.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $28.8onil $66.8 million and $9.0 million in the yeansd=d December 31, 2013, 2012 and
2011, respectively. Of these amounts $30.2 mill&21,.9 million, and $19.2 million, respectively, mdor capital expenditures, an increase of
$8.3 million and $2.7 million for the years endeddember 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, compareddh of the respective prior periods.
We expect capital expenditures to continue thiswiiaduring 2014 primarily resulting from growth appunities arising from increasing
demand for deepwater drilling.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, net cashiugegesting activities also included a decreaseestricted cash of $1.0 million due
to lower levels of required restricted cash for performance bonds. For the year ended Decemb&032, net cash used in investing
activities also included cash used of $42.6 milfionthe acquisition of Nessco, and an increasesiricted cash of $2.7 million related to
Nessco performance bont

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activitiess $3.2 million, $37.7 million and $(4.3) milliam the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Cash providefinlayicing activities during the year ended Decenitie 2013 was attributable to $5.5
million in borrowings in connection with the ameneimh of our term loan and $5.0 million in proceedsif the issuance of common stock uj
the exercise of stock options and warrants. THiewnwas partially offset by $7.2 million of pringal payments on our long-term debt. Cash
provided by financing activities during the yeaded December 31, 2012 was attributable to the $#ill@n increase in the principal balance
of our long term debt, which was partially offsgt®9.2 million of principal payments on our longftedebt.
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Credit Agreement

The Company has a $60.0 million term loan and $18%llion revolving credit facility, which includes $15 million sublimit for the
issuance of standby letters of credit.

The term loan bears an interest rate of LIBOR plusargin ranging from 1.5% to 2.5%, based on a @tfunded debt to Adjusted
EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure defined in g#greement. Interest is payable monthly along gitarterly principal installments of
$2.1 million, with the balance due October 2018 Wieighted average interest rate for the year eDdegmber 31, 2013 was 2.8%, with an
interest rate of 1.9% at December 31, 2013. ThenTlayan is secured by substantially all the assetissoCompany. As of December 31, 2013,
the outstanding principal amount of the term loas#60.0 million.

Our term loan agreement imposes certain restrigtiociuding our ability to obtain additional debtdncing and on our payment of cash
dividends. It also requires us to maintain cerfamiancial covenants such as a funded debt to AefLUEBITDA ratio of less than or equal to 3.0
to 1.0 and a fixed charge coverage ratio of na tkan 1.25 to 1.0. At December 31, 2013, we beligg were in compliance with all
covenants.

The revolving credit facility matures in Octoberl®0with any outstanding borrowings then payabler@eings under revolving facility
carries an interest rate of LIBOR plus an applieabhlrgin ranging from 1.5% to 2.5%, which variea dgnction of the Company’s leverage
ratio. As of December 31, 2013, no draws have Ipegte on the facility.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not engage in any off-balance sheet arranggsme

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

At December 31, 2013, we had contractual obligatiamd commercial commitments as follows:

2019 anc
Total 2014 2015- 201¢ 2017- 201¢ Beyond
(in thousands
Contractual Obligations:
Debt obligation:
Term loan $ 59,32: $ 8,362 $ 16,81: $ 34,14¢ $ —
Equipment note 242 2€ 56 16C —
Interest (1, 3,681 1,05¢ 1,62¢ 99¢ —
Operating lease 3,70¢ 1,732 1,48¢ 27€ 218
Commercial Commitments:
Satellite and network servic 36,27¢ 20,79: 14,27¢ 1,20¢ —

$103,23! $31,97: $ 34,26( $ 36,79: $ 21¢

(1) Computed on the expected outstanding principlengaldhrough the term of the loan, at the intera®t in effect at December 31, 20
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As of December 31, 2013, the Company’s other naratitiabilities in the Consolidated Balance Shamtsist primarily of deferred tax
liabilities ($0.7 million), gross unrecognized tagnefits ($13.2 million) and the related grossregeand penalties. At this time, the Compal
unable to make a reasonably reliable estimateeofithing of payments in individual years in conmaetwith these liabilities; therefore, such
amounts are not included in the above contractolidations table.

Regulatory Matter

Our internal compliance program has detected paferniblations of U.S. sanctions regulations by af@ur foreign subsidiaries in
connection with certain of our customers’ rigs tlvate moved into the territorial waters of courgrsanctioned by the United States. We
estimate that we received total revenue of appratefy $0.1 million during the period related to th@ential violations. These countries are
subject to a number of economic regulations, inolgdanctions administered by OFAC, and comprelensistrictions on the export and re-
export of U.S.-origin items to these countries adstéred by BIS. Our customers that are not baséluki U.S. are not subject to the same
restrictions on operating in these countries aareebut we are prohibited from providing servioegacilitating the provision of services to
their rigs in transit to or while operating in ansioned country.

Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulas relating to sanctions and export restrictioay subject us to criminal sanctions
and civil remedies, including fines, denial of erpgarivileges, injunctions or seizures of our asséfe have voluntarily self-reported the
potential violations to OFAC and BIS and retainetsale counsel who conducted an investigation @intlatter and submitted a report to
OFAC and BIS. We continue to cooperate with thegmaies with respect to resolution of the matter.

We incurred legal expenses of $1.0 million in cartiima with the investigation as of December 31,204/e may continue to incur significant
legal fees and related expenses, and the invdstigahay involve management time in the futurerifeo to cooperate with OFAC and BIS.
cannot predict the ultimate outcome of the invedian, the total costs to be incurred in completimginvestigation, the potential impact on
personnel, the effect of implementing any furtheasures that may be necessary to ensure full canggliwith applicable laws or to what
extent, if at all, we could be subject to finesy@ns or other penalties.

Non-GAAP Measures

The nonGAAP financial measures, Gross Profit (excludingréeiation and amortization) and Adjusted EBITDAgymot be comparak
to similarly titted measures used by other comparii&erefore, these ndBAAP measures should be considered in conjunctitimwet incom
and other performance measures prepared in aca@aéth GAAP, such as gross profit, operating inean net cash provided by operating
activities. Further, Gross Profit (excluding depagion and amortization) and Adjusted EBITDA shoantfat be considered in isolation or as a
substitute for GAAP measures such as net inconessgrofit, operating income or any other GAAP measf liquidity or financial
performance. Our Gross Profit (excluding deprescratind amortization) and Adjusted EBITDA may notbenparable to similarly titled
measures of other companies because other compaajesot calculate Gross Profit (excluding depismmaand amortization), Adjusted
EBITDA or similarly titled measures in the same manas we do. We prepare Gross Profit (excludimgetgation and amortization) and
Adjusted EBITDA to eliminate the impact of itemsthwe do not consider indicative of our core opegaperformance. We encourage you to
evaluate these adjustments and the reasons weleoktisdm appropriate.
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The following table presents a reconciliation afgg profit under GAAP to Gross Profit (excludingpdeiation and amortization).

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

(in thousands
Gross profit $ 81,95( $63,96¢ $46,89(
Depreciation and amortization related to cost uéreie 19,87¢ 16,63¢ 13,82(
Gross Profit (excluding depreciation and amortorat $101,82! $80,59¢ $60,71(

GAAP defines gross profit as revenue less costwgmue, and includes in costs of revenue depregiatid amortization expenses relz
to revenue-generating long-lived and intangibleetssdVe define Gross Profit (excluding depreciatiod amortization) as revenue less cost 0
revenue (excluding depreciation and amortizati@h)s measure differs from the GAAP definition obgs profit as we do not include the
impact of depreciation and amortization expenskede® to revenue-generating long-lived and intalegiissets which represent non-cash
expenses. We use this measure to evaluate openaéirgins and the effectiveness of cost management.

The following table presents a reconciliation of oet income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA.

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands

Net income $16,54¢ $12,02: $ 9,75
Interest expens 2,28: 1,552 1,24¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 21,04¢ 17,53¢ 14,58¢
(Gain) loss on sales of property, plant and equigimreet of retirement 66 (137 (16%)
Stoclk-based compensatic 2,96: 2,50z 1,53¢

Acquisition cost 4,11¢ 1,372 —
Income tax expens 9,15¢ 8,73t 6,50z
Adjusted EBITDA (no-GAAP measure $56,17¢ $43,58! $33,45¢

We evaluate Adjusted EBITDA generated from our apjens and operating segments to assess the pbtexttdvery of historical capital
expenditures, determine timing and investment kef@l growth opportunities, extend commitmentsaiéBite bandwidth cost to expand our
offshore production platform and vessel marketshiawvest in new products and services, expangen mew offices, service centers and
SOIL nodes, and assist purchasing synergies.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, Adjus®d BA increased by $12.6 million, or 28.9%, from38 million in 2012 to $56.2
million in 2013, which resulted primarily from tlaldition of Nessco operations, in the middle of2CGds well as organic growth in our core
offshore operations partially offset by costs a&ted with headcount. During the year ended Dece®bge2012, Adjusted EBITDA increased
by $10.1 million, or 30.3%, from $33.5 million iM21 to $43.6 million in 2012 which resulted priniafrom increases in sites served and
additional demand for our services, partially affsg costs associated with head count additionsoéimel professional fees.
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Iltem 7A . Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about MakRisk

We are subject to a variety of risks, includinggign currency exchange rate fluctuations relatinfpteign operations and certain
purchases from foreign vendors. In the normal emofdbusiness, we assess these risks and havéigstdipolicies and procedures to manage
our exposure to fluctuations in foreign currenciuea.

Our objective in managing our exposure to foreigmency exchange rate fluctuations is to reducerntipact of adverse fluctuations in
earnings and cash flows associated with foreigreogy exchange rates. We do not currently usedoreirrency forward contracts to hedge
our exposure on firm commitments denominated igifpr currencies, but evaluate this on a continaaisband may put financial instrument
place in the future if deemed necessary. Duringyfezes ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, 36.4%1aféb, respectively of our revenues
were earned in non-U.S. currencies. At Decembe2313 and 2012, we had no significant outstandimgiin exchange contracts.

Our results of operations and cash flows are stibjeftuctuations due to changes in interest rat@sarily from our variable interest rate
long-term debt. We do not currently use finanaiakiuments to hedge these interest risk exposbuégyvaluate this on a continual basis and
may put financial instruments in place in the fetifrdeemed necessary. The following analysis c&fléhe annual impacts of potential change:
in our interest rate to net income attributabledaand our total stockholders’ equity based onoetistanding long-term debt on and
December 31, 2013 and 2012, assuming those liabilitere outstanding for the entire year.

December 31
2013 2012
(in thousands

Effect on Net Income and Equitv—Increase/Decrease

1% Decrease/increase in r: $ 59¢ $ 61¢
2% Decreasel/increase in ri $1,191 $1,23¢
3% Decrease/increase in r: $1,787 $1,85¢

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our consolidated financial statements, togetheh e related notes and report of independenttergis public accounting firm, are set
forth on the pages indicated in Item 15.

Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéinting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Clarécutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officeyaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2@®.3. The term “disclosure controls and procesitias defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1882 Exchange Act), means controls and other piress of a company that are designed
to ensure that information required to be discldsgd company in the reports that it files or susminder the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the piends specified in the SE€Ctules and forms. Disclosure controls and proesiinclude
without limitation, controls and procedures desijteensure that information required to be disaiiosy a company in the reports that it files
or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulateédcammunicated to the company’s management, inaduidé principal executive and
principal financial officers, as appropriate taalltimely decisions regarding required disclositanagement recognizes that any controls an
procedures, no matter how well designed and opkratan provide only reasonable assurance of actydleir objectives and management
necessarily applies its judgment in evaluatingabst-benefit relationship of possible controls anacedures. Based on the evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2®.3, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finl Officer concluded that, as of such
date, our disclosure controls and procedures wietive and provide reasonable assurance thatrivetion required to be disclosed by the
Company is recorded, processed, summarized andedpwiithin the time periods specified in the S&€@lles and forms.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no changes in our internal control dvwancial reporting identified in connection withet evaluation required by Rule 13a-15
(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during thartpr ended December 31, 2013 that has materid#digtad, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over fingaareporting.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting
The management report called for by Item 308(&3edulation S-K is provided below.
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MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC |IAL REPORTING

The management of RigNet, Inc. and its subsididthles Company) is responsible for establishing maéhtaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting. The Company’simal control system was designed to provide redslerassurance to management and the
Board of Directors regarding the reliability of éincial reporting and the preparation of financiatements for external purposes in accordanc
with generally accepted accounting principles.

All internal control systems, no matter how welsimed, have inherent limitations. Even those systdetermined to be effective can
provide only reasonable assurance with respedhamdial statement presentation and preparatiorh&) because of changes in conditions
effectiveness of internal control may vary overdim

As of December 31, 2013, our management assessedféictiveness of our internal control over finahceporting based on the criteria
for effective internal control over financial repiog established in Internal Control — Integratedrirework (1992), issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisdiased on the assessment, management determatedetimaintained effective inter
control over financial reporting as of December&113, based on those criteria.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registerabligc accounting firm that audited our consolidatiedncial statements included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has issued arstton report on the effectiveness of internaltic@rover financial reporting as of
December 31, 2013 which is included in Item 8. Roial Statements and Supplementary Data.
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Attestation Report of the Registered Accounting Fim

The independent auditor’s attestation report cdtedy Iltem 308(b) of Regulation S-K is incorpadtherein by reference to Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ¢l Control Over Financial Reporting), includedtem 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.

Limitations of the Effectiveness of Internal Contrd

A control system, no matter how well conceived apdrated, can provide only reasonable, not absassurance that the objectives of
the internal control system are met. Because oiitiierent limitations of any internal control systenternal control over financial reporting
may not detect or prevent misstatements. Projeztidany evaluation of the effectiveness to fuppeeods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in @i that the degree of compliance with the pediand procedures may deteriorate.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART IlI

Certain information required by Part 11l is omitt&dm this Annual Report on Form 10-K as we intémdile our definitive Proxy
Statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockhadthe “2014 Proxy Statement”) pursuant to Reguiat4A of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, not later than 120 dags tife end of the fiscal year covered by this AgiiReport on Form 10-K, and certain
information included in the Proxy Statement is iparated herein by reference.

Item 10.Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govente

Certain information in response to this item isoiqorated herein by reference to “Our Board of Etwves and Nominees,'Our Executiv:
Officers” and “Corporate Governance” in the 2014X@rStatement to be filed with the SEC. Informat@mncompliance with Section 16(a) of
the Exchange Act is incorporated herein by refezdnc'Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Report@ampliance” in the 2014 Proxy
Statement to be filed with the SEC.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a code of business conduct arcs €titide of conduct) applicable to our principa@xive, financial and accounting
officers. Copies of both the code of conduct, ab asany waiver of a provision of the code of cacidgranted to any principal executive,
financial and accounting officers or material amaedt to the code of conduct, if any, are availabighout charge, on our website at
WWWw.rig.net.

Iltem 11. Executive Compensation

Information in response to this item is incorpoddterein by reference to “Corporate Governance™&xeécutive Compensation” in the
2014 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC.

Iltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners alihnagement and Related Stockholder Matters

Information in response to this item is incorpodaberein by reference to “Securities Authorizedlfmuance under Equity Compensation
Plans” and “Security Ownership of Certain Benefi@aners and Management” in the 2014 Proxy Staténaeee filed with the SEC.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, aRaector Independence

Information in response to this item is incorpoddterein by reference to “Certain Relationships Bethted Transactions” in the 2014
Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC.

Iltem 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information in response to this item is incorpodalterein by reference to “Fees Paid to Indepenidegtstered Public Accounting Firm”
in the 2014 Proxy Statement to be filed with theCSE
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Iltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(A) Consolidated Financial Statement:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements. The condelitfinancial statements listed in the accompanyjindex to Consolidated
Financial Informatio” are filed as part of this Annual Repc

2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedulessekiédules have been omitted because the informatiprired to be
presented in them is not applicable or is showthénfinancial statements or related no

(B) Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the Index to Exhibits adedi as part of this Annual Report for Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized.

RIGNET, INC.

By: /sl MARK B. SLAUGHTER March 6, 2014
Mark B. Slaughte
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and orlétes indicated.

Name Title Date
/sl MARK B. SLAUGHTER Chief Executive Officer, President and Director March 6, 2014
Mark B. Slaughte (Principal Executive Officer

/s/ MARTIN L. JIMMERSON, JR. Chief Financial Officer March 6, 2014
Martin L. Jimmerson, J (Principal Financial & Accounting Office

/sl JAMES H. BROWNING Chairman of the Board March 6, 2014
James H. Brownin

/sl MATTIA CAPRIOLI Director March 6, 2014
Mattia Caprioli

/s/ CHARLES L. DAVIS IV Director March 6, 2014
Charles L. Davis I\

/s/ DITLEF DE VIBE Director March 6, 2014
Ditlef de Vibe

/s/ KEVIN MULLOY Director March 6, 2014
Kevin Mulloy

/s KEVIN A. NEVEU Director March 6, 2014
Kevin A. Neveu

/s/ KEVIN J. O'HARA Director March 6, 2014
Kevin J. CHara

/s/ KEITH OLSEN Director March 6, 2014
Keith Olsen

/s/ BRENT K. WHITTINGTON Director March 6, 2014

Brent K. Whittington
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Righec.
Houston, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of RigNet, Inc. and subsidiaries (tharigany”) as of December 31, 2013 and
2012, and the related consolidated statementsmprehensive income, cash flows, and equity for edi¢che three years in the period ended
December 31, 2013. We also have audited the Congarigrnal control over financial reporting asidcember 31, 2013, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framiw(1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@izations of the Treadway
Commission. The Company’s management is resporfsibteéese financial statements, for maintaininfigefve internal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectgsrof internal control over financial reportingcliuded in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporti@grr responsibility is to express an opinion agsthfinancial statements and an opinion ol
the Company'’s internal control over financial repay based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finastaieiments are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal cortvelr financial reporting was maintained in all exal respects. Our audits of the financial
statements included examining, on a test basideace supporting the amounts and disclosures ifirthecial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, and evaluating the ovemalhdial statement presentation. Our a

of internal control over financial reporting inckri obtaining an understanding of internal contu@rdinancial reporting, assessing the risk

a material weakness exists, and testing and evaduihie design and operating effectiveness of ivalecontrol based on the assessed risk. Our
audits also included performing such other proceslass we considered necessary in the circumstaneebelieve that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidi the company’s principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons pemiorg similar functions, and effected by the compapard of directors, management, and
other personnel to provide reasonable assuraneediag the reliability of financial reporting anlget preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles. A company’s internatteol over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertaiheanaintenance of records that, in reasonablel detaurately and fairly reflect the transacti
and dispositions of the assets of the companypr@jide reasonable assurance that transactionse@eded as necessary to permit preparatio
of financial statements in accordance with gengrdtepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the company are bein
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngen@aent and directors of the company; and (3) peoxédisonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asigjon, use, or disposition of the company’s assleat could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcoinover financial reporting, including the possti of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected tmely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltoarover financial reporting to future periods atebject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditiotisat the degree of compliance with the polideprocedures may deteriorate.
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In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of RigNet,
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 80d,2and the results of their operations and ttesh flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2013, in conformity \&itbounting principles generally accepted in thetdééhStates of America. Also, in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all materiaipexcts, effective internal control over financgporting as of December 31, 2013, based or
the criteria established in Internal Control — tireted Framework (1992) issued by the Committegpainsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
March 6, 2014

F-3



Table of Contents

RIGNET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2013 2012
(in thousands, except share amou
ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 59,82: $ 59,74«

Restricted cas 50¢ 987

Accounts receivable, n 45,38¢ 40,02¢

Prepaid expenses and other current a: 14,23 6,21
Total current assets 119,95. 106,97:
Property, plant and equipment, | 59,05 46,65(
Restricted cas 1,321 1,80¢
Goodwill 34,52( 34,48¢
Intangibles, ne 17,58( 21,24:
Deferred tax and other ass 6,37¢ 4,77(
TOTAL ASSETS $ 238,80: $ 215,93

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 13,74« $ 11,76

Accrued expense 12,94: 8,68¢

Currentmaturities of lon-term debt 8,38¢ 9,42:

Income taxes payab 4,35( 5,52(

Deferred revenu 2,901 6,774
Total current liabilities 42,33. 42,16
Long-term debt 51,17¢ 51,87:
Deferred revenu 621 302
Deferred tax liability 665 1,64t
Other liabilities 19,22: 17,97"
Total liabilities 114,01! 113,96(
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Equity:
Stockholders' equity

Preferred stock—$0.001 par value; 10,000,000 steart®rized; no shares issued or outstanding at

December 31, 2013 and 20 — —
Common stock—$0.001 par value; 190,000,000 sharb®dzed; 17,236,620 and 15,701,615 shai
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 ar?| 28dpectivel 17 1€

Additional paic-in capital 128,93. 120,05(

Accumulated defici (4,709 (21,040

Accumulated other comprehensive incc 43¢ 2,82¢
Total stockholders’ equity 124,68( 101,85!
Non-redeemable, nc-controlling interes 10¢ 117
Total equity 124,78t 101,97.
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 238,80: $ 215,93

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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RIGNET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Revenue
Expenses:
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and ameatitin)
Depreciation and amortizatic
Selling and marketin
General and administrati
Total expenses
Operating income
Other income (expense)
Interest expens
Other income (expense), r
Income before income tax
Income tax expens
Net income
Less: Net income attributable 1
Non-redeemable, n-controlling interes
Net income attributable to RigNet, Inc. stockholdes
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Net income
Foreign currency translatic

Comprehensive income
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to-controlling interes

Comprehensive income attributable to RigNet, Inc.t®ckholders

INCOME PER SHARE—BASIC AND DILUTED
Net income attributable to RigNet, Inc. common ktedders

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011
(in thousands, except per share amot
$220,71( $161,66¢ $109,35!

118,88: 81,07 48,64
21,04¢ 17,53 14,58¢
3,78¢ 3,081 2,27¢
48,77( 37,18« 26,96(
192,48  138,87( 92,46
28,22t 22,79¢ 16,89(
(2,289 (1,552 (1,249
(240) (495) 617
25,70: 20,75« 16,25¢
(9,159 (8,739 (6,507)
16,54 12,02: 9,75-
20¢ 13¢ 234

$ 16,33¢ $1188: $ 9,51¢

$ 16,54« $ 12,022 $ 9,75

(2,394) 3,43¢ (615)
14,15( 15,46( 9,13
20¢ 13¢ 234

$ 1394 $ 1532 $ 8,90¢

$ 16,33¢ $11,88: $ 9,51¢

Net income per share attributable to RigNet, lmmnmon stockholders, bas $ 10 $ 07¢ $ 0.6z
Net income per share attributable to RigNet, Imtnmon stockholders, dilute $ 09 $ 07C $ 0.57
Weighted average shares outstanding, t 16,26¢ 15,59: 15,38°
Weighted average shares outstanding, dil 17,557 17,017 16,81«

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.

F-5



Table of Contents

RIGNET, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operations
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stoclk-based compensatic
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Deferred taxe
Impairment of property, plant and equipm
(Gain) loss on sales of property, plant and equignreet of retirement
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffett of acquisition
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Deferred revenu
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of Nessco, net of cash acqui
Capital expenditure
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equip
(Increase) decrease in restricted ¢
Net cash used in investing activitie
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of isasnce cos
Repurchase of restricted shares from emplo
Payment of stock appreciation rig|
Subsidiary distributions to n~controlling interes
Proceeds from borrowing
Repayments of lor-term debt
Excess tax benefits from st-based compensatic
Payments of financing fe«
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activitie
Net increase in cash and cash equivalen
Cash and cash equivalents
Balance, January
Changes in foreign currency translat
Balance, December 31

Supplemental disclosures
Income taxes pai
Interest pai—other
Non-cash investin—capital expenditure
Liabilities assume—Nessco acquisitio

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftinsolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands
$16,54¢ $12,02. $ 9,75:
21,04¢ 17,53¢ 14,58¢
2,96: 2,50z 1,53¢
52k 10z 95
(2,760) (1,387 (3,046
50z — —
66 (131) (165)
(5,507 (877  (10,29)
(7,861) 1,13¢ (312)
1,41¢ (339) 44¢
3,24( 2,53 T7¢€
(3,387 (4,307) 36¢
1,254 3,45¢ 2,85]
28,04¢ 32,25t 16,59:
(85) (42,55 -
(30,187 (21,864 (19,220
462 35k 224
96€ (2,699  10,00(
(28,849 (66,767 (8,996)
4,99¢ 897 4,63¢
— (89) —
— (500) —
(217) (189 (239
5,45 47,23¢ 75
(7,157) (9,162 (8,789
922 — —
(801) (492) —
3,20: 37,70; (4,310)
2,40: 3,19¢ 3,28¢
59,74 53,10¢ 50,43t
(2,325) 3,43¢ (615)
$59,82. $59,74« $53,10¢
$10,62: $ 7,66( $ 5,76
$ 1662 $ 1,461 $ 1,16¢
$ 2,167 $ 1508 $ 2,20
$ — $19,04. $ —
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Balance, January 1, 201:

Issuance of common stock upon the exercise of
stock options and warrar

Issuance of restricted common stock, net of s
cancellation:

Sale of common stoc

Stocl-based compensatic

Foreign currency translatic

Non-controlling owner distribution

Net income

Balance, December 31, 201

Issuance of common stock upon the exercis
stock options and warrar

Issuance of restricted common stock, net of s
repurchase from employees and share
cancellation:

Stocl-based compensatic

Foreign currency translatic

Non-controlling owner distribution

Net income

Balance, December 31, 201

Issuance of common stock upon the exercise of
stock options and warrar

Issuance of restricted common stock, net of s
cancellation:

Stocl-based compensatic

Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic

Foreign currency translatic

Non-controlling owner distribution

Net income

Balance, December 31, 201

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.

RIGNET,

INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

Non-
Accumulated Redeemable
Additional Other Total Non-
Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive  Stockholders’  Controlling
Shares  Amount Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Equity Interest Total Equity
(in thousands

14,76 $ 1 $ 110,21t $ (42,44) $ 5 $ 67,69¢ $ 16z $ 67,86(
45 — 73 — — 73 — 73

13t — — — — — — —
50C — 5,51¢ — — 5,51¢ — 5,51¢
— — 1,03¢ — — 1,03¢ — 1,03¢
— — — — (615) (615) — (615)
— — — — — — (239 (234)
— — — 9,51¢ — 9,51¢ 234 9,75:
15,44 1= 116,74( (32,929 (610) 83,220 162 83,38¢
144 1 89¢€ — — 897 — 897
117 — (88) — — (88) — (88)
— — 2,50z — — 2,50z — 2,50z
— — — — 3,43¢ 3,43¢ — 3,43¢
— — — — — — (189 (189
— — — 11,88: — 11,882 13¢ 12,02:
15,70: 1€ 120,05( (21,040 2,82¢ 101,85! 117 101,97.
1,45¢ 1 4,99 — — 4,99¢ — 4,99¢

77 — — — — — — —

— — 2,96: — — 2,96: — 2,96:
— — 92z — — 922 — 92z
— — — — (2,399 (2,399 — (2,399
— — — — — — (217) (219)
— — — 16,33¢ — 16,33¢ 20€ 16,54«
17,237 $ 17 $ 12893. $ (4,709 3 438 3% 124,680 $ 106 $ 124,78
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RIGNET, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—Business and Summary of Significant Accoumtg Policies
Nature of Business

RigNet, Inc. (the Company or RigNet) provides reenmdmmunication services for the oil and gas ingustrough a controlled and
managed Internet Protocol/Multiprotocol Label Stitgy (IP/MPLS) global network, enabling drilling mwactors, oil companies and oilfield
service companies to communicate more effectivithe Company provides its customers with voice, fédeo and data services in real-time
between remote sites and home offices througheuvtirld, while the Company manages and operatesftastructure from its land-based
Network Operations Cente

The Company'’s corporate offices are located in kwysTexas. The Company serves the owners andtoper offshore drilling rigs
and production facilities, land rigs, remote ofiand supply bases in approximately 45 countriglsiding the United States, Brazil, Norway,
the United Kingdom, Nigeria, Qatar, Saudi Arabimgapore and Australia.

Basis of Presentation

The Company presents its financial statementsdordance with generally accepted accounting priesip the United States (U.S.
GAAP).

Principles of Consolidation and Reporting

The Company’s consolidated financial statementisidecthe accounts of RigNet, Inc. and all subsidgthereof. All intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminateanisotidation. As of December 31, 2013, 2012 andL26dn-controlling interest of
subsidiaries represents the outside economic oWwipeirgerest of Qatar, WLL of less than 3.0%.

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statemts

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith U.S. GAAP requires management to make esdt1and assumptions that af
the reported amounts of assets and liabilitiesdibelosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses duringplogting periods, as well as certain financiateshent disclosures. The estimates that ar
particularly significant to the financial statemeiriclude estimates related to the Company’s uslkeeopercentage-of-completion method, as
well as the Company’s valuation of goodwill, intélrigs, stock-based compensation, income tax valnailowance and uncertain tax
positions. While management believes that the eséisnand assumptions used in the preparation dintecial statements are appropriate,
future results could differ from these estimatestlfer, volatile equity and energy markets combimcrease uncertainty in such estimates
and assumptions. As such, estimates and assumptiersljusted when facts and circumstances diatet@ny changes will be reflected in the
financial statements in future periods.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on-trahHighly-liquid investments purchased with oridimeaturities of three months or
less.

Restricted Cash

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had restricasti of $0.5 million and $1.3 million, in curreard long-term assets, respectively.
As of December 31, 2012, the Company had restricastl of $1.0 million and $1.8 million, in curreartd long-term assets, respectively. This
restricted cash is being used to collateralizetanting performance bonds, related to Nessco Grmighings Ltd. (Nessco) systems integral
projects (see Note 7 — “Long-Term Debt").
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RIGNET, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ONTINUED)

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recognized as cust@rebilled in accordance with customer cont@cigreements. The Company
reports an allowance for doubtful accounts for plalb credit losses existing in accounts receivaidEmagement determines the allowance
based on a review of currently outstanding recéésahnd the Company’s historical write-off expedenSignificant individual receivables and
balances which have been outstanding greater haags are reviewed individually. Account balanegsen determined to be uncollectible,
are charged against the allowance.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consists of (i) temunication and computer equipment, (ii) furnitarel other, (iii) building and
(iv) land. All property, plant and equipment, exditug land, is depreciated and stated at acquisttost net of accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is provided using the strai¢jnhe method over the expected useful lives of tepective assets, which range from one to ten )
The Company assesses property, plant and equigorantpairment when events indicate the carryinigaxceeds fair value. During the y
ended December 31, 2013, the Company impaired figedts by $0.5 million related to the loss ofréag® customer. The Company has
reached a legal settlement with said customer wigthburses the Company for the cost of the implagguipment.

Maintenance and repair costs are charged to expémese incurred.

Derivatives

All contracts are evaluated for embedded derivativhich are bifurcated when (i) the economic chiaréstics and risks of such
instruments are not clearly and closely relatetthéoeconomic characteristics and risks of the ages, (ii) the contract is not already reported
at fair value and (iii) such instruments meet thérdtion of a derivative instrument and are natfse exceptions under the Financial
Accounting Standards Boasl(FASB) guidance on derivatives and hedging. Novdtves were outstanding as of December 31, 2012)12.

Intangibles

Intangibles consist of customer relationships aegluas part of the LandTel Communications LLC (LEel)i OilCamp AS (OilCamp)
and Nessco acquisitions, as well as brand namé&ldgaand covenants not to compete acquired asopéiie Nessco acquisition. Intangibles
also includes internal-use software. The Compaimggngibles have useful lives ranging from 1.7 1@ @ears and are amortized on a straight-
line basis. Impairment testing is performed wheangs or circumstances indicate that the carryidgevaf the assets may not be recoverable.
No impairment indicators have been identified aBetember 31, 201.

Goodwill

Gooduwill relates to the acquisitions of LandTel Gounications LLC (LandTel), OilCamp AS (OilCamp),daNessco as the
consideration paid exceeded the fair value of aequdentifiable net tangible assets and intangibBoodwill is reviewed for impairment at
least annually with additional evaluations beingf@ened when events or circumstances indicatettetarrying value of these assets may nc
be recoverable. The Company performs its annuadiimment test on July 3, with the most recent test being performed asulyf 31, 2013.
This 2013 test resulted in no impairment as thevaliue of each reporting unit exceeded the cagryamlue plus goodwill of that reporting unit.
No impairment indicators have been identified tlymDecember 31, 2013. As of December 31, 2013 aad,Zyoodwill was $34.5 million ar
$34.5 million, respectively. In addition to the iag of acquisitions, goodwill increases or decre@sealue due to the effect of foreign
currency translation.

Goodwill impairment is determined using a two-spepcess. The first step of the impairment tessiduo identify potential impairment
by comparing the fair value of each reporting tmithe book value of the reporting unit, includiopgodwill. Fair value of the reporting unit is
determined using a combination of the reportind’sieixpected present value of future cash flowsantarket approach. The present value of
future cash flows is estimated using the Compamgst recent forecast and the weighted averageo€asipital. The market approach uses a
market multiple on the reporting unit's cash getestdrom operations. Significant estimates for e@gorting unit included in the Company’s
impairment analysis are cash flow forecasts, thea@my’s weighted average cost of capital, projectedme tax rates and market multiples.
Changes in these estimates could affect the estihfair value of the reporting units and resulaimimpairment of goodwill in a future period.
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RIGNET, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ONTINUED)

If the fair value of a reporting unit is less thitmbook value, goodwill of the reporting unit isnsidered to be impaired and the second
step of the impairment test is performed to meatweeamount of impairment loss, if any. The secsteg of the impairment test compares the
implied fair value of the reporting unit’'s goodwillith the book value of that goodwill. If the bowellue of the reporting unit's goodwiill
exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill,iapairment loss is recognized in an amount equ#iiat excess. The implied fair value of
goodwill is determined by allocating the reportungt’'s fair value to all of its assets and liakid# other than goodwill in the same manner as &
purchase price allocation. Any impairment in thiueaof goodwill is charged to earnings in the pésoich impairment is determined.

Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt is recognized in the consolidatddrize sheets, net of costs incurred, in conneetitmobtaining debt financing. Debt
financing costs are deferred and reported as afieduto the principal amount of the debt. Suchi€ase amortized over the life of the debt
using the effective interest rate method and iredlith interest expense in the Company’s consoliifi@ncial statements.

Revenue Recognition — General

All revenue, excluding systems integration consaist recognized when persuasive evidence of amgement exists, the service is
complete, the amount is fixed or determinable asitbctability is reasonably assured. Network senfee revenue is based on fixed-price, day
rate contracts and recognized monthly as the sersiprovided. Generally, customer contracts ateeige for installation and maintenance
services. Installation services are paid uponatiiin of the contract and recognized over thedffethe respective contract. Maintenance cha
are recognized as specific services are perforiefirred revenue consists of deferred installaitimgs, customer deposits and other
prepayments for which services have not yet beetlered. Revenue is reported net of any tax assasskdollected on behalf of a
governmental authority. Such tax is then remittiedatly to the appropriate jurisdictional entity.

Revenue Recognition—Systems Integration Solutions

Revenues related to long-term, fixed-price systenegration contracts for customized network solusi are recognized using the
percentage-of-completion method. At any point, RigNas numerous contracts in progress, all of waiehat various stages of completion.
Accounting for revenues and profits on long-termtcacts requires estimates of total estimated aohtrosts and estimates of progress towarc
completion to determine the extent of revenue anfitgecognition. Progress towards completion iced price contracts is measured base
the ratio of costs incurred to total estimated mttcosts (the cost-to-cost method). These estgmany be revised as additional information
becomes available or as specific project circuntgisichange.

The Company reviews all of our material contract@anonthly basis and revise the estimates as ppat® for developments such as,
providing services and purchasing third-party mateand equipment at costs differing from thosevfusly estimated and incurring or
expecting to incur schedule issues. Changes imatd final contract revenues and costs can ditbezase or decrease the final estimated
contract profit or loss. Profits are recorded ia preriod in which a change in estimate is recoghibased on progress achieved through the
period of change. Anticipated losses on contragtsecorded in full in the period in which they bew evident. Revenue recognized in exces:
of amounts billed is classified as a current ageder prepaid expenses and other current assetd.Pecember 31, 2013, the amount of
unbilled revenue related to systems integratiofiete was $7.2 million. Amounts billed to customierexcess of revenue recognized to date
are classified as a current liability under defémevenue. Under long-term contracts, amounts detbin work in process may not be realized
or paid, respectively, within a one-year periode Tl amount of contracts in process and billingexcess of costs and estimated earnings ot
uncompleted contracts is included in current assedscurrent liabilities on the consolidated bataskeet, respectively.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes expense for stock-basedarmsafion based on the fair value of options anticted stock on the grant date of
the awards. Fair value of options on the grant tatietermined using the Black-Scholes model, whicluires judgment in estimating the
expected term of the option, risk-free interestrakpected volatility of the Company’s stock andd#nd yield of the option. Fair value of
restricted stock on the grant date is equal tartheket price of RigNet's common stock on the dditgrant. The Company’s policy is to
recognize compensation expense for service-basartawn straight-line basis over the requisiteiserperiod of the entire award. Stobkse!
compensation expense is based on awards ultimatplycted to vest.

Taxes

Current income taxes are provided based on thiavexand rates in effect in the jurisdictions andrries that the Company operates in
and revenue is earned. Deferred income taxes téfle¢ax effect of net operating losses, foremndredits and the tax effects of temporary
differences between the carrying amount of assetdiabilities for financial statement and incora& purposes, as determined under enacted
tax laws and rates. Valuation allowances are astad when management determines that it is miogtylthan not that some portion or the
entire deferred tax asset will not be realized.. fe8eral deferred tax liabilities are recordedtf@ unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries
that are not permanently reinvested, net of paéfidreign tax credits; otherwise, no U.S fedetkedred taxes are provided on foreign
subsidiaries. The financial effect of changes inléavs or rates is accounted for in the periodraatment.

From time to time, the Company engages in transagtin which the tax consequences may be subjectdertainty. In the normal cou
of business, the Company prepares and files taxngbased on interpretation of tax laws and reiguls, which are subject to examination by
various taxing authorities. Such examinations negylt in future tax and interest assessments lsgettaxing authoritiesThe Company
evaluates its tax positions and recognizes onhptmefits for financial purposes that, more likiflgn not, will be sustained upon examination,
including resolutions of any related appeals dagdiion processes, based on the technical meritsegbosition.

The Company has elected to include income taxa@leitterest and penalties as a component of incarmexpense.

Changes in tax laws and rates may affect recordéatred tax assets and liabilities and the Comsaeffective tax rate in the future. In
October 2013, Norway passed a regulation to lihétdeduction of interest on related party debt. Chmpany expects this tax law change will
negatively affect our estimated annual effectivertde for 2014 by approximately 3.0%. In additiblorway and the United Kingdom’s
corporate income tax rates are decreasing 1.092 884, respectively in 2014.

Foreign Currency Translation

The U.S. dollar serves as the currency of measureamsl reporting for the Company’s consolidatedriicial statements. The Company
has certain subsidiaries with functional currenoeslorwegian kroner, British pound sterling, Awgian dollar or Brazilian real. Functional
currencies of all the Company’s other subsidiaaiesU.S. dollar.

Transactions occurring in currencies other tharfuhetional currency of a subsidiary have been eoted to the functional currency of
that subsidiary at the exchange rate in effedi@trtansaction date with resulting gains and loss#gded in current earnings. Carrying values
of monetary assets and liabilities in functionalreacies other than U.S. dollars have been traetskat U.S. dollars based on the U.S. exchang
rate at the balance sheet date and the resultinggfocurrency translation gain or loss is includedomprehensive income (loss) in the
consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2012, the FASB issued Accounting Standalddate No. 2012-02 (ASU 2012-02), Testing Indeéiflitved Intangible Assets for
Impairment. ASU 2012-02 amends the guidance omtestdefinite-lived intangible assets for impainmeThe revised guidance permits an
entity first to assess qualitative factors to deiae whether it is more likely than not that andfidite-lived intangible asset is impaired as a
basis for determining whether it is necessary téope the quantitative impairment test. The Compadgpted ASU 2012-02 as of January 1,
2013. The adoption of ASU 2012-02 did not have iamgact on the Company’s consolidated financialestegnts.
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In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Stedslblpdate No. 2013-02 (ASU 2013-02), Compreherisivgeme (Topic 220):
Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumute@ther Comprehensive Income. This update amendsukting Standards Updates N
2011-05 and 2011-12. This update requires the ptaten of the components of amounts reclassifigidob accumulated other comprehensive
income either on the face the statement of compisahe income or in the notes to the financial stegets. The Company adopted ASU 2013-
02 as of January 1, 2013. The adoption of ASU 20A 8lid not have any impact on the Company’s codatdid financial statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standalddate No. 2013-11 (ASU 2013-11), Income Taxes {d@@g0): Presentation of an
Unrecognized Tax Benefit when a Net Operating l@asyforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Creditrgforward Exists. This update
defines the criteria as to when an unrecognizedégnefit should be presented as a liability andnihehould be netted against a deferred tax
asset on the face of the balance sheet. ASU 2018dffective for fiscal years beginning after Destxer 15, 2013. The Company will adopt
ASU 2013-11 as of January 1, 2014. The Company doesxpect the adoption of ASU 2013-11 to havigaificant impact to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

Note 2—Preferred Stock and Warrants
Preferred Stock

RigNet is authorized to issue ten million sharepreferred stock. As of December 31, 2013 and 260G 2hares of preferred stock were
outstanding.

Warrants

The Company issued warrants in conjunction withiadeirfinancing arrangements, which were exercisapte issuance. Detachable
warrants are accounted for separately from the sihirity as additional paid-in capital. The allimais based on the relative fair value of the
warrant compared to the total fair value of the tgaurities at the time of issuance. Fair valugasifuments were determined using a
combination of the expected present value of futagh flows and a market approach. The presengwdlfuture cash flows is estimated using
the Company’s most recent forecast and the weightedage cost of capital. The market approach aisearket multiple on the related cash
generated from operations. Significant estimatesléermining fair value included cash flow foresathe Company’s weighted average cost
of capital, projected income tax rates and markdtiples. Fair value calculations also considerfdievalue of the Company’s common stock
at the grant date, exercise price of the warraxjsected volatility, expected term, risk-free ietrrate and dividend yield.

No warrants were issued in the years ended Decedih@013 or 2012.
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RigNet has warrants outstanding with exercise prafe$0.04 and $7.00 per share. The following tablamarizes the Company’s
warrant activity for the years ended December 81322012 and 2011:

Number of Weighted
Underlying Average
Shares Exercise Price
(in thousand:

Outstanding, January 1, 20 1,56¢ $ 4.7C
Issuec — $ —
Exercisec (31) $ 0.04

Outstanding, December 31, 2C 1,53¢ $ 4.7¢
Issuec — $ —
Exercisec — $ —

Outstanding, December 31, 20 1,53¢ $ 4.7¢
Issuec — $ —
Exercisec (1,329 $ 451

Outstanding, December 31, 20 20t $ 6.6C

The weighted average remaining life in years oftautding warrants as of December 31, 2013, 2012ah#l was 2.0, 3.0 and 4.0 years,
respectively.

Note 3—Business and Credit Concentrations
The Company is exposed to various business and cd including interest rate, foreign currencyedit and liquidity risks.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company has significant interest-bearing lid at variable interest rates which generaligggmonthly. The Company’s variable
borrowing rates are tied to LIBOR and prime resgltin interest rate risk (see Note 7—"Long-Term Deli’he Company does not currently
use financial instruments to hedge these inteiglsexposures, but evaluates this on a continugistzand may put financial instruments in pl
in the future if deemed necessary.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Company has exposure to foreign currency aska portion of the Company’s activities are cobeltiin currencies other than U.S.
dollars. Currently, the Norwegian kroner and théi&r pound sterling are the currencies that coséderially impact the Company’s financial
position and results of operations. The Companigtolical experience with exchange rates for tteeseencies has been relatively stable, and
consequently, the Company does not use finana@#iuments to hedge this risk, but evaluates it oordinual basis and may put financial
instruments in place in the future if deemed nemgs$-oreign currency translations are reportedcasmulated other comprehensive income
(loss) in the Company’s consolidated financialestants.

Credit Risk

Credit risk, with respect to accounts receivaldalue to the limited number of customers concesdrat the oil and gas industry. The
Company mitigates the risk of financial loss froafallts through defined collection terms in eacht@xct or service agreement and periodic
evaluations of the collectability of accounts reedie. The evaluations include a review of custoanedit reports and past transaction history
with the customer. The Company provides an allowdoc doubtful accounts which is adjusted whenGbenpany becomes aware of a spe
customer’s inability to meet its financial obligatis or as a result of changes in the overall agiragcounts receivable.
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Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
(in thousand:
Accounts receivabl $47,23¢ $ 41,83t $28,08
Allowance for doubtful accounts, January (1,807 (1,737 (2,620
Current year provision for doubtful accou (602) (264) 65
Write-offs 562 194 81¢
Allowance for doubtful accounts, December (1,847 (1,807%) (1,737)
Accounts receivable, n $45,38¢ $ 40,02¢ $26,35(

During 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Company had oméfisignt customer comprising 9.2%, 11.6% and 12d3%s revenue, respectively.

Liquidity Risk

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalemdssgavith major financial institutions which, ahés, exceed federally insured
limits. The Company monitors the financial conditiof the financial institutions and has not expeeesl losses associated with these account
during 2013, 2012 or 2011. Liquidity risk is manddpy continuously monitoring forecasted and actaah flows and by matching the matu
profiles of financial assets and liabilities (seaté&7—‘Long-Term Debt”).

Note 4—Acquisitions
Nessco

On July 5, 2012, RigNet acquired 100% of Nesscdlaerdeenbased international company operating in the faélttlecommunication
systems integration for the oil and gas industy ah aggregate purchase price of $42.6 milliohpheash acquired of $6.0 million. The
purchase price includes $2.2 million of paymentslenander a $2.5 million arrangement, based ondhection of specific third-party
receivables. As the collection period of theseikad®es has lapsed, no further payments will beenwathted to this arrangement. This
acquisition broadens and strengthens RigNet's conizations offerings to the oil and gas industrigwing the Company to provide its
services over the life of the field from drillingrough production, both offshore and onshore, atdha globe.

The assets and liabilities of Nessco have beenrdedamt their estimated fair values at the datcqtiisition. The excess of the purchase
price over the estimated fair values of the undegly et tangible and identifiable intangible assetd liabilities has been recorded as goodwill

The goodwill of $19.7 million, arising from the adsjition, consisted largely of the synergies arfteobenefits that the Company belie
will result from combining the operations of ther@many and Nessco, as well as, other intangiblesatisat did not qualify for separate
recognition, such as assembled workforce in platieeadate of acquisition. None of the goodwillogrized is expected to be deductible for
income tax purposes.

The acquisition of Nessco, including goodwill, i€luded in the Company’s consolidated financiaiesteents as of the acquisition date
and is reflected in the Europe/Africa reportingreegt.
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Weighted Average
Estimated Useful
Life (Years) Fair Market Values
(in thousand:
Current assel $ 22,29¢a)(b)
Property and equipme 7,744
Identifiable intangible asset
Trade nami 7.C $ 4,35¢
Covenant not to compe 1.7 151
Backlog 1.7 1,11€
Customer relationshig 7.C 11,70¢
Total identifiable intangible asse 17,32¢
Goodwill 19,67¢(b)
Other asset 57&
Liabilities (19,04)
Total purchase pric $ 48,58(

(@) Includes $2.2 million of working capital adjosints paid between July 2012 and March 2013 baséideocollection of specific third-
party revenue
(b) Includes $0.5 million tax impact related to ‘adjustments mentioned abo

In connection with the Nessco acquisition, the Canypincurred incremental expenses for the year®eBaeember 31, 2012 of $1.4
million related to legal, accounting and valuatsamvices, which are reflected in general and adsinative expenses.

Actual and Pro Forma Impact of the Nessco Acquoisi

Nessco’s revenue and net loss included in the Gidased Statements of Comprehensive Income (Lasshe year ended December 31,
2012 were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 201
(in thousands

Revenue $ 23,417
Net loss $ (1,24¢)

As RigNet has a fiscal year ending on DecembemgilNessco had a fiscal year ending on March 31ytiaeidited pro forma combined
statements of income for year ended December 31, 20mbined the historical results of RigNet fag lear ended December 31, 2011 with
the historical results of Nessco for the year efdadch 31, 2012.

The following table represents supplemental pranfoinformation as if the Nessco acquisition haduosd on January 1, 2011. Pro
forma adjustments include:

. Reverse Nessco depreciation and amortizatidrremorting depreciation and amortization basedsiimated fair values and
remaining lives of the acquired assets at the afadequisition.

. Adjust interest expense to recognize interggénse as if the acquisition-related debt of RighNet been outstanding at
January 1, 201!

. Record nonrecurring transaction costs as if thelydeen incurred in 2011 rather than 2C
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Year Ended December 31

2012 2011
(in thousands

Revenue $191,26: $162,27(
Expense! 177,93t 153,92¢
Net income from continuing operatio $ 13,32 $ 8,341
Net income from continuing operations attributaol&igNet, Inc. commo

stockholder $ 13,18¢ $ 8,10i
Net income per share from continuing operationsbattable to RigNet, Inc

common stockholder:
Basic $ 0.8t $ 0.5
Diluted $ 077 $ 0.4¢

Inmarsat’s Energy Broadband Operations

On January 31, 2014, RigNet executed an agreetnantibsed the acquisition of Inmarsat’'s Energya@llmand business including
working capital for a total cash considerationhia agreement of $25.0 million. Under the termshefdeal, Inmarsat sold to RigNet
substantially all of its energy broadband asselschvinclude: microwave and WiMAX networks in theSJ Gulf of Mexico and the North Sea
serving drillers, producers and energy vessel osynEBAT interests in the United Kingdom, U.S. areh@da; an M2M SCADA VSAT
network in the continental U.S. serving the pipelindustry; a telecommunications systems integndiigsiness operating worldwide; and a
global L-band MSS retail energy business. The gnkuginess includes assets, employees, contragtwanking capital. Inmarsat’s energy
interests in Russia have been excluded from tmsaction.

RigNet financed the transaction with the new créatitlity announced on October 3, 2013, and exgstiash (see Note 7—Long-Term
Debt).

For the year ended December 31, 2013, RigNet rexet 4.1 million on acquisition-related costs, whixe reported as general and
administrative expense in our consolidated statémfecomprehensive income.

Pro Forma Impact of the Inmar<'s Energy Broadband Operations Acquisition

For the year ended December 31, 2013, RigNet'slesammtal pro forma revenue was $293.4 million, elaied as if the Inmarsat’'s
Energy Broadband Operations acquisition had ocdwreJanuary 1, 2012.

RigNet has not disclosed supplemental pro-formaiegs as there is no practicable method. After mglkeivery reasonable effort, RigNet
was unable to retrospectively allocate indirectgadacluding over-head to the assets that werehased in the asset carve out. To do so wou
require RigNet to make assumptions about the iatefithe management of Inmarsat’s Energy Broadl@gretation prior to the acquisition
which cannot be independently substantiated. Seirbapective application requires significant eaties of amounts, and it is impossible to
distinguish objectively information about thoserestes.

RigNet has not yet finalized the analysis requicedomplete the purchase price accounting forabeuisition and the related disclosu
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Note 5—Goodwill and Intangibles

Goodwill

Goodwill consists of amounts recognized from thguisitions of LandTel, included in the Americasaging segment, and OilCamp and

Nessco, included in the Europe/Africa reportingnsegt. The goodwill primarily relates to the grovpitospects foreseen for the compai

acquired, synergies between existing businesshanddquirees and the assembled workforce of théracgcompanies. Goodwill balances anc

changes therein, by reportable segment, as ofa@rttid years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 dod@aws:

Americas Europe/Africa Total
(in thousands
Balance, January 1, 20 $10,89: $ 2,90: $13,79¢
Nessco acquisitio 19,67¢ 19,67¢
Foreign currency translatic 1,01t 1,01t
Balance, December 31, 20 10,89: 23,59¢ 34,48¢
Foreign currency translatic 31 31
Balance, December 31, 20 $10,89: $ 23,627 $34,52(

Intangibles

Intangibles consist of customer relationships aeglas part of the LandTel, OilCamp and Nesscoisitiguns, as well as brand name,
backlog and covenants not to compete acquiredraefptine Nessco acquisition. Intangibles alsoudels internal-use software. The following

table reflects intangibles activities for the yeansled December 31, 2013 and 2012:

Customet
Covenant No Relation-
Brand Name To Compete Backlog ships Software Total
(in thousands, except estimates liv
Intangibles Acquiret — — — 9,77¢ 1,64t 11,42
Accumulated amortization and foreign currency ttatien,
January 1, 201 — — — (4,809 (770 (5,579
Balance, January 1, 20. — — — 4,974 87¢ 5,84¢
Additions 4,35: 151 1,11¢ 11,70¢ 13t 17,46:
Amortization expens (317 (46) (341) (1,772) (329 (2,809
Foreign currency translatic 173 5 38 52: 4 73
Balance, December 31, 20 4,20¢ 11C 81: 15,43 67€ 21,24:
Additions — — — — 67€ 67€
Amortization expens (657) (95) (707) (2,567) (330 (4,35€)
Foreign currency translatic 6C 1 12 12 (66) 19
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 3612 $ 16 $ 118  $12,87¢ $ 956  $17,58(
Weighted average estimated lives (ye. 7.C 1.7 1.7 7.6 5.0
The following table sets forth amortization expefgeintangibles over the next five years (in thandgs):
2014 3,64¢
2015 3,46¢
2016 3,31¢
2017 3,317
2018 2,61t
Thereafte! 1,212
$17,58(

F-17




Table of Contents

RIGNET, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ONTINUED)

Note 6—Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment consists of the falg:

Estimated December 31
Lives 2013 2012

(in years) (in thousands
Telecommunication and computer equipnr 1-5 $140,49: $114,00(
Furniture and othe 5-7 9,14t 6,817
Building 10 4,64: 4,57¢
Land — 1,48¢ 1,462
155,76: 126,85¢
Less: Accumulated depreciati (96,717) (80,206)
$ 59,05: $ 46,65(

Depreciation expense associated with propertytplad equipment was $16.7 million, $14.7 milliord#13.4 million for the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respsactivel

Note 7—Long-Term Debt

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the followinglitracilities and long-term debt arrangements Miitlancial institutions were in
place:

December 31

2013 2012
(in thousands
Term loan, net of unamortized deferred financingts $59,53} $61,18¢
Equipment note 26 10¢
59,56 61,29:
Less: Current maturities of lo-term debt (8,389 (9,427)

$51,17¢ $51,87:

Term Loan

The Company has a term loan (Term Loan) with fartipipating financial institutions. On OctoberZ8)13, the Company amended
its Term Loan, which increased the principal batatec$60 million from $54.6 million and extends thaturity of the loan from July 2017 to
October 2018.

Additionally, the amended the Term Loan bears terdst rate of LIBOR plus a margin ranging from%4.® 2.5% based on a ratio
of funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP figad measure as defined in the agreement. Intex@styable monthly along with
quarterly principal installments of $2.1 millionjttvthe balance due October 2018. The weightedsaecinterest rate for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were 2.8%, 3.3P4 836, respectively, with an interest rate of 189%becember 31, 2013.

The Term Loan is secured by substantially all $&ets of the Company. As of December 31, 2013T¢hnm Loan had outstanding
principal of $60.0 million.

Revolving Loans

Under the amended and restated credit agreemestt @attober 3, 2013, the Company secured a $128i6mrievolving credit facility,
which includes a $15 million sublimit for the issiee of standby letters of credit. As of December2813, no draws have been made on the
facility.
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Performance Bonds

On September 14, 2012, Nesscolnvsat Limited, aidialog of RigNet Inc., secured a performance baaddlity with a lender in the
amount of &.0 million, or $6.6 million. This facility has aaturity date of June 30, 2017. As of December 8132the amount available unc
this facility was £2.3 million or $3.9 million. Tke performance bonds also require the Company ittararestricted cash balances to
collateralize these outstanding performance bos®f December 31, 2013, the Company had restricasti of $0.5 million and $1.3 million,
in current and long-term assets, respectivelyatsfy this requirement. As of December 31, 20b8,Eompany had restricted cash of $1.0
million and $1.8 million, in current and long-teassets, respectively, to satisfy this requirement.

Covenants and Restrictions

The Company’s Term Loan contains certain covenamdisrestrictions, including restricting the paymeitash dividends under default
and maintaining certain financial covenants such esio of funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA, a nGAAP financial measure as defined in
agreement, and a fixed charge coverage ratioyldafault occurs related to these covenants, tpaidmrincipal and any accrued interest shal
be declared immediately due and payable. As of Dbee 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company believes itimvesmpliance with all covenants.

Deferred Financing Costs

The Company incurred legal and bank fees assoarthdhe Term Loan, and certain amendments thevettach were capitalized and
reported as a reduction to long-term debt. Defefirethcing costs are expensed using the effectiterést method over the life of the
agreement. For the years ended December 31, 2@11204r2, deferred financing cost amortization oRP#fillion and $0.1 million,
respectively, is included in interest expense ew@mpany’s consolidated financial statements.

Debt Maturities

The following table sets forth the aggregate ppatimaturities of long-term debt, net of deferrghficing cost amortization (in
thousands):

2014 $ 8,38¢
2015 8,441
2016 8,42(
2017 8,61(
2018 25,69¢

Total debt, including current maturiti $59,56:

Note 8—Related Party Transactions

One of the Company’s directors is the presidentcmelf executive officer of a drilling corporatievhich is also a customer of the
Company. Revenue recognized for the years endedriiaer 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were $1.3 milliorh &iillion and $0.6 million,
respectively, for services performed by the Comparthe ordinary course of business.

Beginning in 2013, one of the Company’s consultirgdors is wholly owned by a significant shareholufeRigNet's. Expense
recognized for the year ended December 31, 2013@&&smillion. All expenses were incurred by Rightethe ordinary course of business.
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Note 9—Fair Value Measurements

The Company uses the following methods and assongpto estimate the fair value of financial insteunts:

Cash and Cash Equivalen— Reported amounts approximate fair value based otedunarket prices (Level 1
Restricted Casl— Reported amounts approximate fair val

Accounts Receivabl— Reported amounts, net of the allowance for dalibtfcounts, approximate fair value due to thetsteom
nature of these asse

Accounts Payable, Including Income Taxes Payabledafsiccrued Expense— Reported amounts approximate fair value due t
short term nature of these liabilitie

Long-Term Debt— The carrying amount of the Company’s floatingerdebt approximates fair value since the inteastsrpaid
are based on short-term maturities and recent quates from financial institutions. The estimaftaid value of debt was calculated
based upon observable (Level 2) inputs regarditegést rates available to the Company at the eedd respective perio

Fair value is the price that would be receivedaiban asset or paid to transfer a liability incaderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. For itemsatkanot actively traded, fair value reflects finige in a transaction with a market participant
including an adjustment for risk, not just the méskmarket value. The fair value measurement stahestablishes a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques utetheasure fair value. As presented in the tableviy the hierarchy consists of three broad

levels:

Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices irvaatiarkets for identical assets and liabilities hade the highest priority.

Level 2—Inputs are observable inputs other thartefliprices considered Level 1. Level 2 inputs aaeket-based and are directly
or indirectly observable, including quoted pricesgimilar instruments in active markets; quoteidgs for identical or similar
instruments in markets that are not active; or atiun techniques whose inputs are observable. Wiiteservable inputs are
available, directly or indirectly, for substantiathe full term of the asset or liability, the ingnent is categorized in Level 2.

Level 3—Inputs are unobservable (meaning theyceflee Company’s assumptions regarding how marketigipants would price
the asset or liability based on the best availatitemation) and therefore have the lowest priorityfinancial instrument’s level
within the fair value hierarchy is based on thedstlevel of any input that is significant to tlaérfvalue measurement. RigNet
believes it uses appropriate valuation technigsiesh as market-based valuation, based on the blaifgputs to measure the fair
values of its assets and liabilities. The Compamglsiation technique maximizes the use of obseevaiguts and minimizes the use
of unobservable inputs.

The Company had no derivatives as of December@®3,2012 or 2011.

The Company’s non-financial assets, such as gobdmitingibles and property, plant and equipmerd,raeasured at fair value, based or
level 3 inputs, when there is an indicator of innpent and recorded at fair value only when an immpant charge is recognized.

F-20



Table of Contents

RIGNET, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ONTINUED)

Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

The Company leases office space under lease agneemgiring on various dates through 2020. The g recognized expense un
operating leases of $2.4 million, $2.1 million &5 million for the years ended December 31, 2@032 and 2011, respectively. As of
December 31, 2013, future minimum lease obligatiwese as follows (in thousands):

2014 $1,73:
2015 1,04:
2016 44¢
2017 15¢
2018 117
Thereaftel 21¢

$3,70¢

Commercial Commitments

The Company enters into contracts for satellitedladth and other network services with certain jlevs. As of December 31, 2013,
Company had the following commercial commitmentatesl to satellite and network services (in thodsgn

2014 $20,79:
2015 9,89:
2016 4,38:
2017 1,20¢
2018 —
$36,27¢

Litigation

The Company, in the ordinary course of business dsimant or a defendant in various legal proreg including proceedings as to
which the Company has insurance coverage and thasenay involve the filing of liens against thermany or its assets. The Company does
not consider its exposure in these proceedingsjithdhlly or in the aggregate, to be material.

Regulatory Matter

RigNet’s internal compliance program has detectgtdmtial violations of U.S. sanctions regulatiogsone of its foreign subsidiaries in
connection with certain of its customers’ rigs thatre moved into the territorial waters of courdrsanctioned by the United States. The
Company estimates that it received total revenwppfoximately $0.1 million during the period reldto the potential violations. The
Company has voluntarily self-reported the potentialations to U.S. Treasury Department’s OfficeFaireign Assets Control (OFAC) and the
U.S Department of Commerce Bureau of Industry aexlSty (BIS) and retained outside counsel who coibetl an investigation of the matter
under the supervision of the Company’s Audit Coneritand submitted a report to OFAC and BIS. The fizmm continues cooperating with
OFAC and BIS with respect to resolution of the iatt

The Company incurred legal expenses of $1.0 millioconnection with the investigation as of Decentfe 2013. The Company may
continue to incur significant legal fees and relag@penses and the investigations may involve memagt time in the future in order to
cooperate with OFAC and BIS. The Company canndlipr¢he ultimate outcome of the investigation, tb&l costs to be incurred in
completing the investigation, the potential impactpersonnel, the effect of implementing any furtineasures that may be necessary to enst
full compliance with applicable laws or to whatext, if at all, the Company could be subject te$insanctions or other penalties.
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Based on the information available at this time axahagement’s understanding of the potential samgtthe Company currently
estimates that it may incur penalties associatél tivese potential violations within a range of2sfhillion to $1.5 million. The Company has
accrued an estimated liability of $0.8 million aamagement believes this is the most probable owcdims estimate is based on RigNet's
internal investigation and no assurance can bengigeto what, if any, penalties OFAC or BIS willdose or whether it will identify or allege
additional violations or remedies.

Taxes

The Company and the Internal Revenue Service agoegldse an audit of the Company’s 2010 incometurn in March of 2013. The
final settlement did not have an impact on the Camyfs financial position or results of operations the year ended December 31, 2013.

Note 11—Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has three stock-based compensatios ptagiescribed below.

2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan

In May 2010, the Board of Directors adopted the@®Omnibus Incentive Plan (2010 Plan). Under theD2Rtan, the Board of Directors
or its designated committee is authorized to issuards representing a total of three million shafesommon stock to certain directors,
officers and employees of the Company. Awards nwinlthe form of new stock incentive awards or @msiincluding (i) incentive or non-
qualified stock options, (ii) stock appreciatioghis, (iii) restricted stock, (iv) restricted stagkits, (v) performance stock, (vi) performance
units, (vii) director awards (viii) annual cash émtive awards, (ix) cash-based awards, (x) sulistit@awards or (xi) other stock-based awards,
as approved by the Board of Directors or its desligth committee. The stock incentive awards ansogtijranted under the 2010 plan will
generally expire at the earlier of a specified geafter termination of service or the date spedifty the Board of Directors or its designated
committee at the date of grant, but not more teanyears from such grant date.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coyngiamted 107,398 shares of restricted stock tmicedirectors, officers and
employees of the Company under the 2010 Plan. iBtestrshares have no exercise price and are coadidsued and outstanding common
stock. Restricted shares issued to officers and@maps, totaling 90,278 shares, generally vest aeur year period of continued
employment, with 25% of shares vesting on eachefitst four anniversaries of the grant date. Retetl shares issued to directors, totaling
17,120 shares, generally either vest immediatelyest over a two year period of continued serwideh 50% of shares vesting on each of the
first two anniversaries of the grant date. As ot®waber 31, 2013, 134,414 shares of restricted $taek vested, 47,874 shares of restricted
stock have been forfeited and 199,944 shares tfatesl stock were outstanding.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynglapn granted 238,684 stock options to certailtef and employees of the
Company under the 2010 Plan. Options granted dtinisgperiod have an exercise price of $19.96 @ %3 a contractual term of ten years
vest over a four year period of continued employmeith 25% of options vesting on each of the ffmir anniversaries of the grant date.

2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan

In March 2006, the Board of Directors adopted tiglNet 2006 LongFerm Incentive Plan (2006 Plan). Under the 20061 Rlze Board ¢
Directors is authorized to issue options to puretRigfNet common stock to certain officers and elygds of the Company. In general, all
options granted under the 2006 Plan have a coo#biglrm of ten years and a four-year vesting gemadth 25.0% of the options vesting on
each of the first four anniversaries of the graatedThe 2006 Plan authorized the issuance of thikien options, which was increased to five
million in January 2010, net of any options retutoe forfeited. As of December 31, 2013, the Conyplaas issued 981,125 options under the
2006 Plan, of which 339,563 options have been ésextc210,622 options have been returned or fedaind 430,940 options are outstanding
The Company will issue no additional options urttier2006 Plan as the Company’s Board of Directassrbsolved to freeze the 2006 Plan.
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2001 Stock Option Plan

The 2001 Performance Stock Option Plan (2001 Rieas)authorized to issue options to purchase Rigbi@imon stock to certain office
and employees of the Company. Options granted tthde2001 Plan vest either (a) over a four-yeantevith 25.0% of the options vesting on
each of the first four anniversary dates of thengat (b) over a three-year term, with 25.0% of dtiptions vesting 30 days after the grant date
and 25.0% vesting on each of the first three amaarg dates of the grant. Vested options, whictehet been forfeited, are exercisable in
whole or in part during the option term, which does exceed ten years. The 2001 Plan authorizeidg¢hance of 0.6 million options. As of
December 31, 2013, the Company has issued 130@&hs under the 2001 Plan, of which 103,307 optioaive been exercised, 22,660
options have been returned and 5,000 options astamaling. The Company will issue no additionaiam under the 2001 Plan as the
Company'’s Board of Directors has resolved to frebee2001 Plan.

Share Appreciation Rights (SARS)

In August 2006, in connection with RigNet’s acqtisi of LandTel, LandTel issued a total of 9,67@&rghappreciation rights to certain
employees, using a baseline share price of $1qfe06hare. Since August 2006, 4,838 SARs have foefeited. During 2011, share
appreciation on the remaining 4,838 SARSs resutieghiincrease in the value of the SARs of $0.5anillvhich was recognized to
compensation expense.

During 2012, all remaining SARs were exercised eash totaling $0.5 million was paid to the emplaykelding the SARs. No SARs
were outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and 20d #ther SARs have been issued by the Company tithrrthose issued by LandTel in
August 2006. The Company has not issued nor daesrigntly have plans to issue any additional SARany other awards which would be
classified as a liability awards or settled in cash

There are no dividends related to stock optiorsdricted stock, SARs or common stock.

Stock-based compensation expense related to the&uois stock-based compensation plans for the yaated December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011 was $3.0 million, $2.5 million andshillion, respectively, and accordingly, redudecbme for each year.

There were no significant modifications to the thstock-based compensation plans during the yadesdeDecember 31, 2013, 2012 anc
2011. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, there $&1@ million and $4.6 million, respectively, of aunrecognized compensation cost
related to unvested equity awards granted and &xqgbéc vest, under the 2010 Plan, the 2006 Plaritend001 Plan. This cost is expected t
recognized on a remaining weighted-average pefficd@years.

All outstanding equity instruments are settledtotk. The Company currently does not have any asvacdounted for as a liability. The
fair value of each stock option award is estimatedhe grant date using a Black-Scholes optionateda model, which uses certain
assumptions as of the date of grant:

. Expected Volatility—based on peer group price volatility for periodsieglent to the expected term of the opti

. Expected Tern—expected life adjusted based on management'sskéstate for the effects of non-transferabilityeexse
restriction and behavioral consideratic

. Risk-Free Interest Rate—risk-free rate, for periods within the contracttexins of the options, is based on the U.S. Trgageatd
curve in effect at the time of gra

. Dividend Yield—expected dividends based on the Com['s historical dividend rate at the date of gt
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The assumptions used for grants made in the yededeDecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were asviallo

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Expected volatility 50% 50% 50%
Expected term (in year 7 7 7
Risk-free interest rat 1.3%- 2.2% 2.8% 2.8%

Dividend yield — — —

Based on these assumptions, the weighted averagalize of options granted, per share, for theyemded December 31, 2013, 2012
and 2011 was $11.31, $9.45 and $9.73, respectively.

The fair value of each restricted stock award @ngtant date is equal to the market price of RigN&tbck on the date of grant. The
weighted average fair value of restricted stocktgd, per share, for the year ended December 3B &0d 2012 was $21.85 and $17.02,
respectively.

The following table summarizes the Company’s stoption activity as of and for the years ended Ddmem31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011
Number of Weighted Number of Weighted Number of Weighted

Underlying Average Underlying Average Underlying Average

Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
(in thousands, except per share amot
Balance, January 1,017 $ 11.25 97¢ $ 9.3¢ 81C $ 7.1
Granted 23¢ $ 20.4: 21€ $ 17.0¢ 20 $ 17.9¢
Exercisec (215) $ 8.4« (149 $ 6.22 (149 $ 5.5¢
Forfeited 43 $ 17.7: (31) $ 14.8¢ 28) $ 11.3¢
Expired — $ — — $ — — $ —
Balance, December 3 99 $ 13.7¢ 1,017 $ 11.2% 97€ $ 9.3¢
Exercisable, December 2 524 $ 9.67 58¢ $ 8.21 58¢ $ 7.1z
Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011
(in thousand:
Intrinsic value of options exercis $6,08: $ 2,56¢ $24C
Fair value of options veste $1,13¢ $ 73¢ $43E

The following table summarizes the Company’s retgd stock activity as of and for the years endeddinber 31, 2013 and 2012:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012
(in thousands
Balance, January 20t 13t
Granted 107 131
Vested (83) (52
Forfeited (29) 9
Balance, December 3 20C 20E
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The weighted average remaining contractual tergrears for equity awards outstanding as of andheryears ended December 31, 2013
2012 and 2011 was 5.2 years. At December 31, 2QdiByeawards vested and expected to vest totalednillion with awards available for
grant of approximately 2.1 million.

The following is a summary of changes in unvestpatg awards, including stock options and restdcitock, as of and for the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Number of Weighted
Underlying Average Grant
Shares Date Fair Value
(in thousand:

Unvested equity awards, January 1, 2 394 $ 2.82
Grantec 352 $ 13.2(
Vested (189) $ 2.31
Forfeited (39 $ 9.0¢

Unvested equity awards, December 31, 2 51¢ $ 9.5¢
Grantec 347 $ 12.4¢
Vested (192) $ 8.67
Forfeited (36) $ 10.0¢

Unvested equity awards, December 31, 2 63€ $ 11.41
Grantec 34¢ $ 14.5¢
Vested (242) $ 10.62
Forfeited (69 $ 14.1(

Unvested equity awards, December 31, 2 674 $ 13.0¢

Note 12—Income per Share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) are computed bgigvnet income attributable to RigNet common skmi#ters by the number of basic
shares outstanding. Basic shares equal the tothbafommon shares outstanding, weighted for tkeaae days outstanding for the period.
Basic shares exclude the dilutive effect of comrsloares that could potentially be issued due toctseof stock options, exercise of warrants.
Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net incomeibittiable to RigNet common stockholders by the nunatbeliluted shares outstanding.
Diluted shares equal the total of the basic shauéstanding and all potentially issuable sharegghted for the average days outstanding fo
period. The Company uses the treasury stock methddtermine the dilutive effect. The following kalprovides a reconciliation of the
numerators and denominators of the basic and dilpge share computations for net income attribetaRigNet, Inc. common stockholders:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

(in thousands
Net income attributable to RigNet, Inc. common ktadders $16,33¢ $11,88: $ 9,51¢
Weighted average shares outstanding, t 16,26¢ 15,59: 15,381

Effect of dilutive securitie: 1,28¢ 1,42¢ 1,42
Weighted average shares outstanding, dil 17,557 17,017 16,81
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Note 13—Segment Information

Segment information has been prepared consisténttind components of the enterprise for which sgpdinancial information is
available and regularly evaluated by the chief afieg decision-maker for the purpose of allocategpurces and assessing performance.
Certain operating segments are aggregated intoepugtable segment based on similar economic ctaaistics. Accordingly, RigNet
considers its business to consist of three replersggments:

» Americas.The Americas segment provides remote communicatiensces for offshore and onshore drilling rigs @noduction
facilities, as well as, energy support vesselsahdr remote sites. The Americas segment servieggeaformed out of the
Company’s United States and Brazil based office®fshore and offshore customers and rig siteg¢ddoan the western side of the
Atlantic Ocean primarily in the United States, Maxiand Brazil, and within the Gulf of Mexic

» Europe/Africa. The Europe/Africa segment provides remote commtioica services for offshore drilling rigs, productifacilities,
energy support vessels and other remote sitesElitmpe/Africa segment services are performed oth@fCompany’s Norway and
United Kingdom based offices for customers andsitigs located primarily off the coasts of the Udikingdom, Norway and West
Africa. The Europe/Africa segment also providedaysintegration services for both onshore and offstitustomers in the oil and
gas industry including drilling rigs and productitatilities.

* Middle East/Asia Pacific (MEAP)The MEAP segment provides remote communicationsces for onshore and offshore drilling
rigs, production facilities, energy support vesseld other remote sites. The MEAP segment seraiceprimarily performed out of
the Company'’s Qatar and Singapore based officesufsiomers and rig sites located primarily arodredibdian Ocean in Qatar,
Saudi Arabia and India, around the Pacific Ocear Aastralia, and within the South China S

Corporate and eliminations primarily representdlonated corporate office activities, interest expe income taxes and eliminations.
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The Company'’s business segment information as @farthe years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 @hdl i presented below. 2011
information has been recast to conform to the ctiryear presentation.

Corporate and Consolidatec
Europe/
Americas Africa MEAP Eliminations Total
(in thousand:

2013
Revenue $ 54,22: $103,67¢ $ 6281 $ — $ 220,71
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amatitin) 25,06: 65,69« 22,70 5,42¢ 118,88:
Depreciation and amortizatic 7,14¢ 7,60: 5,46 83C 21,04¢
Selling, general and administrati 7,841 8,98( 7,02¢ 28,70 52,55¢
Operating income (los: $ 14,160 $21,400 $ 27,61¢ $ (3495) $ 28,22¢
Total asset 100,59t 118,78: 52,08t (32,659 238,80:
Capital expenditure 12,39: 9,61¢ 8,23¢ 84¢ 31,09¢

2012
Revenue $ 49,88 $ 65208 $ 4658: $ — $ 161,66!
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and ameatitin) 22,59¢ 37,38¢ 17,11 3,97¢ 81,07:
Depreciation and amortizatic 7,40¢ 5,07: 5,01( 42 17,53¢
Selling, general and administrati 7,38t 7,55¢ 4,331 20,99( 40,26¢
Operating income (los: $ 12,48¢ $ 15,18¢ $ 20,12¢ $ (25,00) $ 22,79¢
Total asset 88,15: 115,64¢ 42,15 (30,02¢) 215,93.
Capital expenditure 9,12: 3,62 8,19 141 21,08:

2011
Revenue $ 41,51° $3437. $ 3378 $ (319 $ 109,35!
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amatitin) 20,48¢ 13,16¢ 12,33¢ 2,65¢ 48,64¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,74: 3,05: 4,96¢ (180 14,58¢
Selling, general and administrati 7,89/ 5,411 3,55¢ 12,37 29,23¢
Operating income (los: $ 639% $1273¢ $ 1292¢ $ (15168 $ 16,89
Total asset 86,15¢ 33,21t 34,31 (12,759 140,92:
Capital expenditure 10,50¢ 3,73¢ 5,281 247 19,761

The following table presents revenue earned froth bar domestic and international operations ferytbars ended December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011. Revenue is based on the locatiorevdeevices are provided or goods are sold. Dtieetonobile nature of our customer base
and the services we render, we work closely withaustomers to ensure rig or vessel moves arelglosanitored to ensure location of service
information is properly reflected.

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands
Domestic $ 37,96¢ $ 36,937 $ 35,02:
Internationa 182,74 124,73: 74,33:
Total $220,71( $ 161,66 $109,35!
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The following table presents long-lived assetsifoth our domestic and international operationsfdsgember 31, 2013 and 2012.

December 31

2013 2012
(in thousands
Domestic $ 33,58¢ $ 28,41
Internationa 77,56 73,96¢
Total $111,15: $102,38(

Note 14—Income Taxes
Income Tax Expense
The components of the income tax expense are:
Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands

Current:
Federa $ 954 $ 14 $ (137)
State 16€ 27¢ 98
Foreign 9,24¢ 6,56 5,994
Total current 10,36¢ 6,85:% 5,95¢
Deferred:
Federa 764 2,371 1,22(
State (199 — (60)
Foreign (1,779 (4917) (613)
Total deferrec (1,209 1,88( 547
Income tax expens $ 9,15¢ $8,73: $6,502

The following table sets forth the components abime (loss) before income taxes:

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011
(in thousands

Income (loss) before income taxe:
United State: $(11,389) $(5,93¢) $(5,799)
Foreign 37,09 26,69( 22,05¢
$ 25,702 $20,75¢ $16,25¢
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Income tax expense differs from the amount comphyedpplying the statutory federal income tax @t85.0% to income (loss) before
taxes as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands

United States statutory federal income tax $ 8,99¢ $ 7,26¢ $5,68¢
Non-deductible expenst¢ 41¢ 59¢ 491
Non-taxable financial income and expet (1,717 — —
Noncash compensatic 47: — —
U.S. tax on foreign earnings, net of tax cre 70¢ (4,23%) (32
Changes in valuation allowanc 4,00z 4,67¢ 1,00¢
Tax credits (2,827 (39 (137)
State taxe 72 334 38
Effect of operating in foreign jurisdictior (1,670 (599) (9849)
Changes in prior year estima 51 (289) (259
Changes in uncertain tax bene 59: 1,02: 73t
Revisions of deferred tax accou (77) (1449 (143
Other 124 137 94
Income tax expens $ 9,15¢ $ 8,73 $6,502

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

The Company’s deferred tax position reflects thietave effects of the temporary differences betwiencarrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes ane thmounts used for income tax reporting. Significamponents of the deferred tax assets anc
liabilities are as follows:

December 31
2013 2012
(in thousands

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 70€ $ 17:
Federal, state and foreign tax cre: 12,85¢ 9,052
Depreciation and amortizatic 7,62¢ 5,89¢
Allowance for doubtful accoun 664 657
Accruals not currently deductib 542 18¢€
Stocl-based compensatic 683 391
Other 28 17
Valuation allowanct (14,537 (10,579
Total deferred tax asse 8,57¢ 5,80¢
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortizatic (3,089 (4,119
Tax on foreign earning (1,279 (5649)
Other (399 (48
Total deferred tax liabilitie (4,756 (4,725
Net deferred tax asse $ 3,820 $ 1,07¢

At December 31, 2013, on an as filed basis, the izmy had a federal net operating loss carry forva®R.2 million which will expire
in 2034, state net operating loss carry forwardsppiroximately $1.1 million which will expire in ang amounts beginning in 2024, and
foreign net operating losses of $1.1 million whazm be carried forward for an unlimited period.cd®ecember 31, 2013, the Company, o
as filed basis, has U.S. domestic foreign tax tieadry forwards of $5.7 million which begin exjpigi in varying amounts in 2018. The amount
reported on an as filed basis can differ from tm@ant recorded in the deferred tax assets of thepaay’s financial statements due to the
utilization or creation of assets in recording uteia tax benefits.
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As a result of certain realization requirementtim Compensation — Stock Compensation standari$alte of deferred tax assets and
liabilities shown above does not include certaifeded assets as of December 31, 2013 that arosgtldifrom tax deductions related to equity
compensation that are greater than the compensaiognized for financial reporting. Equity will becreased by $0.4 million if and when
such deferred tax assets are ultimately realized.Jompany uses the tax law ordering method toméate when excess tax benefits have |
realized.

In assessing deferred tax assets, the Companydeossihether a valuation allowance should be rexbfar some or all of the deferred
tax assets which may not be realized. The ultimedézation of deferred tax assets is dependent tlpwgeneration of future taxable income
during the periods in which the temporary differesibecome deductible. Among other items, the Coynpansiders the scheduled reversal of
deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxalsleome and available tax planning strategies. ABedember 31, 2013, a valuation allowance o
$14.5 million had been recorded for primarily USdeal deferred tax assets that were not more litkelp not to be realized. While the
Company expects to realize the remaining net dedetax assets, changes in future taxable incorretax laws may alter this expectation and
result in future increases to the valuation allogean

U.S. federal deferred income taxes, net of foréégneredits, of $1.3 million have been providedtiom Qatar subsidiary for which the
undistributed earnings as of December 31, 2013¢ weronger considered permanently reinvestedauen-controlling ownership issues. In
December of 2012, the Company restructured itsdarkegal entities. This restructuring provides @@mpany with a vehicle whereby cash
may be moved amongst the foreign entities effityertherefore, all other foreign subsidiaries’ wstdbuted earnings are considered
permanently reinvested and the Company removediefeyred tax liability previously recognized. Asécember 31, 2013, the Company ha:
not recognized $8.1 million in U.S. federal defdrtaxes, net of foreign tax credits.

Because the Company has asserted that all foreigisttiibuted earnings, excluding Qatar’s earniags,permanently reinvested, no
provision is recorded for the deferred tax liakilitlated to other comprehensive income.

The Company has elected to include income taxa@laitterest and penalties as a component of incarmexpense. As of December 31,
2013 and 2012, no amount has been included imttmarie tax payable accounts. The amount includéttome tax expense not related to
uncertain tax benefits for the year ending DecerBtie£013 and 2012, is $0.1 million and $(0.1) iwrl] respectively.

Uncertain Tax Benefits

The Company evaluates its tax positions and rezegronly tax benefits that, more likely than ndtl e sustained upon examination,
including resolution of any related appeals ogétion processes, based on the technical meritsegiosition. The tax position is measured at
the largest amount of benefit that has a greatsr §0.0% likelihood of being realized upon settlamAt December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011,
the Company’s uncertain tax benefits totaling $18ifion, $18.0 million and $14.1 million, respeatiy, are reported as other liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets. Changes in the Conspgnwgs unrecognized tax benefits are as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands
Balance, January $12,16: $10,73( $ 9,11(
Additions for the current year t: 2,102 1,86: 1,54¢
Additions related to prior yea — 38¢ 2,88¢
Reductions related to settlements with taxing attilee — — (1,669
Reductions related to lapses in statue of limitet (529 (130) (173
Reductions related to prior yes: (514) (68€) (975)
Balance, December 3 $13,22: $12,16: $10,73(
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As of December 31, 2013, the Company’s gross ugrgzed tax benefits which would impact the anndi@otive tax rate upon
recognition were $13.2 million. In addition, as@écember 31, 2013, the Company has recorded redagals, net of a valuation allowance of
$4.6 million. The related asset might not be re@egphin the same period as the contingent taxlifptaind like interest and penalties does hav
an impact on the annual effective tax rate. The @amy recognized interest and penalties relatesiteangnized tax benefits in income tax
expense. As of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 20&X;dmpany has accrued penalties and interest ob@prately $6.0 million, $5.9 million
and $4.6 million, respectively. The Company hasgexzed $0.1 million, $1.2 million and $1.1 milli@f interest and penalties in income tax
expense for the years ended December 31, 2013,8@12011, respectively. To the extent interest@amhlties are not assessed with respect
to uncertain tax positions, accruals will be reduand reflected as a reduction to income tax ex@pens

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal jurisdiction, and various states and forgigisdictions. Due to net operating
losses, all of the Company’s federal filings ait stibject to tax examinations. With few excepsothe Company is no longer subject to the
foreign income tax examinations by tax authorif@syears before 2003.

The Company and the Internal Revenue Service agoegldse an audit of the Company’s 2010 incomeétxrn in March of 2013. The
final settlement did not have an impact on the Camyfs financial position or results of operations the year ended December 31, 2013.

Tangible Property Regulations

On September 13, 2013, the US Treasury and IR8dsual Tangible Property Regulations (TPR) uné€ Section 162 and IRC
Section 263(a). The regulations are not effectiviil tax years beginning on or after January 1,£20bwever, certain portions may require an
accounting method change on a retroactive basis,r#quiring a IRC Section 481(a) adjustment rdlatefixed and real asset deferred taxes.
The accounting rules for income taxes treat theaisd of the regulations as a change in tax law§thg date of issuance and require the
Company to determine whether there will be an ihpadts financial statements for the period enSegtember 30, 2013. Any such impact of
the final tangible property regulations would affeamporary deferred taxes only and result in amzé sheet reclassification between current
and deferred taxes. The Company has analyzed pes&d impact of the TPR on the Company and cordltidat the expected impact is
minimal. The Company will continue to monitor tmegact of any future changes to the TPR on the Cagpeospectively.
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RIGNET, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ONTINUED)

Note 15—Supplemental Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
Summarized quarterly supplemental consolidatedhfifz information for 2013 and 2012 are as follows:
2013 Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 3I December 3.
(in thousands, except per share d

Revenue $52,81¢ $51,32¢ $ 56,85¢ $ 59,701
Operating incom: $618 $759 $ 6,290 $ 8,15¢
Net income $ 3778 $491t $ 2407 $ 5,447
Net income attributable to RigNet, Inc. common ktmdders $ 373 $4861 $ 2347 $ 539
Net income per share attributable to RigNet, Immmon stockholders, bas  $ 0.2¢ $ 0.3C $ 0.1 $ 0.31
Net income per share attributable to RigNet, Immmon stockholders, dilute $ 0.2z $ 0.2¢ $ 0.1z $ 0.3C
Weighted average shares outstanding, t 15,75¢ 15,96 16,14¢ 17,19(
Weighted average shares outstanding, dil 17,32] 17,48( 17,63( 17,79:

2012 Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 September 3i December 3:
(in thousands, except per share d

Revenue $31,21( $33,24( $ 47,93¢ $ 49,28(
Operating incomi $ 489 $468° $ 6,93 $ 6,28t
Net income $ 249 $ 2861 $ 317¢  $  3,49¢
Net income attributable to RigNet, Inc. common ktadders $ 241 $285° $ 323t $ 3,37¢
Net income per share attributable to RigNet, Immmon stockholders, bas  $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 021 $ 0.22
Net income per share attributable to RigNet, Immmon stockholders, dilute $ 0.14 $ 0.17 $ 0.1¢ % 0.2C
Weighted average shares outstanding, t 15,46¢ 15,56¢ 15,64 15,68(
Weighted average shares outstanding, dil 16,94¢ 16,97: 17,10« 17,15

Note 16—Subsequent Events

On January 31, 2014 the Company finalized an ageaemith Inmarsat plc (LSE: ISAT.L) to be a distrilon partner to deliver
Inmarsat’'s Global Xpress (GX) and L-band servicethé energy sector worldwide. RigNet has agredebtmme a distributor of InmarsaiGX
satellite communications network services, which @nable the company to offer the next-generasiatellite services to existing and new
customers in the global energy sector. The compasyagreed, under certain conditions, to purchpge #65.0 million of capacity from the
high-throughput GX network during the five yearteaft becomes operational. RigNet expects tozetits X and L-band services across its ow
business as well as that of the acquired Energaddyand business.
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Exhibit 10.16
NINTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE
This ninth amendment to Lease (“Amendment”), débedeference purposes only September 4, 2013dsthad to and becomes a part of

that Lease between KWI Ashford Westchase BuildihgB,, a Delaware limited partnershipgreinafter called “Landlord”) and Rignet, Inc.,
(hereinafter called “Tenant”).

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, under that certain lease agreement (teask”) dated June 17, 2003, Landlord leased torifamal Tenant leased from
Landlord office space consisting of approximately38 rentable square feet in the office buildingwn as Ashford Crossing Il located at 1!
South Dairy Ashford, Houston, Texas (“Leased Presfisfor a term of Fortyone (41) months ending December 31, 2006 and wasded by
First Amendment to Lease dated September 19, 20@8ein Tenant expanded by an additional 1,432 béntxjuare feet for a total of 5,070
rentable square feet; and, was amended by Secomtdment to Lease dated October 3, 2005 whereinnfexpanded by an additional 2,363
rentable square feet known as Suite 570; and, masded by Third Amendment to Lease dated JanuarQI® wherein Tenant relocated to
Suite 300 and expanded by 4,339 rentable squareafed, was amended by Fourth Amendment to Leateel dédarch 7, 2006 wherein Tenant
expanded by an additional 928 rentable squarekfemtn as Suite 140 and 355 rentable square feet timial of 13,055 rentable square feet;
and, was amended by Fifth Amendment to Lease datee 19, 2006 wherein Tenant amortized additianptévements into the Base Rent;
and, was amended by Sixth Amendment to Lease deember 5, 2009 wherein Tenant expanded by ariiaddi 2,151 rentable square feet
for a total of 15,206 rentable square feet; and; &aaended by Seventh Amendment to Lease dated Decdi, 2010 wherein Tenant
expanded by an additional 4,299 rentable squatddea total of 19,505 rentable square feet; avak amended by Eighth Amendment to
Lease dated October 15, 2012, wherein Tenant exjplng an additional 9,669 rentable square feed fotal of 29,174 rentable square feet
(collectively defined as the “Lease Agreement”).

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to amend saakk as set forth herein; and, NOW, THEREFORESIMUTUALLY
COVENANTED AND AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

(1) LEASED PREMISES . Effective September 1, 2013, the Leased Premisasfigal in Section 1.02 of the Lease and Paragtapt
the Eighth Amendment to Lease, consisting of apprately 29,174 rentable square feet known as S0ite (“Existing Office
Space”) shall be expanded by approximately 5,48%kde square feet currently know as Suite 222inttNAmendment Expansion
Area”) for a total of approximately 34,611 rentabtpiare feet (“Combined Lease Premises”), as stoowixhibit A attached
hereto.

(2) BASE RENTAL . Effective September 1, 2013, the Base Rental ®iGbmbined Lease Premises shall be as foll

09/01/13 through 11/30/1 $52,679.00 per moni 34,611 RS}
12/01/13 through 01/31/1 $30,798.50 per moni 34,611 RS}
02/01/14 through 02/28/1 $53,894.59 per moni 34,611 RSI
03/01/14 through 08/31/1 $54,121.13 per moni 34,611 RS}

09/01/15 through 09/12/1 $21,351.90 per moni 34,611 RSk



(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)
(12)

OPERATING EXPENSE BASE . The Expense Stop specified in Section 1.12 of #esk for the Ninth Amendment Expansion
Area shall be the actual operating expenses far@alr year 2013 (“Base Year 2013") grossed upfleate95% occupancy. The
treatment of operating expenses for the Existinic®Space consisting of 29,174 rentable squartenidleremain as described in
the existing Lease Agreeme

LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS . The Ninth Amendment Expansion Area consisting @rapimately 5,437 rentable square
feet shall be tendered in an “as-is” condition. dland does not warrant or represent the conditfoexasting leasehold
improvements

PARKING. Tenant shall be entitled to twelve (12) additiomateserved/uncovered parking spaces for a totsikbf-seven
(67) and ten (10) additional reserved/covered parkpaces, consisting of ten (10) carports, fota of forty-one
(41) reserved/covered spaces at no charge foethedf the Lease

RENEWAL. Tenant's renewal option as defined in the Eighthef\dment shall carry-forward and also identicallplgpo the
Ninth Amendment Expansion Are

REIMBURSEMENT. Landlord agrees to reimburse Tenant up to $60@0Ténant’s work associated with the logo wall tech
in the reception area of the Ninth Amendment ExjmamArea.

CONFIDENTIALITY. Tenant shall not, at any time either during or sglpent to the negotiations of a Lease and/or Lease
Amendment between Landlord and Tenant, disclos@ygoerson or entity any of the contents of theotiaions between Landlord
and Tenant, if a Lease and/or Lease Amendmentéseshinto between Landlord and Tenant, any terfiiseoLease

BROKERS. Tenant warrants that it has had no dealings withraal estate broker or agent in connection withrtbgotiation of
this Amendment except MRIO, Inc. (on behalf of tamdlord) and Avison Young—Texas, LLC (on behaltloé Tenant), and that
it knows of no other real estate brokers or agahis are or might be entitled to a commission inr@mtion with this Amendment.
Tenant agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Laddtom and against any liability or claim arisimgrespect to any other broke
or agents claiming a commission in connection with Amendment through Tenant. Landlord agreestoTenant’s broker a
commission based on a separate agreer

AUTHORITY. Tenant and each person signing this Amendment balbef Tenant represent to Landlord as followsT@gnant is
a duly formed and validly existing corporation unttes laws of the State of Delaware, (ii) Tenard bad is qualified to do busine
in Texas, (iii) Tenant has the full right and autityoto enter into this Amendment, and (iv) eacihspa signing on behalf of Tenant
was and continues to be authorized to d¢

DEFINED TERMS. All terms not otherwise defined herein shall hawe $ame meaning assigned to them in the L
RATIFICATION OF LEASE. Except as amended hereby, the Lease shall reméili force and effect in accordance with the

terms and is hereby ratified. In the event of aladrbetween the Lease and this Amendment, thissAdment shall contrc

Page -



(13) NO REPRESENTATIONS. Landlord and Landlord’s agents have made no reptasens or promises, express or implied, in
connection with this Amendment except as expresstyorth herein

(14) ENTIRE AGREEMENT . This Amendment together with the Lease containefatie agreements of the parties hereto with 1@
to any matter covered or mentioned in this Amendroethe Lease, and no prior agreement, understgrati representation
pertaining to any such matter shall be effectiweafoy purpose

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlniendment as of the date first above written. Exespspecifically herein
amended, all other terms and conditions of the & shsll remain in full force and effect.

LANDLORD: TENANT:

KWI Ashford Westchase Buildings, L.P., a Delawaneited Rignet, Inc.
partnershig

By: KWI Ashford Westchase General Partner, L.L.©Qedaware
limited liability company, Its general partr

By: Kennedy Wilson Austin, Inc., Its Agent By: fanyy  Tiwmenrs,) &

orgln b Dhse

Stephen A. Pyhrr
Vice Presiden

Date: 9/5/1: Date:

Page @



EXHIBIT A
Lease Premises—29,174 NRA-Level 3
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Lease Premises—5437 NRA-Level 2
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ComPetro Communications Holdings, L.L.C.
ComPetro Communications, L.L.C.
Competro Comunicacdes Holdings do Brasil Ltda
Countryflow Limited

LandTel Communications, L.L.C.
LandTel, Inc.

Nessco Invsat Limite

Nessco Group Holding

OilCamp UK Limited

RigNet Australia Pty Ltd

RigNet AS

RigNet BRN Sdn Bhd.

RigNet Company for Communications
RigNet E. H. Holding Company AS
RigNet EIS, Inc.

RigNet Europe AS

RigNet Global Holdings

RigNet Holdings L.L.C.

RigNet Middle East LLC

RigNet Mobile Solutions Limited
RigNet Newco, Inc.

RigNet Pte Ltd

RigNet Qatar W.L.L.

RigNet Satcom, Inc.

RigNet Sdn Bhd.

RigNet Servicos de Telecomincacoes

RigNet Scotland Limited
RigNet UK Holdings Limited
RigNet UK Limited

RNet Properties, L.L.C.

Servigos de Comunicacéo Offshore do Brasil Ltda
Shabakat Rafedain Al Iraq Al Jadeed for Trade in
Communication Equipment and Devices LLC.

RigNet, Inc. Subsidiaries

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement No. 333-171278 on Form S-8Registration Statement No. 333-
178506 on Form S-3, of our report dated March 842@elating to the consolidated financial statetm@f RigNet, Inc. and subsidiaries (the

“Company”), and the effectiveness of the Compaimternal control over financial reporting, appearin this Annual Report on Form 10-K of
RigNet, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2013.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
March 6, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
OF RIGNET, INC.
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark Slaughter, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of RigNet, Inc. (the*Registrar”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or enéttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieding with respect to
the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andli@ periods presented in this
report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (a:
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and hay

a. designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

b. designed such internal control over financigbréing, or caused such internal control over faiakhreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princij

C. evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisclosure controls and procedures and presentiaisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures as of the end of the period coumyehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. disclosed in this report any change in the Remi§s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Regyigls fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuyadrig that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyea, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The Registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and thetazaimmittee of the Registrant’s Board of Directws persons performing the
equivalent functions)

a. all significant deficiencies and material weads®s in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizeé report financial
information; anc

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

By: /sl MARK SLAUGHTER
Mark Slaughte
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Date: March 6, 2014



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
OF RIGNET, INC.
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Martin Jimmerson, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of RigNet, Inc. (the*Registrar”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or enéttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieding with respect to
the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andli@ periods presented in this
report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (a:
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and hay

a. designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

b. designed such internal control over financigbréing, or caused such internal control over faiakhreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princij

C. evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisclosure controls and procedures and presentiaisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures as of the end of the period coumyehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. disclosed in this report any change in the Remi§s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Regyigls fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuyadrig that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyea, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The Registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and thetazaimmittee of the Registrant’s Board of Directws persons performing the
equivalent functions)

a. all significant deficiencies and material weads®s in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizeé report financial
information; anc

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

By: /s/ MARTIN JIMMERSON
Martin Jimmersor
Chief Financial Office

Date: March 6, 2014



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
OF RIGNET, INC.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the accompanying Annual ReparForm 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2048 with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8&ptrMark Slaughter, Chief Executive Officer ofdhet, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby

certify, to my knowledge, that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc

2. theinformation contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of 1
Company.

Date: March 6, 2014 /sl MARK SLAUGHTER
Mark Slaughte
Chief Executive Officer and Preside




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
OF RIGNET, INC.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the accompanying Annual ReparForm 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2048 with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8parMartin Jimmerson, Chief Financial Officer BigNet, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby

certify, to my knowledge, that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc

2. theinformation contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of 1
Company.

Date: March 6, 2014 /s/ MARTIN JIMMERSON
Martin Jimmersor
Chief Financial Office
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February 14, 2014
PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL

Spears & Associates, Inc.
8908 S. Yale, Suite 440
Tulsa, Oklahoma 74137

Re: Consent to Use of Data

Dear Sir or Madam:

Exhibit 99.1

RigNet, Inc.

1880 S. Dairy Ashford
Suite 300

Houston, TX 77077
Www.rig.net

RigNet, Inc. (“RigNet”) requests your consent tteén its annual report on form X30and any amendments thereto, certain data cort
in the December 201Brilling and Production Outlook Furthermore, we also request to cite Spears &diages, Inc. as the source of such

data.

If this is acceptable, please indicate your consepour use of the data by countersigning thigteftlease email or fax the executed
consent to Martin Jimmerson at (281) 674-0101 atyrjanmerson@rig.net, and return the original axed consent to Martin Jimmerson at
1880 S. Dairy Ashford, Suite 300, Houston, Texa@777 Please call the undersigned at (281) 674-@ittBany questions you may have.
Given the urgency of this request, your prompt attien to this matter is greatly appreciated.

CONSENT GRANTED:

SPEARS & ASSOCIATES, INC

By: /s/ John Spears

Name: John Spea
Title: Presiden

Date: March 1, 2014

Sincerely,
RigNet, Inc.
/s/ Martin Jimmerson

Martin Jimmersor
Chief Financial Office

1880 SOUTH DAIRY ASHFORD, SUITE 300, HOUSTON, TEXAS077 PHONE 281.674.0100 FAX 281.674.0101

http://www.rig.net



